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PR ERFAGES

YIFTER surmounting many unlooked-for obstacles and overcoming
unexpected difficulties, the publishers are enabled to present to
the public the History of the County of Brant, which has been
in preparation for the past ten months. To procure the ma-
terials for its compilation, many hundred pages of manuseript
and written records have been explored, and every other avenue
of reliable information has been diligently searched. He who
expects to find the work entirely free from errors or defects has
little knowledge of the difficulties attending the preparation of
a work of this kind. So numerous are the sources from which
the facts have been drawn, that no attempt has been made to
indicate them in the foot-notes. The data has been culled, item
by item, from sources widely scattered—in books, pamphlets,
periodicals and newspaper files ; in manuscripts, church records, court records
and justice’s dockets; in local laws; the charters, manuals and minutes of
societies ; in private letters, journals and diaries, especially of intelligent ob-
servers ; in funeral sermons, obituary notices and inscriptions on tombstones ;
in the memory of living persons, of what they have themselves witnessed ; and
last, and least valuable of all, traditions where they could not be supported by
some record or contemporaneous document ; these have been received with the
utmost caution. In matters of doubtful authenticity, the writers have assumed
as a guiding principle that the record of a false statement as the truth would
be a greater evil than the loss of a true statement.

The publishers have been fortunate in securing the services of efficient and
painstaking historians, who have been greatly assisted by many citizens of the
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county. The Dominion History was prepared by Dr. C: P. Mulvaney, of
Toronto. The history of the county and county seat was prepared by the
publishers’ staff of historians, with local assistance. The township histories
were prepared by Dr. C. P. Mulvaney, John Bingham, Esq., George A. Baker,
Esq, and G. A. Graham, Esq. The biographical sketches were prepared by
efficient writers from notes collected by the solicitors, and a copy of each
biography has been sent by mail to the several subjects, giving to each an
opportunity to correct any errors that might have crept into their sketches.
Where the copies were not returned, the publishers were obliged to print the
originals. .

Acknowledgments for valuable services rendered are due to M. J. Kelly,
LLB, M.D., Wm T. Harris, M.D., Prof. A. H. Dymond, T. S. Shenston, James
Wilkes, A. Robertson, of the Bank of British North America, Rev. William
Cochrane, D.D., James Woodyatt, City Clerk, Rev. F. R. Beattie, B.D.; to the
editors of the Expositor, Cowrier and Telegram for the use of their files, and
to the city and county officials, and to other citizens, all of whom most gene-
rously assisted to the full extent of their ability.

In submitting their work to the public, the publishers trust that it will be
received in that generous spirit which is gratified’at honest and conscientious
efforts, and not in that captious spirit which refuses to be satisfied short of
unattainable perfection.
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PART I.—THE DOMINION OF CANADA.

OUR BEGINNINGS.—PREHISTORIC.

The history of Canada begins with its discovery by ecivilized man. For
untold ages previous to this event our forests and rivers had held a sparse
population of savages, who in the fifteenth century had not advanced beyond
the mianners of the age of stone. Of these there were three principal tribes :
the Iroquois, which at that time, however, were settled on the region south of
Lake Ontario, although they frequently invaded central Canada ; the Algon-
quins, who held the Atlantic seaboard and the St. Lawrence and Ottawa
valleys ; and the Hurons, from Montreal westward, previous to their utter extir-
pation by the Iroquois two centuries ago. The Iroquois were the fiercest,
and had the virtues as well as the vices of savage life most fully marked ; they
have been called “the Romans of the West,” the most Indian of Indians, and
they seem to have reached the nearest approach to civilized life among the red
men. But they had not advanced beyond the prehistoric age of stone, beyond
the men who wrought the implements and drew the rude sketches of animals
that we find in caverns among the bones of the Mammoth and cave-bear. But
they formed a strong political organization, the Iroquois League, which drove
every other tribe before it ; in the wars between the white men the Iroquois
were the most dreaded foes and the most valued allies. Their force never
amounted to more than 2,000 warriors, but they had tactics terribly effective
in the dark and tortuous forests through which they followed the war-path.

Unlike the wandering hunters ot the Algonquin race, the Iroquois lived in
settled towns, surrounded with palisades, and containing a number of bark-
covered dwellings often 240 feet high. Along the sides of these were a num-
ber of bunks four feet in height, where the members of some twenty families
slept promiscuously together; provision for decency there was none. The
building was perpetually reeking with a pungent smoke, a fertile cause of eye
disease ; other annoyances were the filth, the fleas, the cries of children. Out-
side these “towns” patches of ground were laboriously, and after the toil of
months, cleared by cutting down a few trees; a laborious work, hard to be
effected with stone hatchets. Then the squaws toiled with their rude hoes,
pointed with stone or clam-shell, stirring up a little light earth to receive their
crop of corn, tobacco, pumpkins or Indian hemp. This the women spun by
the primitive plan of winding it round their thighs. There is no pleasant
aspect in the life of an Iroquois woman ; her youth was wantonness, her after
life drudgery. In the summer, at dances and religious festivals, girls who had
never learned to blush went naked save for a skirt reaching from the waist to.

1



2 HISTORY OF BRANT COUNTY.

the knees. When permanently married, she was her husband’s slave ; “the
Iroquois women,” said Champlain, “are their mules.”

The chiefs, or sachems, fared no better than the humblest brave or hunter ;
Tecumseh and Pontiac hunted and fished for their sustenance, and were as
filthy, greasy and repulsive as any of their tribe.

Of metals they had hardly any use. Except for'a few ornaments of gold or
copper, the knives that carved the venison for Cartier, the arrowhead that
whizzed past the ears of Champlain, were of chipped flintstone. One work of
perfect art the Indian produced. Civilized man has devised nothing more
exquisitely graceful than the Indian birch canoe. A genuine offspring of the
forest and the lake, it floats, an exquisite combination of symmetry and lightness,
through scenes whence, like its builders, it is soon destined to disappear. So the
Indian lived for ages amidst the works of nature without an effort to understand
her laws ; their religion not as some have explained it, a monotheistic eult of the
Great Spirit, but a childish animism attributing personality to all phenomena of
the outward world. Life was supposed to pervade all nature, the silence of forest
or lake, the thunder of the cataract. When to the squaw,worn ont with blows and
drudgery, to the hunter marble-frozen in the snowdrift, Death, the deliverer,
came, he brought neither terror nor hope. Good and bad, the dead passed
unjudged into the shadowy hunting ground, each accompanied by the ghost of
his pipe, his moceasins, his bow and arrows, his kettles and ornaments,

The discovery of Canada by Europeans was one of the many great results
which sprung from the new birth of modern thought out of the darkness of the
Middle Ages; it came when Greek literature arose from the dead after the cap-
tare of Constantinople. In June, 1497, seventeen months before Columbus
set foot on the American mainland, John Cabot, sent by Henry VIL of Eng-
land, discovered Newfoundland and the Gulf of the St Lawrence ; although
there is every reason (o believe that the fisheries off Newfoundiand had long
been known to Basque and Norman fishermen.

In 1524, Francis L. of France sent Verazzani to America. He merely coasted
along the country from Florida to Newfoundland, and named it “La N ouvelle
France,” a name which was afterwards applied to Canada by the French. Hence
both the French and English claimed the country, though for two centuries
England paid no attention to a claim which was after all a mere fendal quibble.

In 1534 Jacques Cartier, the true discoverer of Canada, sailing from St. Malo,
circumnavigated Newfoundland, and scanned the dreary coasts of Labrador. He
entered a spacious bay, which, from the heat of the Canadian summer day,
he called Baic des Chaleurs, and ascending the St. Lawrence till land could be
seen on either side, erected on a commanding promontory a huge eross engraved
with the Aeurs-delis of the French king, as a token of his sovereignty, in
spite of the opposition of an aged Indian chief—an opposition which was a
symbol of the ultimate failure of the red man before the white.

Ounce more King Francis, in May, 1535, sent out Cartier, better equipped for
the voyage, with three ships, the largest named La Grande Hermione, and 110
men. On the 10th of August he entered the Gulf of the St. Lawrence, which he
named after the Roman martyr, whose festival it was, for French colonization
was from the first religious. Along the river’s course, with its banks of forest,
he sailed past the sombie entrance to the Saguenay ; and in the hope, common to
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all discoverers of that age, to find a passage to the Indies, sailed on. e was told
by Indian fishers that he would soon 1mch a country called CANADA or Canata,
an Indian word signifying “town,” passing several islands gay with summer
birds and ﬂowels, and so covered with grape-vines that he named it “The Isle
of Bacehus.” Near this, ou the site of Quebec was an Indian fort or town, Stada-
cona, where lived a chief, Donnacona by name, whom the French, applying their
own feudal ideas to the merely personal and very ' precarious dwmty “of an
Indian chief, styled “The Lord of Canada.”

Although the Indians tried hard to bar their further progress, this dauntless
explorer sailed on through the unknown waters, till at length he auchored nnder
a hill which he named Mount R oyal. There, where is now a stately city, no
unfit occupant even of that splendid scenery, was a rudely-built Indian town
called “ Hochelaga,” where he and his men were welcomed by the Indians as
superior beings, overwhelmed with feasting and presents, and intreated to heal
a crippled invalid chief, over whom Cartier read the “ Passion ” from the gospel ;
but the age of miracles being past, the old chief’s rheumatism remained as it was !
After three days’ stay, Cartier returned to his fort at Stadacona, where he had the
courage to brave the rigours of the winter. This was a severe ome, and the
garrison sufferred terribly from cold, hunger, and the increasing ravages of
seurvy. A friendly Indian told them the remedy, a detoction of spruce bark.

With the summer the explorers returned to Frauce, having kidnapped the
friendly chief Dounacona and nine of his people, who were exhibited at Court,
and baptized with great pomp at Rouen Cathedral, but who died in their exile.
This action was not only a crime but a mistake ; it alienated the Indians, and
was the first step in a long series of mutual wrong-doings between the white
man and the red. :

Cartier made two other voyages, which, however, led to no important re-
sults ; his search for the coveted precious metals and geins led oaly to finding
some worthless crystals in that part of the Quebec promontory which has
thence been named “Cape Diamond.” These voyages, however, served the
purpose of familiarizing the ¥French with the St. Lawrence region, and with the
Indians. A considerable traffic in furs and peltry was now carried on.

Besides the voyage of Cartier to Canada, several French expeditions visited
Sable Island, a barren strip of land off the Coast of Nova Scotia. The first of
these was by a nobleman named De Lery, who landed some cattle; as the
island, otherwise sterile, was covered with a coarse grass, and had a small lake
of fresh water, the cattle survived, and were the means of preserving the lives
of a few out of forty conviets landed there eighty years afterwards by the
Marquis de la Roche. Out of forty, twelve remained alive when a ship was
sent twelve years afterwards to ascertain their fate.

At the beginning of the seventeenth century Chauvois,a sea captain of Rouen,
brought out sixteen settlers and established them for the winter in a small fort
at Tadousac, where till lately the remains might be seen of a small house, buile
by him, the first stone building in Canada.

!

ToE FrExcH COLONY.

It was the custom of the ¥rench monarchs at that period to give some great
nobleman nominal charge of Canada, with the title of Lieut.-Governor or Lieut.-
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General.  One of these, De Chaste, conceived the idea of organizing a company
of merchants who should undertake further exploration, and be given a mono-
poly of the fur trade. As his lieutenant in this enterprise he selected, in a
good hour for Canada, Samuel de Champlain, a naval officer, who, though young,
had already done good service in the West Indies and elsewhere. Champlain
belongs to that type of essentially Christian heroes under which we class
Columbus, and very many of Champlain’s successors, from Montmagny to
Montcalm.  For the gains of trade he cargd nothing ; for the glory of France,
or rather of its King, he cared much ; but his highest aim was the glory of God,
by which he understood the extension of the Catholic faith. For these two
supreme objects there was no toil, no labour or danger, that he did not endure
during more than thirty years devoted to founding the colony of New France,
the germ of the Canada of to-day.

During this period he made many voyages hetween Canada and France to
procure reinforcements, and to represent the result of his explorations and the
prospects of colonization. In the first of them, in 1603, he ascended the St.
Lawrence, being favourably received by the Algonquin Indians ; all was changed
since Cartier’s visit. Where Stadacona and Hochelaga then stood, both town
and people had vanished. He was arrested in his course by the Sdult St. Louis
rapids, to which, from the notion of the river being a water-highway to China,
he gave the name of La Chine, but from the summit of Mount Royal he looked
forth over forest and river of this new land of promiise.

In a second voyage from France soon after, being better equipped with men
and supplies, he sailed with a nobleman named the Sieur de Monts, first
exploring the Coast of Nova Scotia, which De Monts preferred to Canada. A
Fort was built at Port Royal, now Annapolis, and leaving a small body of
settlers, who, after enduring great hardships, were about to abandon the colony
when a ship arrived with supplies from France. Acadia, as the colony was
called, flourished for some years, but was under the disadvantage of repeatedly
changing masters, according to the fortune of war between the French and
English. It was finally ceded to the latter in 17183.

Champlain’s sagacious judgment perceived the superior advantages of Canada.
He was allowed to commission two ships, and on July 3rd, 1608, he founded
the future capital of French Canada on the north shore of that part of the
river which the Indians called “Quebec,” or “Strait.” There, beneath the
now historic hill, he raised a few huts, a magazine for stores, a wooden fort,
and on the rocks above a barrack for the soldiers. There he remained with his
settlers for two years and a half. During the winter all suffered severely from
cold and scurvy. His men were mutiuous; wretched Indians hovered about
his settlement, ready to beg or steal: but Champlain’s firmness crushed rebel-
lion ; his faculty for government held the discordant elements of the little
colony together ; the lofty picty of his nature seemed like that of one of the
old heroes of Christian romauce, Godfrey or St. Louis, come back to life again_

Longuor was not in his work,
Weakness not in his word,
Wewruess not on his brow!
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But, saint as he was as well as soldier, the saintliness had some alloy of
Loyola, teaching that the end justifies the means. The eud, so persistently
worked out by the politicians and Jesuits who succeeded him, was by taking
sides with one of the hostile Indian races to subdue their opponents, and win
both at last as subjects of France and vassals of the Church. He chose the
weaker and less organized tribe of Algonquins, aud in 1609 joined a party of
their warriors in exploring the beautiful lake that bears lis name, and in attack-
ing their foes, the Iroquois. The white man’s firearms won an easy victory; but
a false step had been taken, the wrath of the implacable Six Nations was once
and forever aroused, to break out again and again in massaere and the torture
of settler and priest, missionary and delicate maiden; till at last the Iroquois,
joining the foes of Franee, helped to conquer Canada for England !

In 1511 he marked out the present site of Montreal as a post to be occupied,
and surrounded it with an earthen rampart, naming it Place Royale. As every
memorial of our earliest Canadian hero interests Canadians, it 1s well to note
that St. Helen’s Island is named after Champlain’s wife.

Soon after this, guided by some Algonquin braves in their birch canoes, Cham-
plain—first of white men—ascended the Ottawa. Alone with savages, whose
friendship he could not trust, he passed day after day ascending that silent high-
way, with its unvarying fringe of primeval forest, inhabited only by wild beasts
now scarcely to be found but in museums. He followed the difficult portage
where the terrific cataract of the Chaudiere, the abode of a malignant spirit, to
whom his guides were fain to throw their offerings of tobacco, a cataraet which
now mingles its voice with the tumult of a great city. Thence through the
clear stream of the Upper Ottawa to yet another portage, he saw stretching
across the river the ridge of limestone precipice, over which the whole force
of the Ottawa thunders. Thence over the broad Lake of the Wild Cats on to
the Indian settlements, where the most difficult of all the Ottawa portages
stops the way at the Allumette rapids. Here Champlain was entertained by a
friendly chief. Thence he returned to Quebee, and proceeded to France, where
the greatest interest was now felt in the new colony. Champlain was freely
supplied with stores, arms, settlers and artisans for Quebec. On his return he
found the colonists prosperous; the Indians had been friendly, and the crops
planted in the virgin soil had yielded an encouraging return.

Anxious for the conversion of the heathen around him, Champlain without
difficulty induced four priests of the Reformed-Franciscan Order of Recollet
Friars to come as missionaries to the Indians; they were received with enthu-
siam by the pious settlers, and the astonished Algonquins watched with wonder
the vested priest, the altar with its mystic lights and crucifix, as the first mass
was intoned and the strange-smelling incense mingled with the odours of pine and
cedar in the summer woods. But a mightier Order than the Reeollets was to be
the seed of the French Church in Canada by the blood of its martyrs,

Champlain was led in 1615, by the importunities of his Algonquin allies, to
repeat his mistake of joining in the horrors of Indian war. Once more he
ascended the Ottawa, again labouring to drag canoe and baggage over the numer-
ous portages, struggling for life amid rapids which are still dreaded by our
lumbermen. At the difficult and tedious Allumette portage a storm had blown
trees across the only track, the woods were blocked up, Champlain had to carry
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his baggage, much of which he lost. A few years ago an ancient rapier, and an
astrolobe or astromonical instrument then used by travellers, were found in this
very place; they are believed to be relics of the founder of Quebec, Thence they
passed 1In their birch canoes, gliding through forests kindled by the touch of
antumn into gold and crimson, or camping at night by watch-fires that might
haply scare away the wolf and bear. At length they reached the region, still
wild as in Champlain’s day, where now the locomotive of the new built Pacific
Railway out-screams the eagle amid the lonely hills of Mattawa. By this they
took their way to Lake Nipissing, where they were welcomed by seven or eight
hundred Nipissing warriors, who escorted them by cance and portage to the
great inland sea of the Hurons; coasting this for some forty-five leagues, they
struck into the interior, and Champlain at last beheld a Huron town, so different
from the solitary huts of the Algonquin hunter. Here there was more comfort,
better crops, plenty of vegetables, corn, and venison and bear flesh ; savage life in
a better aspect, but still savage life. For three days Champlain witnessed with
wonder and disgust the interminable feast, the warriors as they gorged like
vultures, the naked and painted braves, their black hair sleek with the oil made
from sunflower seed, their faces hideous with war paint; the leapings and ges-
ticulations of the war dance, and the dances, not less disqusting to the pious
Frenchman, of shanieless and robeless wantons. At last it was over: they
marched against the foe, by whom at first they were repulsed, but through
Champlain’s aid and advice they won a victory disgraceful and disastrous to the
Christian colony. Champlain urged them to follow up the success by an
immediate storm of the hostile camp, but he soon found that these savage war-
riors would only fight as it pleased themselves, yelling their curses against the
enemy, and firing their flint-pointed arrows at the strong wooden ramparts,
Champlain received two wounds in the leg; his allies were driven to retreat.
In vain Champlain urged them to fulfil their promise of sending him home. He
learned the value of an Indian’s friendship and promise, except as may suit the
caprice of these grown up children, changeable as the wind.” A friendly chief,
however, sheltered him during the winter ; he is believed to have crossed the
isthmus now called “Carrying Place ” to the shores of the Bay of Quinte, where
he could spend the winter in safety from the Iroquois. His host’s house fortu-
nately was a more comfortable one than those of most Indians. On the 20th of
May he proceeded to Lachine, and got to Quebec by the end of June.

Again he proceeded to France, where he found divided counsels as to the
management of the colony from the internecine quarrel between the Hugnenots
of Rochelle, then on the eve of rebellion against their country, and the Catholic
French.  Efforts were made to deprive Champlain of his position. The
Fur Trade Company, which had promised to send out a large number of settlers,
had neglected this part of the contract, and thought only of furs; this had
been all along a great hindrance to the growth of Quebec. Worst news of all,
Champlain learned that certain Huguenot traders from Rochelle had sct the
fatal example of selling firearms to the heathen foe. At this time two
wealthy Huguenots named De Caen gained a position of authority in the
colony, which they used to thwart Champlain's plans and stir up religious
dissension ; they cared little for the good of the colony, and only troubled
themselves with the fur trade. Cardinal Richelien, then all powerful in
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France, for this reason revoked their appointment, and organized a company,
that of the “ Hundred Associates,” who undertook to furnish supplies, and in
particular to send and support a sufficient number of priests, who were to have
lands and the necessary supplies of food and seed. Champlain was to be
Governor of Canada, which was now named “ New France.”

But next year, 1628, war hroke out between France and England, when
the profligate Duke of Buckingham’s influence at Court caused aid to be sent
to the rebels at Rochelle. A fleet was sent out under Kirk, who, in spite of
a determined resistance by Champlain, gained possession of Quebec, which was
forced to surrender by want of provisions. But neither Enzland nor France
cared much about the possession of Canada, and it was only Champlain’s
representation that caused its restoration to be insisted on at the peace
of 1632.

Champlain was now, at the end of his long and checquered life, rewarded
by being appointed Governor, and still more by taking back with him a
number of settlers of means and repute. With these were four Jesuits, setting
out to join their Superior, Le Jeune, who had already sailed from Rouen with
two companions.

These men, clad in long black cassocks, with rosary hanging from the girdle,
and with oroad looped-up black hats, were destined to illustrate the better
side of Jesuitism—the Jesuitism of the martyrs, not of the political intriguers ;
their missionary work was to call all that was noblest and most chivalrous in
France to a new crusade against heathenism, and to emulate the sufferings,
the martyrdom, the love for souls, the patience of the first Christians.

To Champlain remained two years more of life, during which his rule, nunder
the Jesuit keepers of his conscience, made Quebec seem like a monastery.
All day long the church bell was going.  Every one, from Champlain down to
the youngest drummer boy, went throngh the unceasing round of mass, penance,
and confession. The more sericus were delighted ; New France was so holy a
place that if any one from there failed to be saved, he deserved double damna-
tion; soLe Jeune said, Even the amusements were of an ecclesiastical cast ; a
display of fireworks on a saint’s day, a dramatic entertainment, in which an
Algonguin who persisted in paganism was dragged away by demons. Thus
piously and peaceably the last days of this true saint and soldier ebbed away.
He died—a fitting day and hour for such a life to close—while the bells were
tolling for mass on Christmas Day 1635,

THE JESUITS.

History, which is non-partisan and non-sectarian, seldom deals in unqualified
praise or blame. We know what use Jesuitism has made of its founder’s teach-
ing that it is lawful to do evil in order that good may come ; that sin is no
longer sin if done to the glory of God. The evil results of Jesuit rule have
been proved before the world. While Jesuit martyrs were patiently enduring
in Canada the tortures which we see emblazoned on the walls of their church
at Montreal, a Jesuit priest at Versailles was directing, through the King’s
conscience, the destiny of France by means of his good-natured tolerance of his
penitent’s mistress. The great Order, like all other products of huinan nature, had
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its twofold aspect, good and evil. Let us not refuse to face the facts which

make for either! As the Order has sown, so it has reaped ! In France it was

a factor, no inconsiderable one, of the Revolution which threatens to become

world-wide ; in Canada, by the direction it gave to French rule and its aliena-

tion of the Iroquois, it helped to produce the English conquest, American in-

-dependence, its consequences, the peopling of Upper Canada, and who shall say
what further changes therefrom resulting. Le Jeune’s first efforts were for the
cconversion of the Algonquin hunters ; from one of them, who was disabled from
hunting, he obtained instructions in the language in return for food and ocea-
sional tobacco. He passed a winter of the most extreme discomfort with a
lodge of hunters, day by day helping to carry the bark for buildiug the hut at
each fresh halt, tormented with the filth, the vile talk, the heat of the huge fire
round which they sat, while the piercing cold gave equal pain. A pagan priest,
or sorcerer, with true professional jealousy, endeavoured to disgust and annoy
the Christian. Yet he persevered. But recognizing the greater advantage of
attempting missionary work among a race like the H urons, who lived gre-
gariously in towns, the celebrated Brebeuf led a mission to the far distant
Hurons. He was at first received kindly, and assisted to build a mission house
that served also as church. The Hurons looked with awe and delight at the
church ornaments and vestments; above all at the ticking and striking clock.
But, savage-like, they soon changed. It was a dry season, the new rites had
scared the thunder-bird who brings the rain! “Brebeuf exhorted them to
repent and be baptized, and promised that he would pray for rain ; the prayer
was followed by a miraculous rain-fall. But anon came a pestilence of small-pox,
a new plague, fatal above all to Indians, This was the result of the Christian
“medicine,” baptism and the sign of the cross. The lives of the missionaries
were daily threatened as they wandered from one pest-stricken dwelling to
another, offering help. They were obliged to witness horrible indecencies,
dreadful and shameless nude dances, such as St. Anthony saw the beautiful girl-
demons tempt him with. They had to be present at the loathsome Feast of the
Dead, when the Hurons collected the festering corpses of all wko had died during
the last nine years, when these were taken from the grave and wrapped in
robes of honour and kept in the house of eaclh relative for days hefore, with
horrible ceremonies and the feasting as of ghouls, they were thrown into one of
those vast bone pits still found in the country of the Hurons,

" The narrative of these sufferings is told with a touching simplicity and
absence of self-consciousness in the Relations des Jesuites,” a copy of which
scarce and valuable book is preserved in the Parliament Library, Toronto.

But these were only the beginning of sorrows.

Thirty-two years since Champlain first shed Iroquois blood, the Indian war
broke out. The Jesnit priest, Jogues, had gone to Three Rivers and Quebec
with the Huron traders to represent the utter destitution of the Huron mission.
He had been given freely what was required, and was returning in one of the
leading canoes.

Jogues is described as being a man of singularly winning address, with oval
face and gentle manners. He was also an excellent scholar,

As the canoes passed through the shallow waters at the western end of Lake
St. Peter, the war-whoop rose from among the tall bulrushes, a volley of muskets
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followed, and canoes filled with Iroquois warriors surrounded that which bare
Jogues. The Hurons, as usual, fled. ~ Jogues leaped among the reeds ; he might
have fled, but would not desert his Huron converts ; he gave himself up. His
companion, a French lay Jesuit, Couture, was thrown down by four Iroquois,
who stripped him naked, tore away his finger-nails with their teeth, and stabbed
his hand through with a sword. Jogues sprang to his friend and embraced him.
The Iroquois beat Jogues with fists and clubs, and tore away his nails and
gnawed his fingers with fury, as of the wolves after whom they named them-
selves. An old Huron, whom Jogues lad that moment baptized with his mangled
land, was clubbed to death ; the other Hurons were spared—for the present.
Then they warched their captives south, fainting and athirst, under a burning
sun.  The torture of the wounded men was increased by the swarming mosquitos.
As they reached the town the Iroquois were met by 200 of their tribe, who,
forming in two lines, forced the prisoners to run the gauntlet, striking them so
hard with clubs and thorny sticks that Jogues fell, covered with blood. Again
they mangled his hands; then applied fire to his flesh. At night the young
warriors mocked their efforts to rest, and tore ont their hair and beards. Onece
more they embarked in canoes; were conveyed to another Iroquois town ; then
again the tortures were applied; the Jesuits ran the gauntlet. Jogues calls it,
characteristically, “ The narrow road of Paradise” They were mounted on a
platform, when a Christian Indian woman was ordered to cut off Jogues’ thumb
with a clam-shell knife ; she did so. At night they were tied on the floor of
earth, each with extended limbs and wrists fast bound to stakes. Then the
Troguois children playfully set red-hot coals on their bodies. It is needless to
repeat the horrible detail of cruelties inflicted again and again at every Mohawk
town. Strange to say, Jogues escaped through the humanity of a Dutch trader.
A year afterwards a strange and worn-looking traveller asked speech with the
Superior of the Jesuit College at Rheims, in France, saying that he brought news
from Canada. Eagerly the Superior asked if he knew Father Jogues, whe had
been taken and murdered by the Iroquois? Jogues fell on his knees to ask a
blessing, with the words, “1 am he.”

These Jesuit missionaries were not religionists compelled to fly from home to
the wilderness to secure freedomn of religious opinion; they had the sympathy
and homage of all France. Jogues was summoned to the King’s court; the
French Queen, Anne of Austria, kissed his mutilated hand ; but he would not
be persuaded to remain away from his missionary work, and returned to be
again tortured, and at last killed, by the demons he sought to save. We have
given his case simply as a specimen. There are many similar. De Noe,
chased by the heathen, was found in the snow-drift, kneeling, his face turned
Leavenward, his hands clasped, frozen while he prayed. Brebeuf, the founder
of the Huron mission, was tortured to death, boiling water poured over him in
mockery of baptism. Death had no terrors for men like these.

) Tue INDIAN WaARS.
To Champlain succeeded a governor of similar temperament, Charles de
Montmagny, who as a member of the Order of Knights of Malta, was half a
monk, half a soldier. The Jesuit regime in La Nouvelle France was well sus-
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tained. The Order was all-powerful. Meanwhile the mission work they had
been at such pains to build u@ among the Hurons was swept away with the
extermination of their converts by the Iroquois. The latter had purchased
firearms from the Dutch and English settlers at New York, and now fought
with white men on equal terms. The Hurons were all but destroyed from the
face of the earth ; their fate had broken the courage of the Algonquins so much
that they were useless as allies.

But in France, the sufferings of the Jesuit missionaries, as the story was
spread throughout the land in the famous “ Relations des Jesuites,” pubhshed year
by year, aroused a new enthusiasm. The age of faith seemed to revive the age
of miracles. Men of wealth and good repute for worldly wisdom saw visions
commanding them to establish a colony, and found religious houses “on an
island ealled Montreal, in Canada.” Stranger miracle still, these wealthy gen-
tlemen gave up their bank accounts as veadily as the early Christians who laid
their all at the Apostles’ feet. A society of nobles and gentlemen was formed
“to plant the banner of Christ in an abode of demons ,” that is, to found at
Montreal three religious bodies : one of priests to teach, direct and convert ; one
of nuns, to nurse the wounded and sick ; a third, also of nuns, to tend and teach
the children, French and Indian.

Religion became for the day the fashion; money poured in; the sum of
£75,000, according to some,double that amount, was soon contributed. A free
grant of the island was made to the founders of the new settlement, which,
from its commanding position at the confluence of Canada’s two greatest arteries
of navigation, must in the future be the centre of commerce, and would at pre-
sent serve as a second centre of defence against the Iroqums and as a point of
vantage for missionary effort in the heart of heathendom. Their anticipations
were based altogether on religious zeal, on visions, on apparitions and voices
from heaven. They have proved as true as if they had been the cool calcula-
tions of statesmen. and capitalists. A rich young lady, Mademoiselle Jeanne
Marie, was supernaturally called to join the settlers at Montreal, and devote
her wealth to God. All Paris praised her, prelates and Jesuits made much of
her. Forty soldiers were to accompany the band of enthusiasts. Paul de
Chomechy, Sieur de Maisonneuve, a nobleman resembling Champlain both in
devoutness and valour, was to be governor of Montreal. They were to be joined
and aided by one who makes one ot the most winning figures in that marvellous
group, Margucrite Bourgeoys, destined to labour for years among the little ones
of the new colony She was given a miraculous image of the Virgin. It still
stands overlooking the river, ina gable niche of the quaintold seventeenth centur v
church of Notre Dame des Bonnes Succours, in Montreal, and many a pious mari-
ner and anxious mother find comfort as they invoke “Our Lady of Gracious
Help.”

In February, 1642, the associates, numbering forty-two, stood in the Church of
Notre Dame at quls before the altar of the Vlrrrm after whom the town was to
be named Ville Maric de Montreal.

When Maisonneuve, with the soldiers and the religious women, rezched
Quebec, the approach of winter made it necessary for them to stay at Quebec
till spring.  Jealousy arose between Quebec and the new colony. Montmagny
thought Maisonneuve’s appointment an infringement of his own authority.
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During the winter, however, Maisonneuve and his men built boats to carry them
to their destination, and in May they embarked, their hoats heavily freighted,
and passed safely through their dangerous course of sombre forests and wooded
isles ; when, on May 17th, they came in view of Mount Royal, dark with woods
against the sky, all voices joined in a hymn of praise. With them arrived a new
accession to their ranks, the celebrated Madame de la Peltrie, a French lady of
fashion and wealth, whom a miraculous vision had sent across the ocean to
Quebec, and who now desired to join the new and more perilous adventure in
behalf of religion. An altar was raised, she and Jeanne Marie decorated it with
faultless taste; before it stood Father Vincent in his costly vestments, Maison-
neuve in glittering steel amid his soldiers; mass was sung, and the priest
addressed them in words of promise that events have made seem prophetic.

Montmagny erected a small fort, and secured it by a garrison so as furh er
to hold the Iroquois in cheek. To this the great Cardinal Richelien, then the
real ruler of France, sent out supplies and forty men, a happy reinforcement,
as 200 Iroquois soon afterwards attacked it. There was a gap in the palisades,
and the savages were pouring in, when a corporal with a few soldiers held them
in check till Montmagny came to their relief from his brigantine on the river.

The “ Hundred Associates” had neglected their duties as much as the former
trading companies, and in 1647 sold their rights to the colonists of Three Rivers,
Quebec, and Ville Marie. A peace which lasted but a year was obtained by
Montmagny’s clemency to some Iroquois whom their Huron captors were about
to put to death. There were endless feastings and speeches ; belt after belt of
wampum was presented by the Iroquois chiefs, each belt symbolizing a separate
clause of the treaty of peace. At this time the Iroquois seem to have intended
to maintain peace, it the credulous and capricious savages were excited against
the Christian missionaries by their sorcerers ; a pestilence fell on their towns, a
plague of caterpillars devoured the corn ; all was brought about by the * medi-
cine” of “the men of the black robe.” The tribes were divided ; some clung to
peace, but a band of Mohawks seized the Jesuits, Jogues and La Lande, whom
they put to death with tertures as horrible as those mentioned in a preceding sec-
tion. War was now raging again; the lust for blood spread all through the tribes;
they plundered and destroyed Fort Richelieu; on Ash Wednesday, while the
garrison were at mass, they carried off all the property of the neighbouring settlers,
which had been brought there for safety. They then pursued and captured two
large parties of Christian Indians, whom they put to the usual horrible tortures.
One tried to escape ; they burnt the soles of his feet to prevent a second attempt.
A little child they crucified by nailing it with wooden wedges to a cross of bark.
Amid the tortures a Christian Indian exhorted them to be steadfast, and prayed
alond, all joining in the prayer. One woman, an Indian named Marie, escaped
after incredible hardships, to tell the tale at Three Rivers.

In 1648, Montmagny, who had done his duty well but had perhaps been para-
lysed by the breakdown of the Hurons and the insufficient means at his dis-
posal to resist the Iroquois, was recalled to France; his successor was Louis
D’Ailleboust, one of the Associates of Montreal, a brave soldier,and an enthusiast
in religion. A change was now made by which the Governor-General, with the
Superior of the Jesuits and three of the principal colonists, formed a council in
which was vested all the powers of government. A provision was made for the
soldiers’ pay.
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The Indian war went on with unexampled fury ; not an inhabitant of a single
French settlement dared venture beyond the limits of the fort. Attack after
attack was made on the Algonquins and the miserable remains of the Hurons, a
few of whom found refuge at Lorette, a village near Quebec. De Lauson
(1651) and D’Argenson were the next governors. The horrors of Indian war
continued. So hard pressed was the garrison of Montreal that Maisonneuve,
the Governor, went to France for reinforcements. He could only obtain a
hundred men, whose arrival, however, was sufficient to make the Iroquois sue
for peace. This was effected through Father Lemoine’s persuasive eloquence.
In 1655 the Iroquois of Ouondaga expressed a wish thata French settlement
might be made in their conntry. Aceordingly Captain Dupuis was sent with
missionaries and an escort of fifty men. But this action aroused the jealous
hate of the savages, and Dupuis was warned that their death was resolved on.
Dupuis, by a pardonable stratagem, supplied the Iroquois with liquor, and thus
he and his party managed to escape in canoes. De Lauson had neither energy
nor firmness for the crisis.

The day that D’Argenson landed at Quebec, the Iroquois massacred a party
of Christian Indians close to Quebec. These wolves of the wilderness had
now overrun New France, when Dulac des Ormeaux, a young Frenchman of
Montreal, resolved at the sacrifice of life to check the advance that it was
known the united force of the Iroquois was meditating on Montreal.

No more remarkable story exists in the chivalrons annals of French Canada.
Dulac with the seventeen companions who volunteered to share his adventure,
solemnly attended church for the last time. Well armed and with some fifty
Hurons 1o support them, they took up position in an old palisade fort near the
Long Sault rapids. Some six hundred Iroquois warriors surrounded their post,
and again and again swarmed up to the palisade, to be as often repulsed by the
brave defenders. The ‘base Hurons deserted to the enemy who had all but
destroyed their race, an act of cowardice such as has never stained the record of
the Iroqucis! New reinforcements at length enabled the savage hordes, after
having been held at bay for ten days, to force their way within.  Ouly four of
the Frenchmen were left alive ; these shotthe few faithfal Hurons to save
them from Iroquois tortures. The four died at the stake. But the Iroquois
had lost enormously, and the moral effect of so great a check from eighteen
Frenchmen prevented for the present any attack on Montreal. Surely Dulac
deserves to rank with any hero of antiquity ; and the place where he died,
withinl the roar of the Long Sault Rapids, is the Thermopyle of Canadian
history.

Baron D’Avaugour came to succeed D’Argenson.  We do not dwell on these
mere names of governors, to whom no national, and therefore no historical
interest attaches. However, it deserves record that I’ Avaugour’s representations
saved Canada from abandonment by France as a worthless burden. At this
Governor’s urgent request the colony was now taken under the direct care of
the French King, and a force of 600 men sent to Quebec. Their arrival found
the Governor engaged in a quarrel with M. Laval, whose name, surviving
honourably in Laval University, survives with yet greater honour in his efforts
to suppress by penal law the ruinous practice of supplying liquor to the

Indians. Laval proceeded to France and urged his case; as a result D’Avaungour
+
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was recalled, and on Laval’s representation, De Mesy sent in his place (1663).
This year there occurred a succession of slight earthquake shocks all over
Canada, which caused no loss of life or property, but greatly alarmed the
Indians, who thought that the bodies of their braves, buried unavenged, were
reproaching their inaction !

The great Finance Minister, Colbert, had at this time turned his attention to-
the social and political condition of Canada.

The modern view of history is that it ought not, in order to be really instruc-
tive, to consist of mere lists of kings or governors, or the intrigues of statesmen,
or the dates and details of battles. It should, above all, give a clear idea of the
life of the people, and of all those causes, as far as we can trace them, which
are factors in social and industrial progress. At this point, then, we shall place
before the readers a few particulars as to the life and social condition of the
Canadian people as they were when Colbert turned his attention to the subject.

The entire population of New France at this time did not exceed, by more
than three or four hundred, some two thousand. These were scattered here and
there, from the Quebec settlements to Montreal: The population grew slowly ;
it continued massed to a great extent in Quebee, Three Rivers, and Moutreal,
from fear of the Iroquois.

The fur trade was still the chief industry, but its value had diminished, the
market being lessened by two causes—the invention of a new fabrie which toolk
the place of the beaver skin, and the fact that the Iroquois of New York not
only preferred to sell to the English of New York and Connecticut, who gave:
better prices than the French, but even diverted the traffic of other Indians.
Still a considerable quantity of peltry passed into the hands of the French
traders.

In spite of all difficulties, agriculture had so greatly developed that De Mesy
was able to tell Colbert that supplies of food need no longer be sent, as Canada
could now raise all the grain needed. Trade must have been beginning to move
in other directions than the fur export, for Colbert is told that what is required
is specie, as there is no coin for purposes of exchange.

All land tenures were of the feudal kind, then in use in France. These
practically subjected the oceupiers of land to the seigneurs, or lords paramount.
All this has only been abolished long after the English conquest. The form of
government which Louis XIV. consented that Colbert should institute was, in
trath, an absolute despotism. First in rank was the Governor. With him
‘acted a Council, including the Intendant, or Minister of Justice, the Bishop,
and leading colomists. Owing to the constant strife between the Governor and
the Bishop, or Intendant, there might seem to be the elements of an opposition.
Such, however, was not the case in any true sense. .

- The exertions of the Jesuit missions, although seemingly so often quenched
in blood, had by this time taken root even among many of the Iroquois. It
must be said to their credit that the French knew how to manage the Indians
better than the two other great nations who came into contact with them, the
Spanish and English. The Spaniard neglected the Indian and oppressed him ;
the KEnglishman neglected and despised him; but the French took the Indian
by the hand, made much of him, intermarried with the Christianized and edu-
cated Indian girls. The good nuns of the Quebec Ursuline conveut, and those
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of Montreal, bad not laboured in vain. The Indian girl learned to be neat,
thrifty, modest. The story is told that a little Indian girl at one of these
sehools, when it chanced one day that a man had shaken hands with her, ran to
wash her hands, as if touched by an unclean thing. Then, the French loved
hunting, as the English colonist agriculture and trade, and the courier des bois,
and voyageur with his Indian wife, became in habits almost one of her people.
An example of this type of men was one whose tomb we have visited within
the roar of the Alumette cataract, on the Upper Ottawa. Cadieux was a mighty
hunter, a wise man too, the legend gcoes, and a composer and singer of the
“ chansons” which New France has with such grace inherited from her Norman
and Breton ancestors. One day as he and his companions were packing the
large canoe whichwas to go on the yearly trip with furs to Montreal, the word
was given that the Iroquois were at hand. Cadieux and a few others remained to
keep the wolves at bay, while all the others launched their canoe down the
terrible rapids, which rush from the height in a single shaft of water to break
into a sea of foam below. It was a desperate chance ; but the wife of Cadieux
was a Christian, and from her place in the canoe she invoked the aid ot St.
Anne. And the legend tells how a foam-white figure moved hefore the canoe,
and wherever she glided the waves grew calm, and the canoe passed safely to
the stream below. Tt was good St. Anne who came to save her votaries.

Poor Cadieux died in the woods of exhaustion. A «lament” of some poetical
power was found written by him as he lay dying; we heard it sung by our
Indian guide beside his grave. Such were many of the hardy French woods-
men ; we may see their descendants in the gay and stalwart lumbermen of the
Ottawa region at this day. .

De Mesy’s constant quarrels with the Council, and his having exceeded his
powers by sending back to France two of its principal members, led to his
being recalled. He died at Quebee, however, before the news of his deposition
reached him. ]

Under Colbert’s influence a step was now taken of the utmost benefit to the
French colony. The Marquis de Tracy, a nobleman of great wisdom and
knowledge, was empowered to regulate the affairs of the colony as Viceroy,
with Talon, celebrated as a financier, as Intendant, and De Courcelles as gov-
ernor, to succeed the Viceroy on his return to France. De Tracy’s extraordinary
mission to ascertain the true state of the country resembled that afterwards
undertaken by Lord Durham ; both were of the greatest benefit to Canada.
De Tracy, as well as Talon, his Intendant, were carefully instructed by Colbert,
that great minister, who, even under the despotism of Louis X1V., pursued
such an enlightened and liberal policy.

De Tracy was received at Quebec (July, 1665) with the warmest welcome from
all classes. Mass and Te Deum were sung, and the Viceroy, who had been
instructed to put a stop to the perpetual friction between the Bishop and the
Executive, showed the utmost respect to the Church authorities. He had secret
instructions to depress, without openly quarrelling, the exorbitant pretensions
of the Jesuits, and to favour their rivals, the Recollets, who were now restored
and reinstated in the possessions of which they had been deprived at their expul-
sion. With De Tracy arrived a veteran regiment of the French army, which
had fought under Turenne, that called the Carignan, with their colonel, De
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Salieres. A number of settlers of the most valuable kind accompanied them—
carpenters, blacksmiths, and other artisans. Live stock were also sent. The
Indians gazed with wonder on horses, never seen before in Canada.

In place of the old fort which the Iroquois had destroyed, three stone forts
were erected and garrisoned on the River Richelien. The Iroquois were intimi-
dated by these formidable measures, and the farmers of Canada that year
enjoved an unaccustomed security.

Talon meanwhile was procee ling with his measures of reform at Quebec. He
found the country rife with complaints against the Jesuits, with whom, however,
he judged it prudent not openly to interfere, except to lower the rate of tithes.

His method of settling the new colonists was to arrange the farm lands granted
as close together as possible, so that the people might help each other in case of
attack.

But the most important benefit which the colony received from this great
administrator was being taken once for all out of the hands of the trading
company, free trade being allowed to all, both with the Indians and France.
Now for the first time in Canadian history was attention directed to our
country’s mineral and lumber resources, spars and masts from our forests being
sent to France for the King’s dockyards. An engineer sent by Talon discovered
iron in abundance, also copper and silver, at the Bay of St. Paul. Near Three
Rivers iron mines were constructed, still yielding in large quantities iron superior
to the best found in Sweden. Talon set on foot new manufactures and new
improvements in agriculture. ITe started the seal and porpoise fisheries; the
latter—now scared away by the frequent passing of steamers—then abounded at
the mouth of the St. Lawrence. This trade proved most lucrative. By the year
1588, 1,100 merchant ships anchored in the port of Quebec, and when the
Viceroy left the colony its population had doubled. ‘

Three out of five of the Iroquois nations now offered peace. Against the
two that held aloof Courcelles and De Tracy took the field in separate direc-
tions, although it was mid-winter, Courcelles in command of some Canadian
militia. Our national soldiery, since then so often victorious, showed valuable
qualities of patience and encdurance in that trying march. But the Iroquois
everywhere fled before them, the villages being abandoned. De Tracy ex-
perienced the same thing, but found large stores of iaize and other supplies,
all which, except what was needed for the army, they destroyed, burning also
the villages wherever theymarched.

Terror-stricken at such a blow dealt in mid-winter, the Iroquois now
made peace for eighteen years. As a further security, wnost of the Carignan
regiment settled in Canada, the officers and men receiving grants of land, the
former as seigneurs. De Tracy returned to France in 1667, De Courcelles
succeeding him.

It was now that serious difficulties arose between Canada and the colony
which England had wrested from the Dutch, and named New <York. The
English were perpetually intriguing to get the entire fur trade into their own
hands, even that with the French Indians, whom they were able to influence
through the Iroquois, now as always the firm allies of the New York English.
The latter even resorted to the unfair expedient of underselling the French so
as to divert the fur trade to New York.
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It had become known through the Jesuit missionaries, who during this
century had made their way everywhere, that a large portion of the tribes east
of the Mississippi, and north of Lake Superior, had, through the influence of
their priests, become favourable to the French. M. Talon, therefore, sent a
travelling merchant named Perrot, well skilled in Indian usages, to gather a
great meeting of chiefs, which accordingly met at Sault Ste. Marie, at the foot of
Lake Superior, where they were addressed by M. de St. Lussen as plenipoten-
tiary for the King of France. The chiefs were flattered into acknowledging
themselves the vassals of Louis the Great.

Before leaving Canada, on account of failing health, De Courcelles held another
convention at Cataraqui (Kingston) with the Iroquois chiefs, whom he induced
to consent to his erecting a fort at Cataraqui. This he represented as a mere
trading depot. The next Governor was Louis de Buade, Count de Frontenac. a
haughty but firm as well as prudent leader of men, to whom Canada owes
much. He was struck with the grandeur of Quebec. ‘I have never seen any-
thing which for beauty or magnificence could compare with Quebec,” he said.
He found the colony prosperous, the Iroquois at peace. The population of New
France was now 45,000. Frontenac had much trouble with the Jesuits and
their partisans, the Bishop of Quebec and Perrot. The latter he sent to France,
where for a time he was imprisoned in the Bastile.

A report had reached the French Mission from their Indian converts of a
“ great water ” far to the south. Frontenae, induced by Talon, sent the famous
explorers Joliet and Marquette on an expedition, which resulted in the dis-
covery of the Mississippi. This great event in the annals of mankind belongs,
however, to American or French rather than to Canadian history. The brilliant
and unfortunate La Salle was afterwards sent in the same direction, and ranks
among the earliest explorers of the Father of Waters.

La Salle’s expedition so far belongs to the scope of our history that, having
been appointed Seigneur of Cataraqui, he rebuilt the Fort of Frontenac with
stone walls, All trace of La Salle’s fortalice has long vanished, but in the
barrack yard of the atillery barracks at Kingston some portion of an old bastion
may still be traced which marks its site. He also built a fort at Niagara, and
may be regarded as the fonnder of the town of that name. A few miles above
the Falls, then for the first time gazed upon by civilized man, he built a vessel,
the first counstructed in Canada, called the Gwiffin. She soon afterwards
foundered in a storm. The rest of this ill-fated expedition, which resulted in the
mutiny of the men and their leader’s death, belongs to American history.

Through the machinations of the Bishop and the Intendant, Frontenac was
recalled, in an evil hour for New France. Ie could not have held his position so
long but for the influence of the King’s mistress, Madame de Maintenon, tc whom
he had the doubtful honour of being related. The new Governor-General, De la
Barre, arrived at Quebec in 1682. He found that the Iroquois were about to
make war on the Illinois allies of the French, and that the English Governor of
New York was using every means to incite the Iroquois against New France.
He wrote home urgently for succour. He temporized with the Iroquois; flattered
them; and let them see that he feared their power. A force of 200, and subse-
quently a much larger one, arrived from France ; but be had proved himself so
thoroughly incompetent for his post at such a critical time, that he was recalled,
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and the Marquis de Denonville sent in his place (1686). He brought a reinforce-
ment of 600 soldiers. He endeavoured to conciliate the Iroquois chiefs; they
heard him with silent disdain, although fresh troops were sent from France, and
De Denonville had thus an army with which he could have struck a crushing
blow at the Iroquois confederacy. De Denonville had recourse to an act dis-
graceful to his nation, and certain to excite irreconcilable hatred in the Iroquois.
Through the agency of Father Lamberville, missionary in the Iroquois country,
he enticed a number of Iroquois chiefs to a conference, had them seized, put in
chains, and sent them to France to serve as the king’s galley slaves.

A savage hatred was thus aroused in the minds of the Iroquois. Far and
wide they prepared to revenge this breach of faith. With a capricious gener-
osity seldom recorded in their annals, they sent Father Lamberville, who they
knew had been no accomplice in the kidnapping, with the other “men of the
black robe ” who had missions among them, safe to Montreal. King Louis was
ashamed of the breach of international laws, and sent back some other Iroquois
prisoners whom De Denonville forwarded. Denonville took the field but accom-
plished nothing. The colonists, knowing that determined action alone could
check the Iroquois, watched with angry discontent Denonville’s inaction. Mean-
while, as the enemy seemed on their part to be inactive, it was hoped that the
restoration of their chiefs had pacified them ; but the black cloud was gathering,
soon to burst with the deadliest blow that had yet fallen on New France.

The summer evening had fallen peaceably on the meadows and gardens of
Lachine ; the cattle had been driven home ; all was still in the little village, in
whose quaint wooden cottages the hardworking farmers slept sound, wife and
children secure beside them. But late in the night a storm of rain and hail blew
from the lake, and during the storm, fourteen hundred Iroquois, their faces
smeared with war paint, disembarked from their canoes. Silently they sur-
ronnded every house in the village ; with morning dawn the war-whoop was
raised, and the inhabitants woke to their doom ; each house was set on fire ; the
inmates, if they tried to escape, were captured for further torture. Women and
children as they leaped from the flames were speared amid loud laughter. Then
began the pillage of the stores, then a feast and orgies held around the opened
brandy casks of the Montreal merchants. Had but a small force of Frenchmen
come to the rescue, the drunken wolves might have been slaughtered like swine.

At nightfall they withdrew to the opposite shore, first uttering yells repeated
ninety times to signify the number of prisoners they were carrying away for
torture.

All through that fearful night the terrified inhabitants could see on the
opposite shore the kindled fires and moving figures, for what purposes of
nameless horrors they knew too well.

The colony seemed paralyzed by this massacre. French power seemed
limited to Montreal, Quebec, Three Rivers, and a few fortified posts. The
fort built at Cataraqui in Frontenac’s time was blown up as untenable. De
Denonville gave orders that no attack should be made in reprisal, though
several opportunities presented themselves. Denonville was at once recalled,
and, happily for New France, the Count de Frontenac was sent to replace him.
On October 18, 1689, Frontenac landed at Quebec, and was received with the
greatest joy, especially, strange to say, by his old opponents the Jesuits, who

2
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had long been anxious for his recall. In the meantime, under William and
Mary, England had declared war against France, so that to strike a double
blow at the English, as well as the Indian enemies of France, Frontenac
invaded their colonial territories with three bodies of troops. The first of these
surprised and burned Schenectady on the border of New York, and put the
inhabitants to the sword. The second marched from Three Rivers upon New
Hampshire, and on their retuwrn joined forces with the Acadian militia, who
formed the third division. They then possessed themselves of Kaskebe, a for-
tified town on the seacoast of Maine.

In reprisal the English sent out two squadrons: one took possession of
Port Royal and Acadia ; the other sailed from Boston with a considerable
force of marines to attack Quebec. A land force marched from New York
against Montreal. The land expedition, under Sir William Phipps, was a
failure through want of supplies and from the vaecillation of the Indian allies.
But Count Frontenac showed such energy in defending Quebec, which was
now the most strongly fortified place in the north, that the British had to
retire baffled, leaving their cannon.

The Iroquois were now tired of fighting, and permitted Frontenac to rebuild
the fort at Cataraqui without hindrance; but to teach them a further lesson,
another force was sent into their country to burn villages and destroy grain.
The war with England, “ King William’s War,” ended with the Treaty of Rys-
wick in 1697, by which France retained Canada, Cape Breton and the Lauren-
tian Islands: Newfoundland, Acadia, and the Hudson Bay territory were
ceded to Britain. The loss of these latter was in no way attributable to the
people of New France, but to the reverses which the ambition of King Louis
had brought upon him in bis contest with England and her allies. In the
fullness of fame De Frontenac died, 78 years old, at Quebee, where he lies
buried.

Under his successor, De Callieres, a general meeting of the Iroquois and
other chiefs was held at Montreal. After the usual speeches and feasting,
a treaty of peace and alliancc was signed by the chiefs, who, as they could not
write, made a picture of the animal which his tribe took for its sign or totem,
a wolf, a bear, or porcupine. This took place in 1701.

In 1703 the Marquis de Vaudreuil came to Canada as Governor, when
although “ Queen Anne’s War ” broke out between England and France, Canada
enjoyed all the blessings of peace. The Iroquois also ceased their incursions.
It was found necessary, however, to add considerably to the strength of the
fortifications of Quebec and Montreal. An attempt was made by the English
under General Nicholson to march from Albany to the Canadian frontier, but
they returned home on hearing that the fleet sent from England to co-operate
with their movement had been wrecked. Great was the joy of the Quebec
people, who volunteered a large sum towards adding to the defences. This
war ended with the peace of Utrecht, by which Canada was, as before, retained
by France.

In 1717 another tribe, the Tuscaroras, joined the Iroquois, who since then
have been known as the Six Nation Indians. Many reforms were carried out
by De Vandreuil, and the colony under Lis rule grew in prosperity and popula-
tion ; he divided the entire country into 82 parishes, and did much to reform
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and facilitate the administration of justice. The population of Canada now
amounted to 25,000. Commerce with France had very much increased. Canada
sent furs, lumber, tobacco, grain, peas, and pork; receiving in exchange wine,
brandy, and dry goods. There was no system of education, but the numerous
convents to some degree supplied that deficiency.

In 1726 Baron de Beauharnois succeeded as Governor to Vaudreuil, who had
died after a rule of twenty-ome years. The Indians were now no longer
formidable ; they lived on friendly terms with the French settlers, and the:
labours and martyrdom of the missionaries were bearing rich fruit in the great
change brought about in the conduct and manners of their converts. In 1731
some traders from Montreal explored the region now known as Manitoba, and
built a trading fort near where Winnipeg now stands. They also went as far as
the Rocky Mountains.

THE CONQUEST OF CANADA.

The Marquis de la Jonquiere, Admiral of France, having been defeated and
captured in an engagement at sea by the English, the Count de la Galissonniere
was appointed until his release could be effected. Just before the peace of
Aix-la-Chapelle, in 1748, ended the war which had broken out again between
England and France in 1745, this Governor had the boundaries of the
French colonial possessions defined by sending an officer, with three hundred
men, who marked the limit from Detroit, running south-east as far as the
Ohio River, leaded tablets, bearing inseriptions, being buried at intervals along
the line. In 1745 this Governor succeeded in inducing many of the French
inhabitants of Aeadia to remove to Isle St. Jean, now Prince Edward Island.
Their place was supplied by three thousand eight hundred colonists sent from
England by the Earl of Halifax, in honour of whom the city then founded
was called Halifax. In 1749 De la Jonquiere, being released, eame out to
Quebec as Governor. He was, unlike the noble-minded men who had preceded
him since Count Frontenac, of a grasping and mean disposition. His last
days were embittered by quarrels with the Jesuits, who transmitted such
accounts of his unfair dealing to France that he would have been recalled
but that he died at Quebec, where he was buried beside Frontenac and Vau-
dreuil, 1752.

In this Governor’s time, and as a military counterpoise to Fort Oswego,
acquired by the English, a fortified post was constructed on Lake Ontario,
called Raioulle, after the French Minister of Marine, or by its Indian name,
Toronto, “ the harbour.” Scarce any remains of it can now be traced, except
a mound, where there was once a rampart. Its site was west of the present
city, near the Toronto Exhibition grounds.

The Marquis Duquesne de Menneville next held office. It was plain that
war between France and England was imminent, and that the battle-ground
would be either Canada or the New England colonies. Munitions of war,
artillery, and soldiers were sent from France in abundance. It wasthe wish of
Duquesne, as it had been of the ablest French politicians, since the rapid and
vigorous advance to power of the English colonies, to connect Canada with
Louisiana and the French possessions in the south, and thus prevent the
English colonies from advancing westward.
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With this view Duquesne sent a detachment of soldiers to fortify posts on
the Ohio and the Alleghanies. The Governor of Virginia considered this an
encroachment by the French on English territory, and with the aid of the
Virginian House of Burgesses, raised a body of militia, which was sent to
hold the forks of the Ohio and the Monongahela. They were under the com-
mand of a young Virginian surveyor and soldier, who had several years before
traversed all that region on a surveying expedition. They had began to work
at constructing a fort, when the French troops arrived in superior force and
drove them away. The French finished the work, and named the place Fort
Duquesne. Washington then erected a post, which he named Fort Necessity,
but from the small force at his command he was compelled to surrender it.
Thus began what is called the “Irench War,” but as the formal declaration of
hostilities broke out in 1756, it is known in English history as the Seven
Years’ War.

The Iroquois Indians wavered much as to which side they would take,
wishing, as usual, to take the part of the winners. Washington, on his sur-
veying expedition shortly before this, had come into contact with these
Indians, and had a narrow escape of his life. At length, however, the savages
made up their minds that the sword of King George would weigh heaviest in
the scale, and sided with the British.

Duquesne’s efforts at reform, and his devotion to the real interests of the
colony, made him many enemies. But, in fact, public morality had fallen to a
very low ebb in New France. The pay given toypublic officers was so small
and so irregularly paid, that they considered themselves justified in reimbursing
themselves at the public expense. Then the Governors-General held a
monopoly of granting licenses to sell spirits to the Indians, which of course
brought enormous profits. The finances were in hopeless confusion, the Indian
trade was in the hands of corrupt officials. The Intendants had the greatest
opportunities of all for enriching themselves at the public expense; and the
worst of all Intendants—he who has been well ecalled by our Lower Canadian
historian, Garneau, “ the evil genius of Canada”’—was now in power. It is on
record that in the course of his corrupt administration this man amassed no
less a sum thau £400,000 sterling.

Meanwhile preparations for war went on. The French were at a disadvantage
because of the bankrupt condition of the treasury of Louis XV. The Iroquois
would be a formidable addition to the English arms ; still, there were sufficient
troops In Canada, and a large number of the friendly Indians were reliable.

On word being sent to the colonies to prepare for hostilities, a congress of the
colonials was held, at which Benjamin Franklin proposed a confederation of the
colo:ies. His project was not, however, entertained ; but the colonial militia
were armed and trained, and the Mother Country sent out subsidies, and two
reginients under General Braddock, who had seen service in the late wars under
the Duke of Cumberland.

Mortified at the annoyance caused by Bigot and others, Duquesne requested
to be recalled, in order to re-enter the naval service. His successor, the last
Krench Governor of Canada, was Pierre Rigaud, Marquis de Vaudreuil. His
father, the Vaudreuil whose rule had been so beneficial, was very unlike the son.
He allowed wheat to be shipped off to the West Indies for the benefit of Bigot
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and other officials ; the fur trade was getting poorer, all the men in the colony
were under arms, and in consequence agricultural work of the most necessary
kind was left undone. There was not sufficient food ; what there was rose to
starvation prices. The people not unjustly laid the blame of all upon the
Government, and it was probably the English conquest alone which saved New
France from a miniature French Revolution.

But news came that Braddoek’s expedition, his two English regiments and
the Colonial Militia, had been surprised amid the woods by a party of French
and Indians. Braddock was killed, and the few who escaped were enabled to
retreat only by the coolness and courage of Colonel Washington. This gave
heart to the French, and secured the support of their Indian allies. An
English expedition failed to take Fort Niagara. The French, on the other
hand, when from their entrenchments at Ticonderoga they attacked the Eng-
lish position on Lake George, were routed with the loss of their general. In
1756, Lonis XV. sent out the Marquis de Montcalm as commander-in-chief
for Canada. This gallant defender of a hopeless cause was the representative
of one of the oldest families in the French noblesse. He had served with
honour in many of the European wars. He brought to Canada a large body
of reinforcements, with provisions and abundant supplies of arms and ammu-
nition. With him came the Chevalier, afterwards Duke de Levis, also M. De
Bougainville, who was destined to win fame in future years as a navigator.
At the same time the British Government sent out, as commander-in-chief, the
Earl of Loudon, with a force of regular troops. The first success was with
Montealm, who reduced and demolished the forts at Ontario and Oswego. It
is to be regretted that the murder of many of the English captured on this
occasion should stain an illustrious name. All along the English colonial
frontier now raged the horrors of an Indian war. No farm house, no village
on the border of New England or Maine, was safe from the scalping-knives of
Indians, or of Canadians as savage as Indians. Fort Henry too was captured
by Montecalm, and the Iroquois, false as ever to unfortunate allies, were on the
point of deserting to the French. From this, however, they were restrained
by the influence of William Johnson, afterwards so distinguished by the sue-
cess achieved by the force under his command in the military operations on
Lake George. This extraordinary man held a position with regard to the
Indians without paralle]l among English-speaking men of any position in
society. Among the French colonists it was common enough that a gentle-
man of good lineage should marry an Indian wife. Such marriages were, as
a rule, happy, and from them are descended some of the best known families
in French Canada. But most Englishmen would have thought it a degrada-
tion to admit a daughter of the red race to a higher position than concubinage.
William Johnson, however, lived among the Iroquois, and had so perfectly
assimilated their language and customs, that they regarded him as one of
themselves, a great chief, a bold rider, a sure marksman, powerful on the war-
path and in the council. He was to them a combination of Achilles and
Ulysses.

In order to protect the position he had won, Johnson built a fort, which he
named Fort William Henry. But notwithstanding this success, it was felt that
during the years 1755-1756 the advantage had been mainly on the side of
France.



22 HISTORY OF BRANT COUNTY.

Meanwhile, distress increased throughout Canada. Bigot and his accom-
plices made the ruin of their countrymen the extortioner’s opportunity.
“Bigot,” Montcalin wrote, “ has got the whole trade of the colony in his hands.
He orders from France whatever Canada is likely to need, and in the name of
the ‘great society,” which consists of himself and his creatuves, he retails the
public stores at whatever price he chooses to put upon them.” Meantime,
famine was pressing hard the women and children whose bread-winners were
fighting with Montcalm’s army. Even in the cities articles of food had risen in
price a hundred and fifty per cent. In Quebec the whole population were put
on starvation allowance, and it was a common thing to see people fainting in the
city streets from the want of food. Meanwhile, the extreme scarcity of specie
gave Bigot an excuse for issuing paper money, by which device he robbed the
colony wholesale. It was repudiated by Louis XV. several years afterwards. In
fact, everyone among the officials saw that the coming of the British armies
was the beginning of the end, and made haste to get rich while there was yet
time. It is satisfactory to know that Bigot, on his return to France, was thrown
into the Bastile, and afterwards exiled.

A change of Government ineantime was taking place in England. The un-
popular Court favourite, Lord Bute, was displaced, and the great and liberal-
minded statesman, William Pitt, became Prime Minister. The public spirit of
England, depressed by the late reverses in Canada, responded to lis call, and
the nation stood united as one man in the resolve that, cost what it would, the
French should be driven from North America. Supplies were cheerfully voted,
fleets and armies sent forth to eonquer.

In France a very different spirit prevailed. The infamous Madame de
Pompadour, the chief mistress in the French King’s harem, hated Canada. It
cost more than it was worth, she said. Money was sent out there which could
have been more pleasantly spent in Paris. And here was the Governor of
Canada again piteously asking for money ‘and soldiers. He was refused, for
Madame so willed it. That was the Reign of Prostitution, and it was succeeded
by the Reign of Terror.

At this time a fleet was sent against Nova Scotia and Cape Breton under
Admiral Boscawen, with General Amherst, and a young officer, whose genius
Mr. Pitt’s sagacity had discerned under a modest studious demeanour and a
fragile constitution. They sailed for Nova Scotia and Cape Breton. Louis-
burg was taken after a determined resistance by M. De la Tour, the Gov-
ernor. « The fortifications were in a state all but ruinous; the walls between
the bastions had crumbled away ; there was but a single bombproof casemate
and one magazine. The chief defence of the place was the harbour, which
could be easily barred against an enemy’s entrance, while, even should an
entrance be effected, the difficulty of disembarking troops was great. The
Governor took measures to avail himself of these natural advantages, but the
British by a feint effected a landing. Wolfe, by a remarkable anticipation of
his tactics at Quebec, with a hundred men scaled a height hitherto thought inac-
cessible, and undismayed by the waves that threatened to dash their boats on
the rocks, and facing the storm of flame and lead, they effected an orderly
debarkation, and took up a position commanding the town. For days the
defenders of Louisburg returned the fire of the batteries erected by the English,
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and fought with determined courage in sortie after sortie. Madame De la Tour,
a high-born lady, the Governor’s wife, passed and repassed among the batteries
amid the storm of shot and shell to cheer her country’s soldiers. But in vain ;
the Governor, at the prayer of the town’s people, who feared a general assault by
the English general, and that their homes would be given up to the horrors of
a sack, consented to capitulate. Honourable terms were given to these brave men;
and thus did Louisburg, with the whole of Cape Breton and Prince Edward, pass
into the hands of Great Britain.

Meanwhile General Abercromby, who had succeeded the less eapablz Loudon,
advanced on the chain of forts which were the key to the St. Lawrence. He
had with him the largest army that had ever gathered in America, over six
thousand regular troops and nine thousand militia. Montealm, to meet the
British advance, moved from Carillon towards Lake George. A skirmish took
place in which the gallant Lord Howe lost his life. Montcalm, perceiving the
intention of Abercromby to move on Canada by Carillon, defiled his troops in
that direction—it was there he had determined to give battle. His force was
much inferior in numbers, his men were ill fed and dispirited, yet, like the
Spartan hero of old, he resolved not to give up the pass that protected his
country without a struggle.

The outlet of Lake George, called La Chute River, and Lake Champlain, into
which it flows, form a triangle, called Carillon, on the river side of which the
banks form a steep precipice, while the land slopes gently towards the lake.
At the apex of the triangle was a small fort commanding the water approach.
On'this position Montcalm entrenched his army ; his men worked with a will ;
the front of their lines was defended by a line of felled trees whose truncated
branches, stripped of their leaves and pointing outwards, constituted a sort of
natural chevaux-de-frise. On Abercromby’s observing Montealm’s movement,
he was misled by information received from prisoners into supposing that
Montcalm’s object in thus intrenching his force was to gain time, as he expected
large reinforcements. Under this mistaken impression Abercromby reso!ved to
storm the intrenched position at once. He led the attack with four columns,
supported by armed barges on the river. The British advanced supported by
a heavy fire, to which the French, by Montecalm’s order, did not reply till the
enemy had come within three hundred yards. He was well obeyed. As the
British line reached the appointed distance the deadly volley flashed upon the
assailants, so that, brave as they were, their line reeled before it in disorder.
Meantime the cannon from the fort had sunk the barges advancing to support
Abercromby from the river. Again the brave English veformed their ranks,
and sprang to the attack, again to be repulsed. With the dogged courage
that “does not know when it is beaten,” the British twice returned to climb the
slope; later in the day, Abercromby advanced to the assault with his
whole army, each time to be swept back by the deadly rain of bullets. At
length the defeat was complete, great as had been the gallantry shown by the
Brltlbh especially by the Highlanders nnder Lord John Murray. For Monicalm
it was a glorious victory. With a force of 3,600 men he had beaten back in
utter rout a well appointed army of 15,000. All through the battle he had
thrown himself where the fight was hottest, supporting every weak point as it
was hard pressed.
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Abercromby’s defeat was in part redeemed to the British by the surprise of
Fort Frontenac, successfully accomplished by Colonel Bradstreet about the
same time. The fort was only held by 70, the British force was 3,000, but
the French Commandant, M. de Noyau, refused to surrender till shelled out by
the British mortars. Bradstreet released his prisoners and demolished the
fort, which was a most important acquisition, the key to ILake Ontario.
During the year 1758, though the material advantages were on the side of the
British, the military glory of Montcalm was incomparably greater.

Mecantime the shadow of famine and financial ruin grew darker over New
France. Food became even more scarce than the year before. It is painful
to read the description of the prevailing destitution, of the want of supplies
for his men, of the patient courage with which the soldiers of Canada fought,
though unpaid and scarce fed. He passionately begged for more troops. In
vain. The France to which he appealed was ruled by a harlot.

The British well knew the dissensions and destitution that prevailed in
Canada, and wisely resolved to strike a blow at the centres of the Irench
power. Already ¥ort Duquesne had fallen into the hands of General Forbes.
It was well known to the French ministry that the British forces far outnum-
bered what France could possibly bring into the field. Again and again did
Montecalm plead with the selfish voluptuary who wore the crown of St. Louis
the urgent ticed of help. The Canadian colonists, to the number of ten thou-
sand, stood to their arms in the face of famine. Neither men, money, nor
food were sent from France. _

Mr. Pitt had devised a plan for a simultaneous attack on the three most
vital points of New France—Niagara, Montreal and Quebec. General
Amherst drove the French, first from Ticonderoga, then from Crown Point,
but was prevented by the approach of winter from attempting further oper-
ations. At the same time, Sir William Johnson, who had been knighted by
the English king for his vietory over the French in 1755, attacked Niagara.
Here also the French were defeated, and the ancient fort, whose ruins are
still among the sights of one of our pleasantest summer resorts, passed into
the hands of the British.

In February, a fleet under the command of Admiral Saunders sailed from
England for Quebee, the chief command being assigned, by Mr. Pitt’s special
choice, to Major-General Wolfe. The latter was a young officer, the son of a
distinguished soldier of the armies which had fought under Marlborough. Of
thin, slight figure, with more of the student than the warrior both in bis dis-
position and appearance, with a refinement and delicacy of taste only too
alien to the manners of the “army from Flanders” which he was called on to
command, Wolfe had yet the instinct of genius, already tested at Louisburg,
and appreciated by the great minister who redeemed the future of English
liberty. The fleet touched at Nova Scotia for reinforcements, and on July 25
5,000 men were landed on the Island of Orleans.

Within the city founded by Champlain, and consecrated by the sainted
founders of the Ursulines, were Montcalm and 12,000 men. Everything was
against them ; insufficient food, clothing and ammunition, and the enemy’s
force so overwhelming that it was acknowledged by both Bigot and Montealm
that Canada could not be held for another year. Already the English artillery
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had occupied Point Levis, and were cannonading the lower part of the city
with their heavy ordnance. There is something touching in the loyalty of
these French colonists to a country and a king who desired nothing better
than to get rid of them.

The River St. Lawrence seems to dwarf everything else except Montreal and
Quebec. But Quebec can assert its own individuality even against Canada’s
mightiest river. On the evening of July 1, Wolfe sailed past Cape Diamond
almost within musket shot of the city, enjoying the tranquil beauty of the scene,
and from time to time reading a newly published poem by one Mr. Gray, of
Cambridge, entitled *“ An Elegy in a Country Churchyard.” There were probably
few officers nmder his command who could have shared his tastes.

For five weeks, Wolfe’s army lay inactive before Quebec. At last a most ill-
advised attempt was made to force the French intrenchments above the Mont-
morency at Beauport ; it was a movement which had nothing but its audacity
to recommend it. And lastly, a Colonel Townshend devised a plan of scaling
the heights above Quebec by a narrow winding pass which had been discovered,
and when Wolfe had risen from his sick-bed this plan was generally considered
to be worth trying. Tt suited well with the General’s adventurous disposition.
Had the geese that saved the Roman Capitol been on the scene when company
after company climbed the narrow stairs that skirts the precipice, the English con-
quest might have been delayed though not averted. But this time Wolfe’s rash
move succeeded. Regiment after regiment stood formed in battle array. The
only question was, what were they to do? They had no artillery wherewith to
attack a fortified city, and were in fact at the mercy of Montcalm’s troops, and
out of the reach of support from their own fleet, which was now at Cape Rouge.
But by sowe inexplicable impulse, Montcalm played into the hands of the
enemy by meeting them in the open field. A desperate struggle ensued, fought
mostly at the bayonet point ; at four in the afternoon it was found that the am-
kunition of the French was exhausted, and that the brave Montcalm was mortally
wounded. Wolfe tco was shot, and died on the battleficld. Montealm was
carried to the convent of the Ursulines ; there, in the garden where Marie de I'In-
carnation and Madame de la Péltrie gathered the white roses, the conqueror of
Carillon rests.

Four days after the battle on the plains of Abraham, Quebec was surrendered
to the English. The garrison was allowed to march out with the honours of
war, and were conveyed to the nearest port in France.

Meantime the French force at Montreal, numbering upwards of ten thousand,
moved upon Quebec, and General Murray, who had been left in command of the
British army at Quebec, repeated Montcalm’s mistake of meeting a superior force
in the open field. The result was that the English were defeated with great
loss, but were able to secure their retreat within the city. The French were
preparing to besiege Quebec when the British fleet came to its relief. During
the night of May 16, 1760, the French army raised the siege of Quebec, having
thrown its artillery into the St. Lawrence.

With the abandonment of the last siege of Quebec ended the resistance of
French Canada to the English conquest. The men of the Canadian Militia
returned to their homes to share with the French soldiers billeted upon them
the scanty food that was left. Not only had the French King refused to send
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soldiers, but his baukrupt treasury was even reduced to the meanness of refus-
ing to repay the advances which the Canadian colonists had made to the Go-
vernment. The paper money put into circulation by Bigot was worthless, and
there was no other currency in eirculation. The French General, M. de Levis,
wrote to King Louis XV.: “The paper money is entirely discredited, and the
people are in despair about it. They have sacrificed their all for the conserva-
tion of Canada ; now they find themselves ruined, resourceless.”

Even gunpowder had failed when three large armies were about to move on
Quebee, Montreal, and Three Rivers.

The French Canadian colonists had loyally upheld the white flag of Bourbon
France till food and the materials for fighting failed. While Kigg Louis threw
diamonds to the danscuses of the Parc an Cerfs, the descendants of the Breton
and Norman settlers in Canada, amid starvation, the oppression of unjust taxes,
and the presence of a rich and well-equipped enemy, upheld to the last the
supremacy of the ungrateful Mother Country. At last even Bigot and Vaudreuil
sald that the time for capitulation had come.

On September 8, 1766, Canada passed under the rule of Britain, Madame de
Pompadour laughed at the cession of a few thousand acres of ice. But never
did a subjugated people receive better terms. They were not only guaranteed
immunity from all injary or retaliation, but free exercise of their religion, and
what amounted to a virtual establishment of the Catholic Church, with all its
religious organizations. The officers of the French army who had been in charge
of Detroit and other posts withdrew to Europe. The small numnber of these—
185 officers, 2,400 soldiers—shows how slight were the efforts made by France
to retain a colony, of which, when leaving Canada, M. de Vaudreuil wrote :
“With these beautiful and vast countries France loses 70,000 inhabitants of a
rare quality, a race of people unequalled for their docility, bravery and loyalty.
The vexations they have suffered for many years, more especially during the five
years preceding the reduction of Quebec, all without a murmur, or importuning
their King for relief, sufficiently manifest their perfect submissiveness.”

So Canada changed masters after a century and a half of French rule. The
French clergy had conquered heathenism. The French, or rather the native
Canadian army, had held its own against the Eunglish troops, which out-
numbered it tenfold, from Louishurg to Lake Erie.

The Chevalier de Levis returned with the remnant of Montealm’s army to
France, when he was created a Duke, and lived in great honour and prosperity.
His letters to the French Minister pay a marked tribute to the soldier-like
qualities of the native Canadian Militia. Had the Canadians been matched on
equal terms with Mr. Pitt’s well-fed and well-paid soldiers, had the English
not numbered ten to their one, the result might have been otherwise.

Thus was virtually decided the question as to whether England or France
should possess a country as large as half the European continent. REither
nation was worthily represented by the opposing chiefs. It is to be hoped that
war will be banished from the future of our country. Should it be otherwise,
there can be no nobler traditions of heroism than those associated with the
names of Wolfe and Montcalm.

The command of the French army now devolved on the Chevalier de Levis,
an officer of great ability, who had been Montcalm’s most trusted lieutenant.
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His wish was to advance, under cover of the woods, on the English position-
but this was frustrated by the sudden and unexpected capitulation of Quebec,
now almost reduced to a heap of ruins by the long-continued bombardment.
Thus closed the eventful campaign of 1759. ’

Great was the rejoicing in England over this important conquest, for -
although the contest was continued for some time in Canada, the decisive
blow had been struck, and Canadian history has no further concern with the
details of a lost cause. If France had been willing to help New France in
her determined resistance to the English invasion, the contest might have
ended otherwise. But the corrupt French Government was already bankrupt.
The worn out noblesse, clinging to their privilege of exemption from taxation,
were no worthy peers of Montealm or De Levis. On September 8, 1760, the
capitulation was signed which placed Canada under British rule. The free
exercise of their religion was guaranteed to the subjugated people. Certain
religious orders were secured in the possession of their property and privi-
leges ; the seigneurs retained their feudal rights. M. de Vaudrueil and M. de
Levis returned to France; the latter served with distinction in the French
army, was created a Duke, and died in 1787, while presiding at one of their
provincial meetings which preceded the Revolution, at Arras, the city of
Robespierre. Madame de Pompadour and her creatures rejoiced over the loss
of Canada. “The English have gained a few thousand acres of ice.” Strange
to say, Voltaire, in his luxurious exile at Ferney, celebrated the capitulation
of Quebec with a banquet. The philosopher foresaw in the loss to France an
incalculable gain to humanity. He foresaw the American Revolution and all
its train of results, yet perhaps undeveloped, in Europe.

Caxapa DURING THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION.

The next twenty years were passed under a military government, which,
however, gave the Canadians a security and freedom from the evils of warfare
and conscription long unknown to them. The British rule became identitied
with peace and prosperity. Never before had the Canadian people enjoyed
such advantages. Their numbers, on the capitulation of Quebec, were esti-
mated at 69,275, and the Christianized Indians at 7,400. Now, at last, the
fraudulent transactions of the late Government were brought to light; frauds,
it must be remembered, by which not the French King, who simply repudiated
his debts, but every farmer who had nsed the paper money circulated in the
French King’s name, had to suffer. The ruin, worse than that of war, inflicted
on Canada by this royal fraud is estimated at £3,000,000.

Shortly after the eapitulation, and under the military rule of General
Murray, some of the French officers left in Canada succeeded in persuading
an Ottawa chief named Pontiac to attack the British posts at Detroit and the
other frontier posts. Pontiac, like Tecumseh and Thayendanegea, was one of
those remarkable men who seem to have overstepped the gulf between savagery
and civilization. In his plan for a simultaneous attack on every British out-
post, from Lake Michigan to Niagara, he showed a power of combination and
a faculty for planning extensive operations rarely exhibited by his people.
His measures for supplying his army with provisions, his wisdom in protect-
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ing the farmers from his marauding followers, his issue of a bireh-bark cur-
rency, faithfully redeemed with its equivalent in furs, mark this wonderful
savage as one of those figures which rebuke our civilized contempt for their
race. But with all his gifts, Pontiac was an Indian ; his tactics were those of
his race. A combined movement was to be made on every English post,
Pontiac to lead by surprising Detroit. Fortunately, the English commandant
had an intrigue with an Indian girl, who gave him warning of the intended
surprise. But many of the other forts were taken, with the usual atrocities.
One English lady, the wife of an officer, was struck in the face with the reek-
ing scalp of her husband. She escaped by some miracle, and returned to the
ruins of her home to bury her husband’s body and then seek refuge in Detroit.
Never in the history of Indian warfare was an attack on the power of the
white men so ably conceived and so steadily carried out as that which the
brilliant American historian, Mr. Parkinson, has well designated * The Conspi-
racy of Pontiac.” But it failed. The Indian scalping-knife was no match
for the British bayonct. Wherever the outposts were weak, where a few men
and a few women could be surprised, the Indians succeeded. But Detroit,
Niagara and Pittsburg repulsed every assault of the savages. In 1764,
General Bradstreet relieved the siege of Pittsburg. Pontiac lost credit with
his followers, and had to fly from Canada. He sought shelter among the
Indians of Illinois, and this last chief of independent Indian warfare died
at the hands of one of his tribe in a drunken quarrel.

The growing prosperity of Canada did much to reconcile the people to
English rule, although there was some discontent at the continuance of mili-
tary government, and the substitution of English for French law. Itis difficult
to ascertain the true condition of public opinion in Canada during the latter
part of the decade which succeeded the conquest. It is true that the first
issue of the Quebec Guzette appeared on June 21, 1764, containing printed
matter in English as well as French, but its publisher was enjoined to confine
its columns to a mere summary of evenis, no editorial comment being aliowed.
The French Canadians were very much depressed by the heavy loss caused by
the repudiation of Bigot’s paper currency. They also felt severely the abro-
gation of their language and of the native legal forms and courts, and the
virtual exelusion of those professing the Catholic religion from office. In
1765 there were in Canada 70,000 Catholics to 500 Protestant English. The
latter from the first formed a party hostile to French interests, and indisposed
to permit any measures of religious toleration. General Murray, who may
be regarded as the first Governor-General, uniformly sided with the cause of
the French Canadians, and endeavoured to secure them in the possession of
what liberty the laws allowed. He represented to the English ministry the
absurdity of choosing all the public officiais from the ranks of a small Pro-
testant minority, nostly traders and men who were uneducated, and that
allowing these persons to assume supremacy as a privileged class must alien-
ate the French, especially the seigneurs. Every year the influx of colonists
of British blood continued to increase. As a result of this, we find that in
1771, 471,000 bushels of wheat were exported, an amount double that of any
former year.

The British colonists desired to Anglicize everything; to force on the
minority their own church, language and customs. Had England permitted
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they would have treated the Canadians much as the Anglo-Irish Protestants
had treated the Catholic Celts, and with the same odious and bitter results.
Their policy of persecution was thwarted by the good sense of Governor
Murray, who incurred thereby their bitter hatred. To such a degree was
this carried that the home authorities were forced to recall him. In one of
the representative assemblies which were allowed to meet, as occasion arose,
on petition from the people, Murray allowed Roman Catholics to sit, where-
upon fierce attacks were made on his personal character. He went to England,
where he trinmphantly vindicated his policy before a committee of the Privy
Council, but Canada was to lose his valuable services. He returned to our
country no more. In 1766 Sir Guy Carleton was appointed Governor, and by
direction of the English ministry pursued Murray’s policy of conciliation to the
Canadians.

In 1770, reports furnished by Murray and Carleton were examined before a
commission empowered to investigate the condition of Canada, and such lawyers
as the able and tolerant-minded Wedderburn pleaded the right of Canadians
to enjoy entire toleration in religion, the exercise of their ownlaws and cus-
toms, except in criminal cases, and the use of their own language in all public
business.

In 1774, the celebrated “Quebec Act” was passed by the Imperial Parlia-
ment, by which the French Canadians were granted the jurisdiction of the old
French law, as laid down in the edicts of the French Kings and of the Colonial
Intendants. This law is founded mainly on the old Roman civil law, as codi-
fied by the Emperor Justinian, and is in many respects simpler and more in
accordance with free institutions than the English common law, which is essen-
tially feudal. Judges were henceforth to be chosen from among the French
Canadians as being competent to administer these laws, and the French lan-
guage was directed to be used in all courts of law. But in criminal trials the
English criminal law was to be used, with its invariable accompaniment, trial
by jury. The Governor retained supreme executive power, but he was to be
assisted by a couneil appointed by himself, of not more than twenty-three nor
less than seventeen. All legislative power was given to the Governor-in-
Council, except the right of taxation. Equality before the law, and the right.
of holding office, was given to Catholics as well as Protestants. The feudal
privileges of the seigneurs were expressly guaranteed to them. By this well-
timed concession the British Government secured the support of the two ruling
classes in French Canada, the priests and the seigneurs, and Canada was retained
as a stronghold for English power amid the rising flood of American revolution.
It was not the native French Canadians but the British born protected settlers
who sympathized with the revolt.

We'of English speech cannot but regard the British Canadian colonists as
in the right, in spite of their religious intolerance. It will be good for Canada
to be Anglicized and to have the reactionary influence of the Church and the
feudal system swept away ; the day will come yet, we belicve, when the
change will accomplish- itsclf by the infiltration of Irench Canadians with
English-speaking settiers, and by the tide of modern ideas, with which a
medieval theology is incompatible. But the time was not ripe for the change,
nor were these the men to work it out. They wanted personal objects, not
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political, and sought to overthrow Catholicity not in the interests of modern
- enlightenment but of an established State Church. Before a genuine move-
ment for liberty could take place, the great American revolution had to run
its glorious course, and to bring with it to our country its consequence—the
settlement of English-speaking Canada.

THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION.

The great political event of the century was the Revolution, which began
with the meeting of the first Congress, in September, 1774, whose direct result
was the French Revolution and the revolt of the modern intellect against
feudalism throughout the world. The Congress, among other addresses, sent
one to Canada, inviting their co-operation. An American partisan, who
was also a Jesuit priest, was sent to win over the clergy to the cause of the
thirteen colonies. But, with a true instinct, the men of the black robe dis-
trusted a movement which based itself on the rights of man. YEngland had
secured to them the supremacy of their Church, which a Republican success
might endanger. The seigneurs did not approve of Liberty, Equality and
Fraternity. These two classes, the clergy and the colonial 7noblesse, adhered
steadfastly to British connection, and their influence over the uneducated
peasantry was such, that not even when later in the war their ancestral France
sided with the Republic, not when Lafayette appealed to their French loyalty
and to the old traditions, did any considerable section of them desire inde-
pendence. One reason of this, no doubt, was the fact that Congress, among
other statements of grievances against the British Government, had declaimed
against the toleration granted to Catholicity by the Quebec Act, thus making
an impression on the Canadian mind not to be effaced by any subsequent pro-
testations of good-will. There were other minor causes—the power of Britain,
the probable failure of the American armies, even the attempt to introduce a
paper currency among the people, who had suffered a loss not to be forgotten
by Bigot's fraud ; and there is evidence that the Americans, true to the self-
assertion of our English-speaking race, were apt to deal in a somewhat
peremptory manner with Canadian prejudices. But of the English-born
settlers in Canada a considerable number sided with America.

In viewing from the stand-point of the Canada of to-day the events of that
great controversy, our sympathies must be given, and given without reserve,
to the men who led into the field the brave soldiers of New England, rather
than fo the dull-witted Hanoverian King, who tried to play in America the
part of Charles the Fifth or Philip the Second. The present writer’s grand-
father fought as a midshipman in a brigade from the Royal Navy in the
attacking force, which learned to respect the marksmanship of the Massa-
chusetts farmers, with their heavy pea-rifles, at Bunker’s Hill. So few

enerations separate us from scenes that have become part of the historic past.
%om‘e of the actorsin the War of Independence pass over the stage of Canadian
history.

Congress resolved on an invasion of Canada from two directions, Lake
Champlain and the Kennebec River. The rash and impetuous Arnold, the
Judas of American independence, offered to take all Canada with some ten
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thousand men, having by his seizure of Fort Ticonderoga secured the command
of Lake Champlain and then of the entrance to the Laurentian Valley.
The Congress expected that the Canadians would be discontented with the
British rule, and only too glad to exercise their well proved valour against the
alien eonquerors.

Three thousand men were gathered at Lake Champlain under the gallant
General Montgomery, one of Wolfe’s old officers at Quebec. Montgomery was
charged to pay every respect to the feelings of the French Canadians, and to
pay for all supplies. The latter, however, was not in his power, as the
Canadians refused to take the paper currency issued by Congress even at its
depreciated value. Montgomery was a leader well calculated to win the
confidence of the Canadians, whom he treated with the utmost courtesy. His
first move was on Fort Chambly, in which parish the majority of the inhabit-
ants sympathized with the Americans; this and Fort St. John he took after
a determined resistance. '

Meantime the Catholic Bishop of Quebec, true to absolutism even in a heretic

-king, fulminated a proclamation exhorting all Catholics to be loyal to England
and to oppose the American invader. The seigneurs too, without exception,
sided with the monarch who had secured to them their privileges. The
Chambly parishioners, however, joined an American force under Brown
and Livingston, which effected the reduction of the Fort of Chambly.

A daring attempt by Colonel Ethan Allen and Major Brown to surprise
Montreal failed from want of sufficient force to effect it. Allen was taken
prisoner and sent to England in irons. In the meantime, Colonel Benedict
Arnold marched from Maine by the River Kennebec with over one thousand
men. He was so insufficiently provided with supplies throughout the difficult
and toilsome march, that his men subsisted mainly on what wild fruit they could
gather. They were even glad to make use of dogs as food. On November 9,
1775, after some delay from want of transports to cross the river, and seeing
that he conld not surprise the Quebec garrison, and that Colonel Maclean was
fully prepared to resist him, he marched up the north shore of the St. Lawrence
to Pointe aux Trembles. Sir Guy Carleton was, however, drawn by this
movement of Arnold’s to repair at once with the only force at his disposal to
the defence of Quebec, on which Montgomery immediately took possession of
Montreal. This brilliant sunccess of the American arms was attained with
small loss of men, and greatly raised the prestige of the armies, whom an
English member of Parliament had described as “cowardly colonists.” From
captured Montreal the victorious Moutgomery marched east to effect a junction
with Arnold. The united armies proceeded to assault Quebec.

Carleton had a very inferior force wherewith to conduct the defence ; still,
he held the strongest fortress on the continent, and was well supplied with
provisions. The Americans lacked everything—tood, clothing, artillery. Those
who are familiar with the soldier-like blue and grey uniforms of the United
States army of to-day, will hardly realize the appearance in 1775 of the soldiers
who invested Quebec. Uniform properly called they had none; a branch of
cedar worn in their hats, or a white kerchief tied round their neck, alone
distinguished the soldiers of Congress. Their ranks were at this time thinned
by an epidemic of small-pox, to meet which they had neither medical aid nor
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hospital accommodation. And in addition to other annoyances, Montgomery
bad to bear with the jealous and contentious temper of his subordinate, Arnold.

The night of the last day of 1775 was unusually dark, not a star visible, and
a heavy snow-storm falling. This was chosen by Montgomery for an attack on
the city with the entire force of his army, now not numbering more than thir-
teen hundred available men. Two divisions were formed and led by himself, the
other by Arnold. They were to send two detachments which should distract the
attention of the garrison by a feigned attack on St. John’s gate, while they were
to penetrate the Lower Town, and thence mount to the citadel. But deserters
from their ranks had told the English governor that a sudden night attack was
intended, and the garrison were well on the watch. Montgomery had marched
with difficulty over a narrow pass where but two men could walk abreast between
cliff and strand ; he had, however, reached the outer barrier of Pres-de-Ville, but
on reaching the next found his way barred by a battery of seven cannon, each
artilleryman expectant at his post with lighted match. There was but one hope:
followed by his officers and men, Montgomery charged the foe. When they were
but a few yards from the battery, the officer in command gave the word to fire.
Facing the storm of grape-shot and flame, Montgomery rushed on sword in hand.
But the terrible volley of grape-shot did its work. Montgomery lay dead, with
his two aides-de-camp, and a number of officers and men. Most of Arnold’s
divisions were compelled to surrender. It is pleasant to record that the English
Governor had the remains of Montgomery interred with military honours.

Arnold was now appointed by “ Congress, to the chief command in Canada,”
and with his diminished and almost starving troops continued to invest Quebec.
The tactics of the British were those of Fabius; they sustained the siege being
certain of reinforcements, which arrived early in May, when Arnold, who though
a soldier of some dash was not able to play the part of Wolfe, hastily retired
from besieging the capital of Canada.

When France resolved on aiding Awmerica with men and money, a French
expedition to Canada was contemplated ; but it never had any chance of success
in winning the support of the French colonists, who had learned to appreciate
the freedom and prosperity which they enjoyed under the mild rule of England,
as compared with the harsh military sway of a despotic monareh and his lieu-
tenants, With the war which ended in the victories which established the
freedom of the greatest of republics, Canadian history has no further connection.

THE SETTLEMENT OF ENGLISH-SPEAKING CANADA.

The keen-sightedness of Voltaire, who foresaw in the British conquest of
Canada the separation of the American colonies from Britain, and, as a further
result, a mortal blow to despotism in every part of the world, was fully justified
by events. Another consequence followed which the great prophet of persiflage
did not foresee, the formation in the wilderness between Montreal and Lake
Erie of a new Canada of Anglo-Saxon speech, indomitable energy, and in all
matters of religion and politics persistently asserting individual freedom.

The United Empire Loyalists were Americans as much as Washington or
Franklin. They were simply the Tories who opposed and were out-manceuvred
by the Whigs in the great straggle for independence. The word “ Loyalist ”
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hardly expresses the full significance of their position, for we may feel sure
that the heat of political rivalry on the part of the defeated Tories was a stronger
motive than mere sentimental devotion to the House of Brunswick. Party feel-
ing in the War of Independence ran high ; either side did not seruple to use
the most extreme measures, and seemed only anxious to terrorise each other.
Among many instances told, in which extremely severe ill-usage was sustained
by Tory leaders in American prisons, is that of the ancestor of the U. E. L.
family of Nagel, now settled in Burford, Brant County, in his case resulting
in death. Equally angry passions were aroused in the minds of those whose
properties had been seized by the partisans of the victorious republic. Long
after peace was proclaimed by the Treaty of Versailles in 1783,a border warfare
was maintained by the refugees. This was not directly countenanced by the
more law-abiding citizens, but it went on unrebuked by those who should have
prevented such brigandage, and the use of the Indian scalping knife was not too
curiously investigated. It may be truly said that English-speaking Canada had
no, existence before the immigration of the Americans, which began in 1783,
Immediately after the conquest of Canada small detachments of English
soldiers, generally accompanied by their wives and children, were placed in
charge of the outposts and forts about the frontier. As far back as the attack
on the British posts by Pontiac, we have evidence that some thirty of such posts
were held by English soldiers with their families. These men invariably re-
ceived grants of land, as sparse beginnings of settlements were beginning to
form around Fort Frontenac, at Niagara, and along the water-highway of the
Ottawa. But inland, and through the trackless forest country north and west,
the pioneer’s axe had yet to mark out the sites of the towns and cities of to-day,
most of which have arisen from the primitive grist mill and the group of log
huts built within living memory. The venerable William Ryerson, who lately
died at the age of ninety-six, informed us that when serving as aide-de-camp
to a British general, he was sent on a message from the River St. Clair to
« Little York,” now Toronto, and his road through all that country was but an
Indian track, through unbroken forest. Of this settlement of English-speaking
Canada by these American refugees we possess ample details and family
monographs of well-known authority, nor are the personal memories and tradi-
tions of those who accompanied the first settlers into the wilderness yet extinct
in many parts of the Province. Indeed, it is one of the objects of a work like
the “History of Brant County” to collect and conserve these and other
invaluable materials for history.

Among the woods of New Brunswick and Nova Scotia, along the winding
recesses of the Bay of Quinte, by the promontories and bays of Prince Edward
County, where harvest fields and harbours lie close together on every farm;
westward along the Ontario shore wherever a good-sized river tempted settle-
ment; among the peach orchards of Niagara, the emigration spread to the
number of ten thousand families. Thence the adventurous sons of the Loyalists
pushed their way inland ; in almost every town that was founded we can trace
their presence. They brought to Canada, as it were, the materials for a nation
ready-made. They were a race peculiarly well suited for the work of settle-
ment of the New Canada. Unlike immigrants from the Old Country, who have
to get acclimatized to the conditions of life in America, these men were the very

3
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children of the soil, possessing a ecommon type of nationality already different
from that of the Old World, more versatile, more self-reliant, at home with
horse and kine, with axe and rifle, and by no means weaned, by the then condi-
tion of American civilization they had left behind them, from the primitive
habits of pioneer life.
We are able to realize with sufficient distinctness the lives of these first settlers
of our country, The British Government, under the wise directions of Haldi-
mand, a distinguished Swiss officer in the English service, gave grants of land to
the new settlers, and endeavoured to supply farming implements, seed and pro-
visions for the first two years to all who required it. But in many cases they were
mwost scantily equipped for a settlement, every acre of which had to be won by
their own labour from the forest. Years of hard toil were passed, in which wife
.and daughters often took part. Luxuries they had none; food was often scant
and always coarse; game was brought down by the ancient flint-lock pea-ritle,
for the nse of a shot-gun was an effeminacy reserved for those more ambitious
sportsmen of & later day, who were contemptuously designated “snipe-shooters.”
To have a mill within three miles distance was a godsend to the settler, who
rejoiced to carry thither on his shoulder his sack of grain. In many cases
recorded by early settlers much suffering was endured by actual want of food,
Yet the American refugee was at home in the Canadian forest. Unlike the
immigrant from the Old Country, he had not to undergo the painful process of
learning to shift for himself. He had nothing to learn of the secrets of wood-
craft ; he understood the log dwelling, the snake-fence, the birch canoe, the first
primitive furniture and cooking utensils. His wife could make moccasins and
coats from the abundant supply of peltry. Soon the persevering industry
began to tell. Crops came in abundantly from what proved to be some of the finest
wheat-producing land in the world ; cattle, and the produce of dairy and garden,
throve. Here and there the general store, of a type still to be seen in remote
districts, arose beside the grist mill, and supplied finery for the girls’ go-to-meet-
ing dress, and tea for the wife. Now and then some discharged soldier or other
“waif and stray ” would be engaged in teaching, and a log hut be built by com-
mon effort for a school during the winter. In some such humble shelter as the
fragrant aisles of the summer woods, the almost gratuitous zeal of the Methodist
missionary would supply an intellectual stimulant especially needful in the
total absence of books or newspapers. Not seeking reward, these itinerant
preachers have gained a rich one—a preponderating influence among religious
bodies in our division of Canada, so great that Methodism might almost be
regarded as our National Church. .
In 1784, Governor Haldimand settled the celebrated Iroquois chief, Thayen-
daneygea, with his Indians, who had followed the fortunes of Britain in the war, on
a reserve granted to them upon the banks of the Grand River. Full particulars
of the life and services of this remarkable man will be given elsewhere in the
present work. The total number of inhabitants of Canada, in 1783, is given as
125,000. Another reserve was assigned the Mohawk tribe of Iroquois on the
Bay of Quinte. When Christianized and civilized, the descendants of these most
ferocious of savages live in peaceful industry.
The last act of Governor Haldimand was to give to Canadians the inestim-
able privilege of a law of Hubeas Corpus.  He was a stern and austere ruler, apt
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to suspect treachery in every one, but his management of the settlement of
Upper Canada in 1783-84 entitles him to be regarded with gratitude by all
Canadians.

He was succeeded by Henry Hamilton, next by Colonel Hope, and then by
General Carleton, now Lord Dorchester ; indeed, our history for the next twenty
vears is nothing more than a list of governors and lieutenant-governors.  The
first territorial division of western Canada was made by Lord Dorchester, who
made four districts, named Lunenburg, Mecklenburg, Nassau and Hesse, while
to the settlement of the American Loyalists in the Lower St. Lawrence was
given the name of Gaspe. Very soon the difference in habits, laws, and lan-
guages of the English-speaking and of the French colonists, made itself so
strongly felt, that in 1791 a Constitution was framed under the title of the
Constitutional Act, and the old Province of Quebec was divided into Upper
and Lower Canada by an imaginary line running from a point on Lake St.
Francis along the seigniories of Longueil and Vaudreuil to Point Fortune on the
Ottawa. In each Province there was to be both a Legislative Council and an
Assembly. The Council was to consist of life members chosen by the Crown
through the Governor-General=——in Upper Canada to consist of not less than
seven, in the more numerously populated Lower Canada of not less than fifteen
members. The division of the two provinces was made with the hope of each
having a great majority in its own country. Representative institutions were
introduced, at least in the germ, by the enactment that the laws in force should
be alterable by each Assembly at pleasure. The Act contained also a clause
as to the means of maintaining “the Protestant religion” by a permanent
appropriation of certain portions of land. By the vague phrase ““the Protestant
religion,” the Act no doubt contemplated the Church of England, and thus a
State Church, with all its attendant evils, might have been foisted on western
Canada, more especially from the analogous position of the French Canadian
Catholic establishment as guaranteed by treaty. This Act was the work of the
younger Pitt. It was the result of the liberalizing movement that assumed
increasing weight in Europe just before the outbreak of the French Revolution.
Mr. Lymburner, a Quebec colonist, was heard at the bar of the House of Com-
mons in behalf of some of the British settlers in eastern Canada, who took
exception to certain clauses of the bill, especially to one clause which contem-
plated the introduction into Canada of hereditary titles. To this they demurred
because in an infant colony such titles were objectionable, and quite unsuited
to the condition of Canadian life; that clause was therefore struck out. An
Executive Council was also to sit in each Province, to consist of the Governor
and eleven others nominated by the Crown. Thus, of the three legislative bodies,
one only was elective ; still a great advance had been made towards freedom,
as great as the infant colony could bear. The work of that generation was
practical, not political ; the builders of the nation had to fell the forests, and
the duty of electing members was discharged in a very primitive fashion. We
cannot but believe that Pitt framed the Act of 1791 with an honest desire to
give the Canadians free institutions. But the Constitution he framed with such
care became the instrument of much wrong-doing in the hands of an unscrapu-
lous oligarchy, for nearly half a century. In Lower Canada a clique of British
aristocrats oppressed the dearest interests of the French Canadians and of their
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own countrymen, while race and creed antipathies intensified and envenomed
the contest to a degree never known in Upper Canada. But in our country,
though evil days came, and the struggle for responsible government was a bitter
one, these questions had not yet arisen before the minds of our people. Tt
was the age of Ontario’s settlement, a work well forwarded by the successive
governors ; and the more despotic the authority, the quicker and more directly
was the parcelling out of land to new colonists effected. At the division of the
provinces east and west of the Ottawa, the population of Lower Canada was
130,000, that of Upper Canada, 50,000.

On September 18, 1792, Lieut.-Governor Simcoe, one of those admirable
administrators who are the foster-fathers of colonization, opened the first
Parliament of Upper Canada, numbering sixteen members, which met in a hut
within hearing of the mighty roar of Niagara. It was a gathering to which
we may well look back with sympathetic pride. Around them lay the bound-
less forest, before them the majestic torrent, not yet profaned by the dmpedi-
menta of vulgar tourists. They were met in the little town of Newark, now
Niagara, which has been the scene of so many battles, in which the fortitude
of their race has been proved. The pioneers of Upper Canadian legislation
were earnest, laborious men. Their first act deserves notice ; it was to repeal
that part of the Quebec Act which enjoined the supremacy of Freuch law in
civil suits, and that in all matters of legal controversy resort should be had to
the laws of England. The second session of the Parliament of Upper Canada
was memorable for the abolition, by a unanimous vote, of negro slavery. By
the 47th article of the capitulation the French Canadians had been allowed
to retain their slaves, and the poison of this ever-accursed traffic might have
continued in full play all through Lower Canada, but for the introduction,
through the settlement of Upper Canada, of the emancipating spirit of English
law. i

Our Parliament, at a time when labour was priceless, when the forests had
to be fought against for dear life, determined to make the free air of their
forests more free, by “ An Act to Prevent the further Introduction of Slaves.”
Such was the first utterance of the voice of our national life, ever hereafter
to speak with nouncertain sound where the interests of freedom and humanity
demand expression. By another sensible enactment, Dorchester’s absurd
German designation of the four districts were changed to the more suitable
names—Eastern or Johnstown, Western or Detroit, Home or Niagara, and
Midland or Kingston.

UpPER CANADIAN PROGRESS FROM 1792 10 THE WAR oF 1812.

The Lower Canadian Parliament refused to follow the noble example of the
Upper Canadian Parliament in abolishing slavery. This was, however, effected
by a decision of Chief Justice Osgoode that slavery in any part of Canada
was contrary to law. As Niagara was too near the frontier to be secure,
Governor Simecoe projected a town of London on a river which he called
the Thames. But Lord Dorchester preferred the central position of Kingston,
commanding the outlet of the lakes, and from its situation easily defended.
At length it was decided to fix the seat of Government at York, a few miles
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east of old Fort Toronto. This was in 1796. A group of wooden houses rose
near the banks of a muddy and tortuous stream called the Don, sufficient for
the residence of twelve families. The first Upper Canadian newspaper, the
Niagara Gazette, appeared at Newark at this period. As an Act of Parliament
was passed offering a reward for killing off wolves and bears, it is evident
that the number of these wild beasts was then great. Old people still live in
our most settled distriets, even in towns like Pieton, who tell how the
wolves used to howl round the farmer’s hut at night; how the bears might be
knocked on the head when they got stuck foot-fast in the ice; how lynx, and
wildeat and wolverine, warred against the good wife’s poultry.

In 1796 Governor Simeoe was recalled, Peter Russell acting as Governor ad
interim. There is no greater proof of the prosperity of a colony than the statis-
tics of its trade. It is worthy of note that one-cighth of the_revenues of the
ports of Montreal and Quebec, which had been assigned to Upper Canada, as it
was thought to equal her share of export trade, which in 1796 amounted to
£5,000, in_thirteen years’ time increased to £28,000, and Upper Canada’s share
of the export trade was raised to one-fifth. Besides the trade with Lower
Canada, a new and rapidly extending commerce had grown up between Upper
Canada and New York. It was, therefore, advisable to open ports of entry
from Cornwall on the St. Lawrence, along the shore of Ontario to Sandwich,
opposite Detroit. The Upper Canada Gazeite was published at York in 1800.

Meanvwhile the work of settlement went on. The troublous times of 1798
sent many, both Protestant and Catholic, from unhappy Ireland, and no
citizens are more law-abiding than the industrious Celtic colonist, if only he
will let the rancorous traditions of race and creed animosities die out in a
land where there is neither landlordism nor established Church. In 1803 a
benevolent but eccentric cadet of the noble Irish house of Talbot founded the
Talbot Settlement on the shores of Lake Erie. He was granted 5,000 acres on
condition of planting a settler on each two hundred acres. In those days large
grants of land were often given to persons who had interest with the Govern-
ment, without any stipulation being made as to the duties of colonization.
Thus Mr. Ingersol had a grant of the whole township of Oxford, and a person
named Daton, of the township of Burford. But Colonel Talbot carefully ful-
filled his agreement. He was a very rigid Tory, and those who desired political
reform met with scant favour at his hands; but he was kind-hearted, except
to itinerant Methodist ministers, newspaper editors, and other impugners of
the powers that be. In the early days of the Talbot Settlement, this, as well
as other parts of Upper Canada, was largely peopled by Highland Scotchmen,
inured to hardship in their own country, who, as well as the Lowland Scotch,
formed a most valuable class of colonists. Indeed, the Scotch as well as the
Irish accent may be heard in every part of our country, although it invariably
disappears in the third generation, to make room for the pure English accent
that belongs to educated Americans on both sides of the frontier. Colonet
Talbot died at an honoured old age in 1853.

In 1793 an English Church Bishop, Dr. Mountain, came to Quebec. He was
appointed by letters patent from the Crown, and therefore had a claim to the
title “My Lord,” to which the present bishops, who are elected Ly the
Canadian clercy, have no title. A cathedral was built for him at Quebec on



38 HISTORY OF BRANT COUNTY.

the site of the old Church of the Recollets. Dr. Mountain deserves credit for
endeavouring to direct attention to the need of education in Lower Canada, and
Parliament gave directions that free schools should be established and main-
tained from the funds forfeited by the Jesuits. To this the Roman Catholic
clergy offered such opposition that the only grammar-schools opened were in
Montreal and Quebec. In 1806 a paper called Le Canadien appeared, in
opposition to the Government and the English-speaking race.  This paper
embittered those antipathies which had been acrimonious enough before. In
Upper Canada, always'the first to take the forward step of progress, Parliament
made a grant of £800 to establish a grammar-school in every district of the
Province.

The social condition of the French Canadian seems to have degenerated since
the days of Montcalm. We read of official frauds that recall the regime of
Bigot, of Judges drunk on the bench, and openly avowing their maladministration
of justice. Society in Montreal saw everything belonging to the conquering
race with jaundiced eyes; their political history at that time is a series of
disreputable brawls with the successive governments, from which neither party
came out with any credit. But the material condition of the Lower Canadian
improved every year. New branches of industry were opened, the trade returns
were much increased, shipping thronged the moble harbours of Montreal. In
November, 1809, the first steaner plied between Montreal and Quebec ; she was
called the Accominodation,and was built by thefounder of the well known Montrea)
firm of Molson.

The troubles between the Legislative Assembly and Governor Craig came to a
head in 1810. A majority of the Assembly had resolved that Judges should
not be eligible to hold seats in the House, as being liable to be influenced by
the Executive Council; and being thwarted by the conjoint action of the
Governor and the Council, expelled Judge De Bonne from his place in the
Assembly. Inretaliation the Governor took high-handed measures : he abruptly
dissolved the Assembly and forcibly suppressed the Canadicn, a proceeding so
arbitrary that the period in which it occurred was known as the “ Reign of
Terror.” Tt is pleasant to turn from these scemes of mutual outrage to the
very different picture presented by Upper Canada.

Tae WAR or 1812.

As war was now imminent between England and the United States,
governors were chosen with a view to the military requirements of the crisis.
Sir George Prevost, a veteran Swiss officer, who had been Governor of Nova
Scotia, was appointed to govern Lower Canada, where he won golden opinions
from the oppressed people, and reversed the arbitrary policy of his contentious
predecessor.  The good effect of this was seen in the action of the Lower Cana-
dian legislature, which passed a bill to raise 2,000 militia; it voted £12,000 to
defray the expenses of these troops, £20.000 to provide for the security of the
Province, and £30,000 more to meet emergencies. It also passed a motion for
inquiry into the cause of the late troubles, the motion being seconded by a
youthful member already known for his eloquence, named Louis J. Papineau.

In Upper Canada General Sir Isaac Brock succeeded Lieutenant-Governor
Gore. Here, too, a Militia Bill was introduced and passed on a liberal scale.
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With the cause of the War of 1812 Canadian history has no concern ; our inter-
ests were directly in favour of peace, and we were as guiltless of the demand
of the British for the right to search American vessels, as of the embargo
by which a virtual war was waged against American commerce. But, as
wsual, our country was made the battle-field for the contending powers, and
the war was mainly carried on by Canadian blood and treasure. ~ Yet in the
end the benefits derived from the war were great; it drew the two races of
Canadian settlers more closely together, and made each conscious of the good
qualities of the other; it brought a good deal of money into our country, and
was the direct cause of the prosperity of much of Upper Canada, besides
giving us some valuable acquisitions of military settlers when the war was
over. This war led to the construction of that expensive but useless public
work, the Rideau Canal, and hence to the foundation of Ottawa.

General Hull, with 2,500 Americans, invaded Canada from Detroit, taking
possession of Sandwich. He issued a proclamation which displayed some
ability ; General Brock marched in pursuit with a somewhat inferior
force, half of them Indians from the wilds of Ohio. Hull retired to Detroit.
The Indians were led by a remarkable warrior, who, with Thayendanegea and
Pontiac, are the great historic figures of Indian warfare. Tecumseh had some
talent for military engineering ; before the troops left the Canadian shore, he
had traced, with sufficient aceuracy, on a piece of birch bark, a plan of the
fortifications of Detroit. After a brief resistance that town surrendered to
Prock, and Hull and his entire force were sent captives to Montreal. Mean-
while Captain Roberts, operating in the west, had taken possession of Fort
Mackinaw, or Michilimakinac.

The Americans resolved to strike a heavier blow on the Niagara frontier.
On October 13th, Colonel Van Rensselaer commanded 6,000 men on the
Niagara River. Of these he sent over a detachment of 1,000, who attacked
the British position on Queenston heights and succeeded in forcing their way
to the heights despite a heavy fire from the English cannon. Brock hastened to
the scene of action, and rallying his soldiers, led them to charge the Ameri-
cans, and the success of his attack was assured had he not been shot down
in the moment of victory. Dispirited at his loss the troops received a check,
but a foree of 800 regular troops, militia, and Indians came up under General
Sheaffe. In the battle that ensued the Americans were defeated with a loss
of 400 men ; the rest surrendered. The British loss was 70.

Near Black Rock, General Smythe, with 4,500 Americans, crossed the river,
but was repulsed and withdrew from the enterprise.

In Lower Canada a force of 1,400 Americans, who had invaded the frontier,
were defeated with much promptitule by Major De Salaberry. Disconcerted
at this, Dearborn, the American Commandant, withdrew his troops from the
Canadian frontier.

As Britain was now engaged in the heat of her gigantic duel with Napo-
leon, it was impossible for her to send an adequate number of troops till just
before the conclusion of this war, when the overthrow of the French
despot set her armies at liberty. But her part was well sustained by the
colonists, French as well as Upper Canadians, and the glory gained by such
officers as De Salaberry did much to bring about a better state of feeling
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between the people of the two Provinces. The Indian braves too were faithful
to Britain, although it was a sinister alliance, the chivalrous soldier’s sword
with the savage scalping-knife.

One Captain Macdowell having crossed the frozen St. Lawrence, made a raid
on Ogdensburg, whence he carried to the Canadian side some artillery and
supplies. The Americans had more success in naval warfare, but the gallant
exploits achieved by their ships against those of the first naval power in the
world do not come within the scope of our history.

In 1813 Colorel Proctor, destined to meet such a disastrous defeat at
Thamesville, defeated the American General, Wilkinson, near Detioit. The
American plans were now limited to the conquest of Upper Canada, for which
purpose they built a naval armament at Sackett’s Harbour, in order to com-
mence the labour. General Dearborn had also a considerable land force,
which in April embarked in Commodore Chauncey’s fleet, and sailing to
York, easily took a place that had no defences. The garrison of 600 men
retreated, an act for which General Sheaffe was superseded. Some 200 militia
surrendered, the cannon and stores were carried off, and most of the town was
burned down. The American force next attacked Fort George at Niagara,
which they captured after a gallant defence, continued till the defences were
destroyed, when the British General, Vincent, fell back upon the works at
Queenston.  Vincent then destroyed the defences of Chippewa and Fort Erie,
and withdrew to Burlington Heights. Thus the Americans were now masters
of the whole Niagara frontier.

General Prevost, attended by Admiral Sir James Yeo, with a naval force
and officers, planned an attack on Sackett’s Harbour, while the main foree of the
American troops were away at Niagara. But the result was, from some bungle
of the attacking party, a disgraceful failure.

At Detroit General Proctor attacked the American General, Harrison, who,
however, was able to intrench his troops, and Proctor could not dislodge him.
But a force of 1,200 men, advancing under General Clay, was attacked by Proctor,
who took some 500 prisoners.

Generals Chandler and Winder were sent by Dearborn to dislodge the British
from their position on Burlington Heights. But a night attack by Colonel
Harvey at Stony Creek caused a speedy retreat of this force, with the capture
of both Generals and 116 men ; and 500 men, with Colonel Boerstler, at Beaver
Dams surrendered to Lieutenant Fitzgibbon, to whom a lady of the well known
Niagara family of Secord, by a great effort, gave warning of the approach of
the Americans. Yet it was impossible to deny that the American army had
in some degree gained the advantage, since they had effected a lodgment on
our soil, and had still possession of Fort George.

On Lake Champlain a slight success was gained by the British, who took
two armea vessels, but a heavy defeat was sustained by the fleet commanded
by Captain Barclay, on Lake Erie, every ship of which was captured by Com-
modore Perry. !

Meantime Harrison moved on Detroit in such foree that Proctor recrossed
the river and retreated along the valley of the Thames. The pursuing army of
Harrison greatly outnumbered Proctor’s force. They were overtaken near a
village of Moravian Indians on the banks of the Thames, between Thamesville
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and the village of Bothwell. Here Tecumseh’s Indians refused to follow the
army any further from their village. A confused fight took place all along the
valley ; as Tecumseh was about to attack an American oflicer with scalping
knife and tomahawk, the officer drew a pistol and shot the redoubtable savage.
The rout was soon complete, and Proctor made the best haste he could to Bur-
lington Heights. After this success, the Americans resolved to make a
movement on a large scale upon Montreal. But their General, Hampton,
with 6,000 men, was defeated at Chateauguay by Colonel De Salaberry’s skil-
ful handling of his small force of 400 ; a feat worthy of the compatriots of
Frontenac and Montcalm. This gallant action saved Montreal. A drawn
battle took place at Chrysler’s Farm, in which the Americans lost 200, includ-
ing their General, Boyd, and were obliged to abandon their position.

The year 1813 closed with other successes for the British army. Niagara was
once more retaken by Colonel Murray, and an English force under Riall gave
to the flames Lewiston, Man€hester, Black Rock and Buffalo, in retaliation for
the burning of Niagara by the Americans. The burning down of farm houses,
villages and towns, of which both sides in this most unhappy war were guilty,
caused the most bitter feelings, and gave the contest a sinister aspect of brig-
andage.

In 1814, the war operations consisted of -an unsuccessful attack by General
Wilkinson, with 5,000 men, against 500 British at Lacolle Mill ; a second attack
by the British fleet on Oswego, which was once more plundered of its stores,
and the fiercest combat of the war, when 5,000 Americans under General
Brown, while operating in the Niagara region, werc defeated with great
loss by the British under Drummond, with 3,000 men, at Lundy’s Lane. In
this battle the British loss was 900, that of the Americans, 1,200. In conse-
quence of this defeat the latter withdrew across the river, having blown up
Fort Erie.

England was now able to send large reinforcements to Canada. Sir George
Prevost, with 11,000 men, marched to attack Plattsburg. But, as the English
flotilla had been destroyed, he thought it best to withdraw from his design.
For this he was severely censured in England. Prevost was inferior as a
general, but as a governor had attained great popularity in Lower Canada.

In Upper Canada the American General, Brown, had once more occupied
Fort Erie, and for some time held General Drummond’s force in check at Bur-
lington Heights. But Drummond receiving reinforcements of the newly
arrived troops, had compelled Brown to retire across the Niagara River. The
sack of Washington, and the subsequent defeat of the British at New Orleans,
are of course events outside the scope of Canadian history. Peace came at
last by the Treaty of Ghent, 1814.

So ends the weary record of this unhappy war, a war distinguished by no
great military operations on either side. The native Canadian troops fought
bravely in both the Provinces. But the operations consisted of a number of
marches and countermarches, mostly to gain petty forts and posts of no per-
manent importance. It may, we think, justly be said that equal courage, and
on the whole equal success, may be assigned to Americans and Canadians ; and
to those who look to this great and self-sufficing continent becoming more and
more removed from European politics and quarrels, it is a comfort to know
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that never more will hostile sword cross the line between the Canadian nation
and the great Republic.

Tur FaMiLy COMPACT.

The original settlers of 1783, forming a separate body, with distinct alliances
and traditions of their own, kept aloof from the later immigrants from
various parts of Great Britain. Such' as the rudimentary governmental
system was in Upper Canada, it naturally came to pass that the representa-
tives of some of the more distinguished and successful of the U. E. Loyalist
families held public offices in their hands ; they formed a sort of aristocracy
in the Province. And the Constitution of 1791 directed that the Governor
should be advised by an Executive Council, whose members were chosen from
those of the Legislative Council, members of a clique which, being non-elective,
looked to the Government rather than to the people. Such men were the
salaried officials ; the sinecurists—of whom there were not a few in either
Provinece—dJudges, and the military officers whom the war had left in Canada,
and other waiters upon the providence which distributes the Government
loaves and fishes. These men were neither responsible to the Assembly-—the
only elective body of the Legislature—nor to the people ; they ruled in both
Provinees, forming an oligarchy known as the Family Compact. By their
social position, and by the natural tendency of absolute rulers to favour those
who support absolutism, they got control of governor after governor, till a
tyranny as odious as that of Charles the First and James the Second drove
our countrymen also to rebellion.

At the beginning of the War of 1812, Sir George Prevost was directed to
use conciliatory measures. He assured the French Canadians of being secured
in their religious and political rights, which the so-called British party—that
of a small but influential minority in Lower Canada—incessantly endeavoured
to trench on and destroy. But when peace was restored, are action took place,
and through the oligarchic Executive and Legislative Councils a steady
encroachment on French Canadian rights was pursued. Again and again the
Assembly, led by the eloquent and popular Papineau, pleaded for popular rights.
A determined stand was made on the question of the right of voting supplies
after—by Lord Bathurst’s acceptance, in 1818, of Lower Canada’s offer to defray
the whole expenses of Government—the control of the grant of the supplies
fell into the hands of the House of Assembly. This gave the popular party the
power of the purse, and a means of checking, by their yearly vote, the uncon-
stitutional acts of an Executive. And this the olicarchy of the Council opposed
as revolutionary ; a dead lock ensued in the legislative machinery, and public
feeling became every year more bitter.

There were other grievances of an odiously oppressive nature. The J udges
were dependent on the Executive, to which many of them were notoriously
subservient. No public official was held accountable to the popular Assembly;
in 1823 one Caldwell was found to have embezzled £96,000 of the public
money, and escaped unpunished. It was demanded that the Jesuits’ estates
should be applied to purposes of public education. In 1814 a formal impeach-
ment was brought in the Lower Canada Assembly against Chief Justice Sewell,
of Quebec, for having given unconstitutional advice to Governor Craig to
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dissolve the Assembly. Another charge was complicity in the disgracetul
secret mission of the spy, John Henry, to excite treason against the Union
in certain northern States previous to the war, of which Henry’s mission
was a leading cause. Similar charges were brought against Chief Justice
Monk, another member ot the oligarchy. Both these officials escaped justice ;
the Tory aristocratic party were in possession of all power in England, and
Sewell got highly recommended to Lord Bathurst, and to Sir J. C. Sherbrooke,
who was made Governor in 1816.

Meanwhile in Upper Canada discontent was already active against the
tyrannic rule of the Family Compact. Robert Gourlay, a Scotchman of some
literary power, was bold in calling attention to abuses, to which the Executive
afterwards replied by imprisoning him in Niagara jail, where he was treated
with extreme harshness. Gourlay was supported by Peter Perry, member for
Lennox and Addington, who had risen to considerable wealth by industry and
shrewdness, and who is remembered in the Province as the founder of Oshawa
and Port Perry. These men drew public attention to the injustice of the
Clergy Reserves, one;seventh of the whole Province being set apart for the
ministers of one Church exclusively. And these Clergy Reserves did not lie
in one tract; they were dispersed among the lots occupied by actual settlers ;
and being left unreclaimed, full of wild beasts and untaxed, lowered the value
of adjacent land. It was felt intolerable that the selfish claims of one Chureh
should thus exclude from one-seventh of our country the farmer’s plough and
the axe of the settler. The remonstrances of these early pioneers of reform
made no impression on the despotic Executive; but with the Legislative
Assembly it was otherwise; and in 1817, when the Upper Canada Assembly
resolved to take into their consideration the internal state of the country,
Major-General Robertson, a staunch Family Compact partisan, imitated the
evil precedent of Craig and other Lower Canada Governors by proroguing the
Assembly. Thus began a contest between the Assembly and the Family
Compact, which did not slacken till the overthrow of the latter, and the
establishment of responsible government. : ,

Meantime the material progress of Upper Canada steadily advanced. The
« Army bills,” a paper money issue during the War of 1812, were serupulously
repaid. In 1815 a grant of £25,000-was made to construct the Lachine Canal,
thus furthering the advance of Canada’s commerce by rendering the St.
Tawrence navigable for other craft than the clumsy batfeauz of former times.
Liberal measures were passed by the Upper Canada Parliament for relief of
farmers who had suffered in the war or from failure of the wheat crop. But
the Province quickly recovered these temporary checks. In Lower Canada
the first banks were opened, those of Montreal and Quebec, in 1817.

The lumber trade now began to be a source of national wealth. In the
year 1818 the first ship laden with Canadian lumber sailed for an English port.
The rapid extension of this industry peopled the depths of our winter forests
with the peaceful camps of the lumbermen, thus atfording healthy and most.
remunerative employment for all men in our country who were willing to
work. There was another important consequence, the stimulus the lumber
trade gave to civilization. The settler’s farm followed the lumber shanty in
order to sell produce to the shantymen. The saw-mill sent up its steam beside
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the nearest river. Ottawa, which was selected by the late Duke of Wellington
-as a sufficiently out-of-the-way place where the seat of government could be
safe from invasion, owes more of its growth to the mills that make its lumber
than to the Parliament that makes laws. The lumber trade moved up the
Ottawa, founding towns and villages at each ten miles. Thus the settlement
of the Upper Ottawa valley began about 1821.

In 1818 Sherbrooke’s ill health caused his recall. He was succeeded by the
Duke of Richmond, an impoverished participator of the profligacies of George,
Prince Regent, who was glad to recruit his fortunes by coming to Canada
as Governor. He treated the just grievances of the Lower Canada Assembly
with aristocratic disdain, and his rule might have strengthened the Family Com-
pact in our own Province; but in 1819, having been bitten by a tame fox, he
was affected with hydrophobia, and breaking loose from his escort, ran violently
along the river which flows by the village called after him, Richmond, near
Ottawa. He died at the village, and was succeeded by Sir Peregrine Mait-
land.

In 1820 the Bank of Upper Canada commenced operations, and in 1824 the

, Welland Canal, between Lakes Erie and Ontario, was begun, a work due to
Wm. H. Merritt, who designed it in 1818.

The trade'in ship-building was greatly fostered by the growth of the lumber
trade ; at Kingston, on the Bay of Quinte, and at Montreal and Quebec, it was
carried on with vigour. In 1825 the rank of a University was given to Queen’s
College, Kingston. In Upper Canada,as far back as 1816, an Act of our Parlia-
ment was passed to establish common schools, a grant of £6,000 being made for
the purpose. Every effort was made to encourage immigration, grants of land
and Government assistance being given to settlers. A large number of Irish
came out at this time, sent by a Government only too glad to sweep its surplus
pauperism into the hold of an emigrant ship. In spite of our Government’s
efforts to enforce quarantine, these unhappy people wandered ‘everywhere,
-carrying with them fever, and leaving the care of their diseased and dying
relatives to our farmers. It is true they were helped according to our people’s
ability, and many of them survived to be useful labourers and farmers.

In 1821, five new members of Council were added, among them the Rev.
John Strachan, who afterwards became Bishop of the English Church in Tor-
onto. He was our Canadian Laud, the only mitred statesman we have had or
are likely to have. Of a somewhat arbitrary temper, he had also much shrewd-
ness and a kindly nature. He was a leader of the Family Compact obstruc-
tives, and for some time was the chief power in Upper Canada. At this time
the population of Upper Canada had risen to 120,000, and the number of mem-

" bers of the Assembly being for that reason doubled, its popular character and
influence increased.

Attempts were at this time made by the Church of Scotland to secure a
share of the Clergy Reserves, in which, after strong opposition from Dr.
Strachan, they were at length successtul in 1832.

In 1823, the Canada Trade Act of the Imperial Parliament became lasw.
By it was established the claim of Upper Canada to £30,000, arrears of her
share of the importation dues; for the original share of one-cighth of the
duties had, by the growth of Upper Canadian commeree, risen to one-fifth.

R -
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The two Provinces were also advised to unite, but to this the Lower Canadians.
were vehemently opposed, as they dreaded that their race and customs might
be superseded by the superior energy of English-speaking Canada. In
1827, King’s College, York, now our Provincial University, was founded. It
was then an English Church seminary on the Oxford lines, and was promoted
mainly by Dr. Strachan. In the same year, Sir John Colborne came as Gov-
ernor of Upper Canada. He was a stern absolutist, of few words and haughty-
demeanour.

All this time the disputes between the Executive and the Assembly became
more and more embittered. In 1823, a new official Gazetie was established
under the direct patronage of the Governor, Lord Dalhousie, as a slight to the
old Quebec Guzette, now edited by Mr. Neilson, an eloquent leader of the
popular party. This unconstitutional use of public money gave just offence..
Next session the Assembly reduced the money granted.for the Civil List one-
fourth. An eloquent denouncer of these and other abuses was M. Papineau.
The Governor tried to gain over this patriot by appointing him a member of
the Council, but Papineau, knowing well that his influence would be powerless
in that clique, never took his seat.

Sir John Colborne treated the Upper Canada Assembly with equal disdain.
He would reply to their addresses in a few curt contemptuous words, and turn
away to the more obsequious members. Hitherto the solitary advocates of
popular rights had been crushed as Thorpe, Gourlay and S. Bidwell had been
by the power of the Executive. Butnow the caustic eloquence of a new leader
swayed the Assembly more than ever to resistance. William Lyon Mackenzie
was one who, whatever his faults, knew no fear of wrong-doers in power. In
the columns of his paper, the ablest that had yet appeared in Canada, he handled
the vices of the Family Compact without gloves. So keenly did the oligarchy
feel his caustic criticisms, that a mob of their adherents attacked and
wrecked the office of the Colonial Advocate, and threw the printing materials
into the lake. But this outrage only increased Mackenzie’s influence with the
Assembly, and above all with these earnest-minded haters of the prevailing
tyranny who began to abound in all parts of the country.

Meanwhile in Lower Canada, in 1827, M. Papineau had been elected Speaker
of the Assembly. Lord Dalhousie refused to sanction the appointment, and
the Assembly to elect any other Speaker; the Governor at once prorogued the:
Assembly. The trouble went on to such a degree that in 1828, 87,000 of the
people petitioned the Crown, urging their grievances, and citing the tyrannical
conduct of Lord Dalhousie and his predecessors. A committee of the English
House of Commons emphatically asserted the constitutional right of the:
Assembly to control the public revenue of the Province, but decided that, to-
avoid collision with the Executive, the salaries of the Governor, Judges and
Council should be secured to these officials. They also recommended that the:-
Legislative and Executive Councils should be made elective. This was in
1828.

Lord Dalhousie being recalled, Sir James Kempt was sent to arrange the
Lower Provinces in accordance with the recommendation of the committee.
, He accepted Papineau as Speaker, and assented to a provisional Supply Bill.
Meanwhile Lord Goderich, the English Colonial Secretary, sent a statement as.
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to his proposed bill. It seemed that in place of the Assembly getting the
right to control the entire revenue, certain sources of income were excepted.
When this was laid before the Assembly, the old discontents revived in full
force, and they resolved never to accept less than the control of the entire
revenue. For the next five years there were endless disputes as to details of the
revenue, now of no interest, all grievances having been long ago redressed.
But they aggravated the distrust of the British Government, and fanned the
fire of Papineau’s eloquence. At last an Act, seconded by Papineau and
opposed by the more moderate Constitutionalists, was passed by the Assembly,
known as the 92 Resolutions. It embodied, in somewhat inflammatory lan-
guage, the popular grievances, and was widely circulated as the basis of an
agitation which it was now fully contemplated might become an armed revol.
It is but just to Papineau and his colleagues to say, that they did not resort
to extreme measures till, after the forbearance of years, it seemed plain that
there was no hope of redress.

In Upper Canada, the town hitherto known as York, more familiarly as
“Muddy Little York,” became a city, of which William Lyon Mackenzie was
elected the first Mayor. His popularity was increasing, especially throughout
that part of the country north of Toronto. Instigated by Dr. Strachan, the
Council resolved to secure a large proportion of the Clergy Reserves by creat-
ing fifty-seven rectories of the Church of England, to be supported by the
lands of the Reserves. This act, stealing a march beforehand on what the
popular party hoped to effect, excited the greatest indignation. Sir John
Colborne being recalled, Sir Francis Bond Head took his place. There was
at this time a commercial crisis which, however, the Upper Canada banks got
over without any stoppage of payment. The population of Upper Canada
then numbered 390,000.

About 1835, finding it vain to hope for justice by constitutional means, as
far as the Upper Canada Government was concerned, and lacking patience to
wait the action of Canada’s truest friends in the English ministry, Mackenzie
resolved on armed insurrection. For this purpose he communicated with
Papinean and the Lower Canadians, who promised co-operation.

MACKENZIE'S ‘REVOLT.

Meanwhile Sir Francis Head, who had been sent from England to conciliate,
rather exasperated the popular party than otherwise. He appointed members
of the Family Compact to high salaried positions of trust. He sought to gain
popularity at the time by appointing three members of the popular ranks in the
Assembly, Dr. Rolph, and Messrs. Baldwin and Dunn, to seats in the Council 9
but as he never consulted them, they resigned. He was an impulsive man, but
a fairly smart writer of magazine articles. At last, what had never occurred
before in Upper Canada, the Assembly stopped the supplies ; this was in 1836.
On this Head obtained a majority of Tories in the Assembly. ]

Meanwhile, Mackenzie was holding meetings throughout those parts of Upper
Canada where his following was strongest. He had many sympathisers among
the more educated class in the towns, but his chief adherents were the sturdy
Scotch and Dutch farmers in the “back townships.” Old flint-lock muskets and
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rifles were got ready, pike-heads were forged and mounted on stout ash poles’
and it was resolved to march on Toronto and proclaim Canadian independence.
Meantime, Sir F. Head had sent all the regular troops to Lower Canada, an out-
break having occurred on November 6,1837. A rising took place under Dr.
Nelson at St. Denis, in Lower Canada. A proclamation had been issued declaring
Papineau, Nelson and others, guilty of high treason. Papineau, however, was
persuaded to escape to the States. Nelson was personally popular, and when
the alarm-bell sounded 800 men answered it, only 120 armed with muskets, the
rest with pikes and pitchforks. They were attacked by five companies of
regulars under Colonel Gore, a Waterloo veteran. But Nelson being soon
afterwards reinforced with some better armed insurgents, and posted in a
strong position, after a fight of two hours the British retired. But the
insurgents were afterwards routed with great loss by Colonel Weatherall, near
St. Charles. The last stand of the Lower Canadian insurrection was at St.
Eustache, when the Canadian fire was sustained with spirit while they had any
ammunition,but the houses where they had been posted were set on fire, and the
parish church, into which they were driven for refuge, caught the flames. Not
one of Chenier’s men escaped the slaughter that followed. The village was
burned, as was that of St. Eustache and of Benoit, where no resistance was
offered. (Garneaun, Vol. I1.) '

The Lower Canadian iusurrection, although suppressed, was a more serious
matter than that which took place in the Upper Province. It opened the eyes
of the Liberal Government in England to the fact that the people of Canada
had grievances which they were willing to risk their lives to get rid of. If
prompt and full redress has been the result, some gratitude is due to men like
Mackenzie and Nelson, who, to gain no personal object, took their lives in their
hands to obtain the privileges we enjoy to-day.

Toronto being thus left withount troops, it seemed quite feasible that Mac-
kenzie’s force might surprise the Capital. In the first week of December, 1837,
his adherents mustered .on what is now Yonge Street, but which was then a
road through the woods. There were some eight hundred of them, armed with
muskets and pikes; but Dr. Rolph had sent contradictory orders to three of the
other leaders about the day of outbreak, and the enterprise was thus checked
at the outset. Their outpost on Yonge Street arrested Colonel Moodie, who
was riding to give information of their advance, and he, attempting to escape,
was most nunhappily shot.

An advance was made on their position, whose central point was in a house
on Yonge Street, called Montgomery’s Farm, where a fight, or rather a skirmish,
consisting merely of an exchange of a few musket shots, took place. Although
so-called histories of Canada state that thirty of Mackenzie’s men were killed,
careful inquiry among old men who were present convinces us that at most one
man, a Dutch farmer, was seen to drop as he stood firing on the Reyalists. The
latter were volunteers, not in uniform, armed with flint-lock muskets, liike their
opponents.

Mackenzie and his colleagues fled, a price being set on their heads, to the
United States, whence they returned in after years, after receiving free pardon.
Mackenzie resided in Toronto, and lived to see most of the reforms for which
he fought freely conceded.
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In the counties of Middlesex, Oxford and Brant there had been a section of
the people prepared for revolt; but Colonel MacNab fortunately prevented
this, and exercised great clemency towards those implicated. Their leader, Dr.
Duncombe, escaped to the States. A second attempt was made by Mackenzie,
in conjunction with the American, Van Rensselaer, who occupied Navy Island,
above Niagara Falls, and fortified it with about 1,000 men from Canada and
the States. But Colonel MacNab, with a force of more than double the num-
ber, prevented their landing, and a small steamer, the Caroline, employed in
carrying supplies to the island, was captured by MacNab, and being set on fire,
was sent down the Falls. There were other bands of insurgents gathered at
Detroit, Sandusky, and Watertown. These were not the movements of Canadian
insurgents, but of some restless spirits on the United States frontier.

In a raid made on Windsor from the American shore opposite, Colonel John
Prince captured four of the raiders, and, constituting himself “judge, jury, and
executioner,” ordered them to be shot in cold blood, without even the form of a
court-martial. To use his own characteristic words, “they were shot accord-
ingly.” For the leaders of the Family Compact in too few instances showed
the merciful and conciliatory spirit which enabled Colonel MacNab to prevent
rather than suppress a revolt the rendezvous of which was to have been at
“Scotland,” in the county of Brant. Even then numerous arrests were made,
but the sons of these “snspects” bear witness at the present day to the kind-
ness with which MacNab dismissed them on their own undertaking to keep.
quiet.

A final attempt was also made about the same time to invade Upper Canada
at Prescott ; the raiders seized a stonz mill, such as in the old Indian wars were
often used as fortresses. Here they were assailed by a force of militia far out-
numbering their own and better armed, and, though they defended themselves
while resistance was possible, they were overpowered, and at last surrendered.

A reign of terror prevailed in Toronto ; five hundred insurgents were crowd-
ing the prisons. Two leaders, Lount and Mathews, died on the scaffold at Tor-
onto, meeting their fate calmly.

Meantime Lord Durham was sent to Canada, to make a searching inquiry
into the causes of discontent. For in England the Tory power, which had
been unquestioned since Waterloo, was virtually overthrown by the passage of
the Reform Bill of 1834. The Liberal Government of Lords Grey and Mel-
bourne was destined to accomplish many reforms; amongst others the first
great steps to popular Government in Canada. The Imperial Government for
a time suspended the Canadian Constitution in order that Lord Durham, aided
by a special council of his own appointment, might be empowered to adjust
difficulties. The new Governor acted in the wisest and most conciliatory
spirit. He composed a report which ranks as a classic in Canadian political
literature. It is mainly owing to this report, and to his impartial and lumin-
ous svatement of the circumstances of the case, that the union of the two Pro-
- vinces' is owing, and above all, that the Legislature in every branch should
~ be so constituted that a really responsible Government should result. Lord
Durham pardoned the greater part of the insurgents; their leaders, now in
prison, he induced to put themselves nnreservedly in his hands, so as to avoid
the popular excitement attendant on a State trial, and exiled them to Bermuda.

By
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The English Government, and the Parliament especially, urged on by Lord
Durham’s bitter personal enemy, Brougham, considered this action unconsti-
tutional, and set aside the sentence of banishment, thus giving the prisoners
their liberty. On learning this Lord Durham resigned, and left for England
in November, 1838.

A second insurrection now took place in Lower Canada, led by Dr. Nelson’s
brother. It was, however, suppressed, Sir John Colborne routing Nelson’s force
with great loss at Napierville. The insurgents were again defeated at Beau-
harnois by the Glengarry Militia. Colborne made an unsparing use of his
success over men in every respect at a disadvantage in numbers, arms and
discipline. Twelve executions took place, and three Judges, who had the
courage to condemn these butcheries as unconstitutional, were suspended from
office. Tt is consolatory to know that ten years afterwards they were rein-
stated in their offices by Lord Sydenham.

It being now the wish of Lord Melbourne’s Ministry to bring about the
amalgamation of the two races in Canada by the union of the two Provinces,
it was thought necessary to obtain the full concurrence of each Provinee through
its Legislature. For the task of arranging this the ministry chose as Gover-
nor-General Mr. Charles Paulet Thomson, an English merchant trained in
the strictest Toryism, yet one who had inclined in the Liberal direction, and
was the friend and associate of Bentham and Mill. A Radical as Radicals
were at that time, he was yet regarded as an eminently s¢fe man, an adroit
politician, and one eminently fitted to carry out the scheme outlined by Lord
Durham. The Lower Canadian Special Council had been appointed by Sir
John Colborne, and did not in any way represent the French Canadians. It
therefore at once consented to a union of the Provinces, and to rendering the
members of the Executive for the future dependent for their tenure of office
on the support their policy might obtain in the Assembly. The French Can-
adians regarded the union as a measure intended to efface their nationality, but
they had no legislative voice to express their sense of wrong.

In Upper Canada no trouble was likely to come from the Assembly, as it
had already consented to a union of the Provinces, and had been for years
endeavouring to win responsible government. But the Council, the last strong-
hold of the Family Compact, was also a part of the Constitution. How could
they be asked to efface themselves? Mr. Thomson, however, managed this
with great address, publishing in the Upper Canada Gazette a despatch from
the English minister, in which the determination of the English Government
that the Canadian Executive should be responsible to the people was in unmis-
takable terms declared to be final. The Family Compact bowed to their fate,
but they had not yet said the last word when the Union Act passed in 1840.

The next elections were the first battle-ground ; at least ten members were
returned by illegal means, yet the new Governor found that a majority of the
new members were pledged to support the changes he was sent from England
to carry out. “Only seven members of the Compact had seats.” (Dent.) The
Assembly was to meet in Kingston in June.

At the time of the Union in 1846, the entire population of Canada was
reckoned at 1,600,000, of which 470,000 belonged to Upper Canada. Although
the people of Lower Canada had advanced in many respects, although in

4 v
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Montreal and Quebec new industries such as shipbuilding had arisen, still the
Lower Canadian people, as compared with those of the Upper Provinge, were in
a state of retrogression. Their agriculture was carried on with implements
that belonged to the France of the 17th century. The habitants had scarcely
advanced beyond the modes of thought of the Middle Ages. They were, as
they are still, the devoted subjects of a medieval Church. Of the 87,000
signers of the petition sent to England from the Lower Canadians in 1828,
M. Dent finds that 78,000 were unable to ywrite. (“Last Forty Years,” Vol. L,
p. 54). The financial condition of the Lower Province as regards revenue was,
however, better than that of the Upper. There was little public debt, and in
1840 a surplus of revenue over expenditure.

But in Upper Canada the energies of its active and ambitious population
were not confined to farming. Statistics show that while in a period of
twenty years Lower Canada increased her amount of acres under cultivation
by 19, the increase of those of Upper Canada was 4'5. The Upper Canadian
agriculture was progressive, energetic, never satisfied with old, worn-out
methods, ever eager to have in use the last improved appliances of England
or the States. Wheat for many years was the main crop, for the reason that
it was the readiest sold. The entire wheat crop of the Upper Province in
the Union year is estimated at three million bushels.

The towns of Upper Canada were at that time small, and with scant pre-
tensions to beauty, compared with the two historic cities of the other Pro-
vince. Toronto was the best in 1840, Then, as now, it was the intellectual
centre of Canada. It had a population of 15,000. Kingston and Hamil-
ton came next. London, since its foundation by Governor Simcoe, was the
military station and most progressive town of the west, having eclipsed St.
Thomas. Bytown, the nucleus of Ottawa, was a lumber shanty by the Chau-
diere. In 1840, the Vietoria College, Cobourg, took rank as a university, and
Queen’s College, Kingston, was founded. In care for education, as in all else,
the Upper Province led Canada’s advance.

LoRD SYDENHAM’S MINISTRY,

Mr. Thomson had been raised to the British peerage as Lord Sydenham for
his services in Canada, and summoned the first Parliament since the Union to
meet at Kingston in June, 1841. It was the first Canadian Parliament which
was representative of the people. The ministry included men of opposite
politics, who agreed to act together for a time in order to enable the Governor
to inaugurate the new system. Draper as Attorney-General, though a Tory,*
was yet for a time the colleague of the leading constitutional reformer, Robert
Baldwin. But the latter from the first declined to consent to any sort of coalition
with the Conservative members of the ministry, and on Lord Sydenham

* The word  Tory " appears to have first occurred in English history in 1679, daring the
struggle in Parliament occasioned by the introduction of the Bill for the Exclusion of the Duke
of York from the Line of Succession, and was applied by the advocates of the bill to its oppo -
nents as a title of obloquy and Icontempt. Afterwards, the leading principle of the Tories
became the maintenance of things as they are. The Tory isnow an alinost extinct genus, and
must not be confounded with the Conservative of the present day, whose liberality in politics
has met with so much popularity under the administration of Sir John Macdonald,
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declining to reconstruct it in accordance with the wishes of the people, he
resigned.

The fiest important debate drew from the Family Compact Attorney-Gen-
eral, Mr, Draper, the admission that his ministry ought to resign office if want
of confidence in its policy were voted by a majority of the Assembly.

The Parliament met in the large stone building now used as the General
Hospital, directly opposite the University of Queen’s College, theé Governor-
General residing at the handsome mansion of Alwington, overlooking the
lake shore, and now the home of one well known in Canadian literature, Mr.
Allen, of Kingston. -

The debate on constitutional questions was followed by some practical legis-
lation as to public works, munieipal corporations, and public edncation. The
latter subject was introduced by Mr. Day, and provided $200,000 for maintain-
ing primary schools throughout Canada. Although the provisions of this Act
were insufficient, it was a good beginning of a work destined to be an inestimable

lessing.

A (1i§position to evade the true spirit of the new Constitution being suspected
on the part of the Government, this great question was unremittingly pressed
by Mr. Baldwin, a Reform statesman to whose integrity Canada owes much.
He entered on political life in 1829, as member for York, and was son of Dr.
W. Baldwin, a gentleman of liberal and enlightened views. As a Reformer,
Mr. Robert Baldwin’s career was marked by high principles, moderation, and
the absence of mere party prejudice. He kept aloof from the Mackenzie revolt,
and, with Mr. Francis Hincks, was among the first to raise the depressed spirit
of the popular party. ,

On September 4, while Lord Sydenham was riding up the hill leading to
Portsmouth, his horse fell, causing a fracture which brought on lockjaw, trom
which he died, much lamented in Canada. He was one of the last and best of
our personally-governing Governors, a class of officials soon to become extinet
with the growth of that responsible government which Lord Sydenham, like
Durham, did so much to fostgr. His grave and monument are in the Church of
St. George, Kingston. It was his own wish to rest in Canadian earth.

At the close of 1840 some trouble had been apprehended from the imprison-
ment of one Alexander MacLeod, a zealous Loyalist, who had fought against
Mackenzie at Montgomery’s Farm, and had hastened to join MacNab’s force at
Navy Island. In the seizure and destruction of the Caroline, an act of a some-
what questionable character, there seems evidence that he took no part what-
ever. But in the skirmish that took place with the Caroline’s crew, one of the
latter, Amos Durfee, had been shot through the head. MacLeod seems to have
been a talkative braggart; he was known to be fond of boasting that he “ had
shed the Yankee's blood.” Not unnaturally, he was arrested at Lewiston, N.Y,,
on a charge of murder and arson. But happily, as the matter led to great
excitement, and might have caused war, the United States authorities allowed
him to escape. ,

The next Governor was Sir Charles Bagot, a descendant of Viscount St. John,
the brilliant freethinker of Queen Anne’s reign. In English politics, Bagot had
been known as a pronounced Tory, and the Family Compact clique caleulated
to gain his aid in wrecking the newly-granted and as yet scarcely established

.
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Constitution. But they had to do with a high-principled gentleman and an
experienced diplomatist. He had been instructed to maintain the new Con-
stitution of Canada, and he withstood every effort to induce him to swerve from
his duty.

In 1%742 the Ashburton Treaty decided the various questions, which had been
for some time under dispute, with regard to the boundary line between Canada
and the United States. Tt also determined, what was perhaps of still greater
Importance to both countries, the extradition of criminals proved guilty of
murder, piracy, arson, robbery, or forgery.

In this year Mr. Francis Hincks entered the.ministry in charge of the Finance
Department, for which this statesman, still spared to us (1883), has always
shown such exceptional talent. The Conservatives were indignant against
Bagot for permitting this. He was accused of a leaning towards radicalism.
Their papers, with the absurd vituperation which both parties then indulged
in, called Hincks “a rebel.” Mr. Lafontaine, for many years leader of the
French Canadians, and Mr. Baldwin, soon afterwards took office, the Draper
Ministry resigning. The two political parties were now definitely forming on
the lines of the new system of government, and the French Canadian members
seemed likely on most questions to hold the balance of power between tliem.
A most important Act was passed by the new Government, prohibiting bribery,
treating, brawling, and the display of party badges at elections. The Tory
newspapers railed at this as a treasonable measure intended to forbid the hoist-
ing of “the Union Jack of Old England.” Sir Charles Bagot had left England
with a weakened constitution and the germs of a malignant disease. These
were still more impaired by the rigours of our winter climate, and the incessant
calumnies of the Family Compact press. He bade farewell to the Canadian
Ministers, who left his sick chamber in tears. He died in June, 1843. The
Family Compact organ in Toronto called him “an imbecile and a slave.” There
can be but one opinion among Canadians of all parties to-day as to his services
to this country.

Sir Charles Metcalfe succeeded him in 1843. gAlthough a Liberal in Eng-
land, no sooner had he arrived in Canada than he formed a hard and fast
alliance with the' Family Compact Opposition, and did his utmost to wrest
from the Baldwin-Lafontaine Ministry their constitutional right to the official
patronage of Canada. They resigned accordingly ; all but Mr. Daly, who has
been called “The Canadian Vicar of Bray,” and was for some time the sole
Minister in office. He was afterwards joined by Mr. Draper and Mr Viger,
a French Canadian, who, it was vainly hoped, would draw his compatriots
with him. But such a Government could not last. In 1844 there was a new
election, at which, in defiance of law, the Metealfe party resorted unscrupu-
lously to all kinds of violence to secure victory at the hustings. They did
suceceed in obtaining a small majority, but by means that attach a sinister
memory to the Governor-General and the elections of 1844. Never since have
the Canadian people tolerated such interference with their rights as electors.
A Tory, or rather Family Compact, Ministry was formed under Mr. Draper
and Colonel, now Sir Allan MacNab. Mr. Hincks, who had given up his
editorship of the Eraminer, and had assumed that of the Pilot at Montreal,
was not now in Parliament, having been defeated at Oxford.
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An event in Canadian journalism occurred on March 4, 1844, when the first
issue of the Globe appeared in Toronto. It was eonducted by Mr. George
Brown, then twenty-tive years old, the son of Mr. Peter Brown, a builder and
contractor in Edinburgh. Having been introduced at Kingston to several
members of the Baldwin Ministry, he advocated the cause of responsible
government with such vigour in the new journal, that it speedily became
what it still remains—a political power of no mean order.

Among the members of the new Parliament were John A. Macdonald, a
voung but rising lawyer of so-called Tory views, and Wolfred Nelson, so late
the leader of the Lower Canadian insurgents. He had served as a military
surgeon in the War of 1812, and so learned somewhat of soldiership, siding
with Papineau in the long struggle for popular rights which preceded the
insurrection of 1837-8. Nelson endeavoured to restrain the violence which he
foresaw would end in revolt. He won by his personal integrity and magnet-
ism the warmest affection from the French Canadians, and when the village
of St. Denis, where he lived, was attacked by Colonel Gore with his troops,
Dr. Nelson defended the place with a skill and resolution which compelled
the soldiers to retreat. Dr. Nelson nursed with the utmost kindness the
wounded whom the Royalist troops left behind them. He was now returned
for Richelieu, defeating even so powerful an opponent as Metcalfe, President
of Council. The rest of his life was'passed in honour, and in the service of
his country. In 1844 the seat of Government was moved from Kingston to
Montreal.

Metealfe was now as much attacked by the Liberal or Reform press,and with
the same silly rodomontade of invective, as the Tory press had employed
against his predecessor, Bagot. He was called “a false-hearted despot,”
“Charles the Simple,” “ Old Squaretoes,” as if such mud-throwing did not
degrade those from whom it came more than the statesman attacked by it.
But Metcalfe did not lack defenders. Dr. Egerton Ryerson defended the
Governor in a series of articles in 7%he Britisk Colonist, the servile tone of
which would hardly at the present day suit the taste of any political party.

In 1844, however, the pamphlet had its effect on public opinion, aud Dr.
Ryerson was rewarded for his zeal with the valuable appointment of Chief
Superintendent of Schools for Upper Canada. For many years he was the
autocrat of our Public School system, in building up which, if he made some
mistakes, mischievous enough in their way, he was still of great and lasting
benefit to our country’s system of education. The management of the Com-
mon School system of the Province by Dr. Ryerson commenced in 1846.

The Draper Ministry continued during the governorship of Sir C. Metcalfe
and his successors, Earl Cathcart and Lord Elgin. William Henry Draper,
who with Sir A. MacNab led the Tory party in Upper Canada, was the son
of an English elergyman, born in 1801. He had run away to sea, and at last
settled at « Little York” as a lawyer. He had great personal magnetism and
suavity of address, and his musical and.experienced voice added to the effect
of his otherwise not brilliant oratory in the Assembly. He lived till 1877.

In 1845 one of those terrible fires, which seem peculiarly the curse of Can-
adian cities, visited Quebec; twice in succession it swept over the city until
twenty-four thousand people were made homeless. The English people gener-
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ously subseribed £100,000 for their relief, to which the Parliament of Canada
added £35,000.

Lord Metcalfe—for the Governor had been raised to the peerage—was a
sufferer from that most terrible of all diseases, cancer. He was obliged to
return to England, where, under sufferings borne with atfecting fortitude, he
died.

The most important political event of this Parliament was a bill introduced
by the Draper Ministry, to pay all losses occasioned to the private property of
Loyalists in Upper Canada. This was no doubt intended as a bonus to the
Draper party in the Province, and was to be defrayed from the revenues
arising from tavern and hotel licenses. The French Canadian members agreed
to this proposal provided that similar indemnification was given to the Loyal-
ists in their own Province. Six commissioners were accordingly deputed to
make an estimate of the bonus so incurred in both Provinces. But they found
their task a difficult one. It was in many instances impossible to determine
whether the losses caused by mwilitary operations had befallen Loyalists or
insurgents, and the amount of compensation claimed mounted much higher
than the ministry had anticipated. When (1846) the commissioners sent in
their report, it appeared that at least £100,000 would be required. Mr. Draper
endeavoured to compromise matters by a bill proposing to issue, in Provincial
Debentures, £9,986, to be repaid by the duty on Marriage Licenses. With
this no one was satisfied.

Lord Elgin, the new Governor-General, relieved Lord Cathecart in-1847.
The Draper Ministry were getting more and more unpopular ; the champions
of responsible government were far abler men than any in the ministerial
ranks, and such journals as the Montreal Pilot and the Toronto Globe exposed
the weakness and unconstitutional character of Mr. Draper’s policy. The
country was against them. The other burning question which the earlier
Reformers had urged, the secularization of the Clergy Reserves, was now
agitated anew. The power of the Family Compact, which had been the bul-
wark of the Reserves, had by this time all but vanished. Dr. Strachan, who
had wielded that power, was relegated from his place as a politician to his true
position as a clergyman.

During this year our countrymen did much to give aid to the famine-
stricken people of Ireland, when a continuous stream of emigration set in to
Canada as well as the United States. In 1847 fully 70,000 Irish emigrants
had landed at Quebec before August. They were the least fit to survive
either the tropical summer or the arctic winter of Canada, and too often
they were fever-stricken as they landed from the crowded steerage. Again
and again as they wandered through the land, these hapless sufferers carried
the germs of death into the houses where they received shelter.

‘When Parliament met at Montreal in June, 1847, the Governor announced
that the English Government was willing to put into the charge of Canada,
the entire control of the Post Office department, and he also made the import-
ant communication that the duties which England had immposed on Canadian
imports would henceforth be removed. He advised, for military reasons, the
construction of a railway between Halifax and Quebee. This is the line now
called the “ Intercolonial.” It has never yet paid its expenses, is likely to
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pay less now that a shorter route can be had, and it is satisfactory to think
that it will be the last “ military railway” in peaceful Canada.

A dissolution of Parliament now took place, and as the election was this
time held in accordance with law, the popular feeling found expression ; the
Liberal or Reform members had the majority, and such men as Hincks, Robert
* Baldwin, Hume Blake and Maleolm Cameron, were returned. Louis Papineau,
who, like the other leaders of the movement of 1847, had come back to
Canada, was elected, with Dr. Wolfred Nelson, from Lower Canada. Accord-
ingly, when Parliament met, Mr. Draper’s Ministry resigned, and the Baldwin
and Lafontaine Cabinet assumed their place. Although Papineau reappeared
in political life, he never regained the prestige which he possessed in the early
part of his career. His undeniable eloquence did not compensate for a petu-
lant vanity and a certain lack of political common scnse. Henceforth he all
but disappears from Canadian history. His memory is still revered among
his compatriots, and he rests, not without honour, in the shadow of the elm
trees at Montebello.

During this year measures were passed in connection with this Imperial
renunciation of differential duties which ensured to Canada entire freedom
in controlling her own trade. Thus early had responsible government
brought with it a second important step towards nationality. In the course
of the following year the completion of the St. Lawrence Canal gave an
immediate impulse to the Canadian export trade.

In January, 1847, Parliament met again at Montreal, when the Governor
delivered an address of the congratulatory kind, vulgarly known as “ tafly,”
about the general prosperity of the country, with which we have been familiar
since the titular Governor ceased to govern and learned to flatter. Then the
real Government work of the session began by Mr. Lafontaine bringing up
the subject of the rebellion losses, and introducing a bill to pay the moiety of
the Lower Canadian losses left unpaid by Mr. Draper’s Bill. This put a
telling weapon, that of appeal to “loyalty,” into the hands of the Tories. They
londly maintained thabt it was unjust to require Upper Canada to pay any
portion of the Lower Canadian losses, but that the injustice became an insult
to all they most venerated if they were to pay actual rebels. It was main-
tained that now rebels like Drs. Russell and Papinean were in power—that
Lafontaine, who had been in prison as a rebel in 1837, was governing the
country—was it to be expected that they would neglect this opportunity to
reimburse their followers ? To this it was replied, and seemingly with truth,
that the ministry were only carrying out the policy of their predecessors in
office ; that the object of the bill was simply to pay for all bone fide losses in-
curred by non-combatants, and that the Upper Canada losses had been paid
from a license fund to which Lower Canada also had contributed.

But the Opposition had at last got hold of a good election cry; all the
loyalist feeling was enlisted on their side on a question which was not one of
“loyalty,” but of simple fair play. The Orange body, in particular, were so
mistaken at the time as to think Protestantism endangered by the Govern-
ment doing a simple act of justice. In Pakenham, near Ottawa, a clergyman
named Mulkins was known to have writteu in favour of the measure; he was
an Orangeman. The ficeling was so intense that he had to give up his parish.
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The Government gave him in recompense the lucrative post of chaplain to
Kingston Penitentiary. Worse still, the old race hatred broke out anew, and
to be rid of Lower Canada, many of these ultra-loyal Tories demanded
annexation to the States. However,all this was not the outery of a minority
in Canada, and the Rebellion Losses Bill passed by a majority of sixteen ; and
having, as a matter of course, passed the Upper House, received the formal -
assent of the Governor-General on April 26, 1849. A mob of the defeated
faction had gathered around the Parliament House. As the Governor-General
left the building he was insulted and pelted by these zealous “ Loyalists;” his
life was at one time in serious danger. The members of the Assembly were
hustled and beaten. At last the Parliament House was attacked ; a zealous
Tory member from the Eastern Townships—alas! the disgraceful fact is historic—
applied the torch; the dry woodwork was soon in a blaze that threatened to fire
the city. So the Parliament House was destroyed ; with it perished a literary
treasure never to be replaced, the library containing many hundred volumes
bearing on the history of Canada. Tt was an act of sheer Vandalism, of which
men like Macikenzie and Wolfred Nelson would have been incapable. The
partisans of Mr. Draper repeated similar scenes elsewhere ; in Toronto Baldwin
and Lafontaine were burned in effigy, a practice derived from the witcheraft of
the dark ages. In Montreal the troops had to be called out; the mob threw
stones, were fired on, and one man killed. Diszusted at the insults of the Tory
“ Royalists,” the representative of royalty wished to vesign his position as
Governor-General, but the authorities in England warmly approved of his action
in thus sustaining constitutional government, and entreated him to remain in
office. ~Addresses from all parts of Canada, especially from the Reform party,
were presented to Lord Elgin, expressing their regret for the treatment he had
received from a minority of Canadians. In view of this outrage, it was resolved
to remove the seat of Government from Montreal to Toronto for the next ten
vears, and afterwards that Parliament should meet alternately in Quebec and
Toronto.

About this time Canadian farmers began to feel the depressing effects of the
abrogation of the system of protection in England, for the Canadian producer
had also been protected against American and other grain. Now that this had
ceased to be the case, the St. Lawrence trade was seriously damaged, and a
depressing effect produced on business all through the country. But this was
to a great extent remedied by a measure, first proposed in 1850, for reciprocity
or free trade with the United States. In this year also an important muni-
cipal reform was carried, extending the principle of local self-government, both
in Upper and Lower Canada. By this most salutary measure, each county
and township was charged with the control of its local taxation and expendi-
ture. At this time our present county and township system was formed, thus
relieving Parliament of the care of a multitude of local details, and the
general revenue from expenditure as to which the municipalities them-
selves could best judge. The agitation on the Clergy Reserves abuse now
became more intense ; it produced a difference though not a division in the
Reform ranks, those who held uncompromisingly to the abolition of the
Reserves being known in political slang as “Clear Grits.” Meanwhile the
prosperity of the country was being advanced by the construction of the
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Grand Trunk, Great Western, and Northern Railways. The first of them was
projected by Sir A. MacNab, who had great personal influence in the western
part of Upper Canada. Numerous lighthouses were also erected at various
voints on the Gulf of St. Lawrence. In the year 1851 Canada made a very
creditable appearance at the Great Exhibition in London, the first of a series
of such exhibitions which, held in the chief countries of the world, have
greatly promoted international commerce.

All Canada, and especially the English-speaking Province, was rapidly
developing her industrial resources. One of the foremost to use steam vessels
on her lakes and rivers, she was now energetically interpenetrating her
vast plains with the great lines of railway above mentioned, which, in the
course of thirty years, have branched out in every direction, covering the
face of the land with a network which connects with every industrial centre.
In October, 1851, Mr. Hincks became Premier. His keen practical sense and
financial tact led him to take great interest in the foundation of the Grand
Trunk Railway, to which, in 1852, aid was given by Parliament; the session
of that year being known as the railroad session. The year 1852 is marked
by a great fire in Montreal, 10,000 people being made homeless.

The year 1854 witnessed three remarkable events in Canadian politics. The,
Reciprocity Treaty with the United States procured for our people the nwht
to send most of the products of Canada free of duty to the United States
was to be in force for ten years. Yet more important is the step made b)
this Treaty to Canada’s comiercial independence; for the first time we were
allowed a voice in framing a treaty that concerned Canadian interests.

The long-vexed question of the Clergy Reserves was now set finally at rest.
These wild and at the time unprofitable lands were to be sold, and the fund
thus obtained to be at the disposal of the different municipalities, and to be
used for the benefit of the local schools, or for any other purpose of municipal
improvement. But in order not to act harshly, such portions as were already
occupied for church use were to form a small fund for church endowment.
And in Lower Canada the Seigniorial Tenures Act abolished the incumbrance,
long felt as an obstacle to progress, of the feudal tenures of property. It was
now arranged that each seigneur should receive a certain sum from his tenant,
the balance being made up from a sum granted by the Canadian Parliament.
England being this year at war with Russia, Canada sent a gift of £20,000 as
a contribution towards the relief of the wives and children of soldiers and
sailors killed in battle. It is to be hopel that such offerings of Christian
charity may soon be all the share Canada will take in Eulopean wars.

In 1855 Sir Edmund Head came as Governor-General. The first regular
volunteer corps was formed in consequence of an amendment to the Militia Act
passed this year. In 1856 a further advance in the freedom of our institutions
was made by applying the elective principle to our Legislative Council. The
change was to be made gradually ; the nominees of the Crown at the time living
were to retain their position for life ; as they dropped off their successors were
to be elected. At this time our Parliament subsidized a line of steamers
between Montreal and Quebec and Liverpool, to compete with the American
line subsidized by the English Government.  The seat of Government was now
proposed to be changed ﬁnally to Ottawa, a change made by suggestion of the
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Crown, and, for entirely military reasons, the suggestion of the Duke of Wel-
lington at the conclusion of the War of 1812. This change was, for obvious
reasons, unpopular with the people of the older and more central eities, and
caused much opposition to the Cartier-Macdonald Ministry, now in power.

In 1857 a commercial crisis came over the country, and, together with a suc-
cession of bad harvests, much depressed our commerce. To remedy this a new
Customs Act was passed, imposing heavier duties on certain iwported goods.
In 1858 attention was turned to the proper protection of our fisheries. The
beautiful edifice of our Toronto University was now completed ; it is in the
Norman Gothic style, but treated with an elaborate luxuriance of rich decora-
tion. The coinage was this year changed ftom the old cumbrous system of
pounds, shillings and pence to the more facile decimal system.

In 1858 the removal of the seat of Government to Ottawa brought about the
downfall of the Cartier-Macdonald Ministry. Geo. E. Cartier, who had succeeded
to Lafontaine’s influence in Lower Canada, was the ablest leader his compatriots
have yet known. Sir John A. Macdonald, the most notable of the Conservative
leaders whom this extraordinary ministerial movement brought into power, was
born in Sutherlandshire, Scotland, in 1815, and came to Canada in 1820 with
his father, who settled at Kingston. He was educated at the Kingston Gram-
mar-School, where his chief taste seemed to be for mathematics. At twenty-one
he was called to the bar. As has been mentioned, hesefended, with benefit to
his own skill, in a cause where acquittal was hopeless, Von Schultz, the leader of
the raid on Prescott in 1838. At the age of thirty-one he became member for
Kingston in the Conservative interest. For some years we can find, in the old
files of newspapers preserved in the Parliamentary Library, Toronto, but scant
mention of J. A. Macdonald’s speeches in Parliament. He was biding his time,
and maturing both the skill in constitutional law and the extraordinary know-
ledge of men, especially political men, by which he has been distingnished
ever since. Although his political education was acquired in turbulent times
and under the Family Compact Opposition, which did its best to wreck the cause
of responsible government under Sir C. Metcalfe, Sir John Macdonald’s good
sense and naturally liberal tendencies have caused him to take up every really
needful reform just as the public mind became ripe to receive it. Indeeg,
political tact and adroituess in discerning the right moment and the right man
are the chief characteristics of this statesman. He has passed through every
office in the Administration. He was Receiver-General under Mr. Draper in
1847.  Again he held a portfolio under the MacNab-Morin Coalition in 1854,
which carried the two important Reform measures—the abolition of feudal
tenures and secularization of the Clergy Reserves. Having superseded Sir Allan
MacNab, whom age and gout had unfitted for active leadership, as the chief of
the Conservatives, he was supported by the influence, all-powerful as long as he
lived, of George L. Cartier with the people of Lower Canada.

Mr. George Brown, editor of the Globe, was then called on to form a minis-
try, as being the leader of the party opposed to that of the late Administration.
This was at length accomplished, Mr. Brown being Premier, with Mr. Dorion
to represent the Lower Canadians. But, according to our coustitution, the
ministers lost their seats in Parliament on accepting office until re-elected by
the people ; their numbers in parliamentary strength were thus so much weak-
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ened, that on the Conservatives moving a vote of want of confidence, the
Reformers were defeated. Of course the Reform Ministry would at once have
appealed to the constituencies, but by a very arbitrary use of the power left
with a Governor-General, Sir F. Head refused to sanction this. In conse-
quence of this action of the Governor, the Macdonald-Cartier Ministry were
reinstated in power, the Brown-Dorion Government having held office only
three days. Much bitterness was caused by this adroit but not very high-
prineipled manceuvre.

In August the Atlantic cable was first laid, an event attended with great
rejoicing in Canada. But in this, the first effort, the success was not perma-
nent as yet.

On the 9th of September of this year that patriot, Robert Baldwin, died
at the homestead his father had built at Spadina, in west Toronto.

In 1859, Parliament held its session in Toronto. It was now found that
there was a continual deficiency in the revenues of the Province, and as it
was considered inexpedient to reduce the expenditure on railways and other
public works, the duties on exports were considerably increased.  On October
13th, the monument of General Brock on Queenston Heights was unveiled in
the presence of a vast assemblage, including the volunteer corps, with whom
were many veterans who had fought under Brock in his last battle. As the
Victoria Bridge over the St. Lawrence was now approaching completion, our
Parliament sent an invitation to the Queen of England to visit Canada and
preside at its opening. Next year she replied, declining the visit to Canada
for herself, but intimating that the Prince of Wales would take her place at
the opening ceremonies. It had long been felt that while in progress, educa-
tion, and all intellectual and industrial results, Upper Canada was far ahead of
the French Provinee, yet according to the constitutional arrangement, whereby
the two Provinces had an equal representation in Parliament, the interests of
the English-speaking Province were on all occasions made subservient to those
of the French by the fact that, while in Upper Canada there were two political
parties whose numbers were, as a rule, equally balanced, the French members
voted as a unit, and were thus enabled to hold the balance of power. To
remedy this a Reform Convention was held in Toronto this year (1859), in
order to devise means for establishing the principle, on which all the late
parliamentary reforms in England have been based, of representation by popu-
lation. But the French Canadians had always been successful in their
opposition to this measure, which they knew would weaken their political
importance. It was therefore proposed to establish a Federal Union between
the Provinces, in place of the existing system of Legislative Union. This
suggestion, first proposed at the Toronto Convention of 1859, was the germ of
the great constitutional change since carried out so successfully in the Con-
federation of Canada.

In November of this year, Sir J. B. Macauley, who had so long held with
honour the position of Chief Justice of Common Pleas, died, aged sixty-six.

Theyear 1860 opened with what was felt as a national calamity—as it tended
to impair confidence already shaken by previous losses of our Canadian line
steamers—the foundering of the mail steamer Hungarian off Cape Sable. All
on board werelost. Since that time increased vigilance has happily prevented
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the recurrence of such disasters, and the Allan line steamers have never for-
feited public confidence. In August of this year the magnificent Vietoria
Bridge was opened by the Prince of Wales, who, on visiting this country and
the United States, was received by both nations with the most generous hos- ,
pitality. The Vietoria Bridge is one of the wonders of the New World. As
a work of human art it is not unworthy of comparison with the great works
of nature amid which it stands, spanning our mightiest river, with its multi-
DPlied arches of massive granite. Such a work is a token of our national
progress.
“ Bver reaping something new,
That which it has done but earnest of the things that it shall do.”

In the same summer the Prince of Wales also laid the foundation stone of -
the new Parliament Buildings at Ottawa, which, from being, as a great writer
resident in Canada has called it, “ An Arctic lumber village,” was even then
assuming the proportions of one of our leading eities.

In order to iHustrate the vast growth of all Canada, and the greater relative
growth of Upper than of the Lower Province, it needs but a glance at the census
returns of the population :

Census of 1841.—Upper Canada, 465,000; Lower Canada, 691,000.

S E L % “ 1,396,000, 5 “1,111,000.

In October, 1861, Sir Edmund Head was replaced as Governor-General by
Lord Monck. On August 28 the stormy and chequered career of William Lyon
Mackenzie closed in peace in the city of which he had been the first mayor.
Now that the Family Compact and the generation that upheld it are gone, it is
increasingly felt that a debt of gratitude is due to this single-hearted patriot.
Few other statesmen can show a record so stainless as regards political morality.

In this year also began the calamitous war in the American Republic. At
first and for some time the people of the North seemed scarcely alive to the
importance of the situation. When awakened from inaction, army after army
swept through the Southern States, and after many a hard-contested field—for
there were no better soldiers than those of the South—peace followed the capture
of Richmond. During the war there was in England a strong sympathy with the
rebels. Indeed, considering the national desire to avenge the wars of 1776 and
1812, it is doubtful if the triumph of the Republic was really pleasing to any
class in Great Britain excepting the Irish. But in Canada, with very insigni-
ficant exceptions, the good-will of the entire nation went with the armies of the
North, and we rejoiced when a difficulty, caused by the seizure by an American
commodore of two Confederate envoys on board the Zrent, was happily settled
by their release. A considerable number of Canadians enlisted in the Northern
army. The demand for horses, grain, and food supplies of all kinds among our
Northern neighbours led to the circulation of a considerable amount of money
in Upper Canada, and thus proved a stimulus to trade, the withdrawal of
which, when war prices were no longer offered, produced a corresponding depres-
sion. While on the subject of the war, we may mention, although the occurrences
took place some three years later, that Canada was well nigh involved in trouble
with the United States by the lawless and ungenerous action of certain refugees
from the South. These men, while coming to our land as guests seeking a
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peaceful shelter, abused our hospitality by acts of brigandage, for which they
attempted to make Canada their base. One piratical expedition effected the
seizure of two small craft in Lake Erie, which, however, were abandoned;
another, led by Mason, son of the Envoy, seized on the 7ren? steamer, and made
a raid on St. Albans, a small town in Vermont. The Canadian authorities
apprehended the raiders, who, however, succeeded in obtaining their release on
some legal technicality. In this year died Lafontaine, who had been the repre-
sentative of Lower Canada in the Ministry of Robert Baldwin.

In 1864, a Convention of thirty-three representatives from both Provinces
met at Quebec to discuss the question of Confederation. It was unanimously
voted that a proposal for effecting this great measure should be submitted to
the Legislature. In this year, the Sandfield Macdonald Ministry having resigned
office, and that of Sir E. P. Tache, which suceeeded, not surviving more than two
months, overtures were made by the ministry to George Brown, leader of the
Reform Opposition, that in order to get rid of difficulties which threatened a
political dead-lock, a Coalition Government should be formed, of which three
Reformers, including Mr. Brown, should represent the Opposition element. This
was agreed to, and the Coalition Administration was formed. The principal
members of the Coalition were John A. Macdonald, G. E. Cartier, and George
Brown, with Messrs. McDougall and Galt. Mr. Brown then moved for the
appointment of a Committee on Constitutional Difficulties, and very soon a
scheme was brought before Parliament, which was based on that of the Reform
Convention of 1859. In 1865 this proposal, embodied in seventy-two resolutions,
was adopted by the Parliament of Canada, and oy those of Nova Scotia and
New Brunswick. Newfoundland and Prince Edward Island, fearing to lose
political importance by such a union, declined it for the time being. In the same
year John A. Macdonald, G. E. Cartier, Alexander Galt and George Brown,
were senf. as delegates to represent the wishes of the colonies to Lord Palmer-
ston, then at the head of the Governizent. In England the scheme was received
with full approval. As the Reciprocity Treaty with the United States was
now abont to expire, Mr. Galt and Mr. Howland were sent to Washington to
negotiate as to its renewal, in conueection with which transaction a difficulty
arose in the Cabinet, and Mr. George Brown resigned. The negotiations for
renewing the Treaty failed. In 1866 occurred the raid called the Fenian inva-
sion. The Fenians, an Irish organization for the purpose of achieving the
independence of Ireland, very absurdly resolved toinvade Canada, a country
which was the home of thousands of their countrymen. They did not consider
that if Canada could be blotted from the face of the earth, it would not lead
a step nearer to the independence of Ireland. But there is every reason to
believe that this invasion was projected not from any patriotic motive, but to
get up a sensation among the American Irish, and thus fill the pockets of the
Fenian leaders. On June the first twelve hundred Fenians, well armed, and led
by an ex-officer of the American army named O’Niel, crossed the Niagara River
near Buffalo, occupied the dismantled ramparts of Fort Erie, and marched to a
place called Ridgeway. A body of regular troops was sent to meet them with
nine hundred volunteers, from Hamilton and Toronto, commanded by Colonel
Booker. Too impatient to await the co-operation of the regulars,Colonel Booker
advanced towards Ridgeway. Here the Fenians were found strongly entrenched,;



64 HISTORY OF BRANT COUNTY.

a smart skirmish took place; and upon a false, and, under the circumstances,
absurd alarm of cavalry, the order was given to form square. This movement
being inefficiently carried out, threw our force into confusion, of which the
enemy took advantage by firing on the disordered ranks. The volunteers had
to retire, No. 1 Company, Queen’s Own Rifles, Toronto, covering the retreat
with coolness and skill. Our force lost an officer, Ensign McEachren, of No. 1
Company, Queen’s Own, and six men killed, and four officers and nineteen
men wounded. Several attempts at a raid were also made on the Lower Cana-
dian Frontier, but the Volunteer Militia were there in such force that the
Fenians effected nothing, until the United States authorities took cognizance of
the matter, and seized the arms of these brigands. The Fenian prisoners were
tried and sentenced to death, but this was commuted to imprisonment for life
in the Penitentiary, whence, however, they were released after several years
confinement. A public funeral was given to our brave volunteers, and a
monument to their memory has been set up in the Queen’s Park, Toronto.

On the 8th of June, 1866, our Parliament met in the new Parliament Build-
ings, Ottawa. This magnificent palace is a fit mansion for the true governing
power of our country, and 4t is fitting that the free nations of the New World
should erect for their Legislatures edifices as beautiful as any palace of Old
World despotism. Our Parliament Buildings form three sides of a square, the
central and largest being built in the twelfth century Gothic style. The stone
is a cream-coloured sandstone from the Ottawa quarries, and the arches of doors
and windows are of a warm red sandstone. In the centre is a lofty tower of
stately proportions, and the library, a circular structure with flying buttresses, is
one of the most beautiful features of all.

Two disasters befell Canada in this year. First, a terribly destructive fire
occurred in Quebec, with loss of 2,500 houses and not a few lives. Secondly,
the failure of one of our oldest banks, the Bank of Upper Canada, took place.
As almost all the banks in the country had taken the Upper Canada Bank’s
paper, quite a panic ensued. However, the other banks stood their ground, and
the crisis passed over. ‘

At the elections held in New Brunswick that year, it was found that a con-
siderable majority pronounced in favour of Confederation, in spite of a persistent
opposition to it, kept up in both the Maritime Provinces by the popular states-
man, Joseph Howe. An Act was now passed in the English Parliament
determining the 1st of July, 1867, as the date when the Confederation should
become an accomplished fact. This was carried out amid gatherings of our
Volunteer Militia corps, and general festivities. And ever since that year, the
1st of July, the birthday of the United Canadian Nation, is kept as a festival
by every true Canadian. By another Act of the British Parliament, passed at
the same time, a loan of £3,000,000 was guaranteed for the Intercolonial Rail-
way connecting the Maritime Provinces with Canada.

By this important change in our Constitution, the legislative power for
Canada is vested in our Parliament, which meets at Ottawa, and consists of a
Senate and a House of Commons. The latter is the really governing body, and
consists of a hundred and eighty-two members ; eighty-two trom Upper Canada,
or Ontario, as it is now named, sixty-five from Quebec, nineteen from Nova
Scotia, fifteen from New Brunswick, and one from Manitoba. The Speaker is
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elected by the House, and the Premier and other ministers must be members.
The Government is conducted by a minister able to command the votes of a
majority in the House. He, as representing the will of the people, is the true
ruler of Canada, and if the House of Commons votes a want of confidence in
his administration, it is the usual course to dissolve Parliament and hold a
general election, so that the people may express their will. With the ministry
rests the disposal of all patronage that does not belong to the ministry of each
Province. The Senate consists of seventy-two members, appointed nominally
by the Governor-General of Canada, but in reality by the administration for
the time being. The Speaker of the Senate is nominated by the Governor-
General, and has a deliberative as well as a casting vote.

As the new senators are appointed only by death vacancies, it is obvious that
it depends on pure accident whether any particular administration may have the
opportunity to appoint so many of its own supporters that a future adminis-
tration would be hampered with a Senate of its opponents fixed there for life.
But the Senate has no real power; no interest is taken in its debates, which are
never printed in the papers ; it is a survival of irresponsible Government.

The Speaker has no vote in deliberation, but has a casting vote when the
votes on both sides are equal. The Governor-General has, in name, the power
of dissolving Parliament, but this is now always exercised at the request of the
Ministry : the Governor-General has other powers which he only exercises as a
matter of form, and as carrying out the wishes expressed by the ministers and
Parliament.  An injudicious or incendiary Governor-General might possibly do
some mischief, but with the prudent and courteous gentlemen whom the English
ministry have for some time sent, there can be no thought of interference with
our {ree Constitution. Each of the Provinces has a Legislature of its own, meeting
once a year for four years. These local Legislatures have control of all matters
which are strictly confined to the Province and do not affect the whole of Canada,
such as Education, Police Regulation, Direct Taxation for Municipal Purposes,
and Local Public Works. All Canada, now styled the Dominion, from this time
assumed all debts previously contracted by the several Provinces, Ontario and
Quebec undertaking the debt of the former Province of the United Canadas.
Between the several provinces, from the Pacific to the Atlantic sea-board, the
most absolute free trade prevails. In the Constitution thus happily established,
slight changes, which to some seem desirable, may be made as time goes on and
experience teaches new lessons of political wisdom. The constitution of the
Senate may be made elective or otherwise amended. The Civil Service, it is to be
hoped, may be reformed, and the Provinces saved the expense of each maintaining
a petty king, who does nothing but go through obsolete ceremonial forms, and
give entertainments, which those who desire them ought to provide at their own
expense. The history of Canada since Confederation, belongs so much to the
heated arena of modern politics, that we shall but glance over the leading events
that are its landmarks to the present day. In 1868 John A. Macdonald obtained
the title of baronet for his colleague, who now became Sir George E. Cartier, Bart.,
being content with knighthood for himself. In 1869, Francis Hincks, now Sir
Francis, entered the Conservative Government as Finance Minister, and rendered
Canadian commerce an important service, in contriving the disuse, in the traffic of
this country, of the depreciated Americansilver. He issued a temporary paper
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currency 25 cents, which effectively answered its purpose. In 1870, British
Columbia was admitted into the Confederation, agreement being made by the
Dominion Government that the Pacific Railway should be completed. In 1872
Sir George Cartier, who since Confederation had been less necessary to his Lower
Canadian supporters, inasmuch as there was no longer a grievance for him to
champion, was defeated for Montreal East, and had to seek political refuge in the
distant Manitoban county of Provencher, where he had never set foot. In 1873
a sudden storm burst on the hitherto prosperous ministry of Sir John Macdonald.
It was suspected that Sir John had taken, for party election purposes, a large sum
of money from Sir Hugh Allan, who had an Atlantic Mail contract with the
Government, and who was the favoured applicant for the Canada Pacific Railroad
contract. Against Sir John’s personal character not a word can be said ; he has
never made money for himself out of politics, but it was felt, even among some
Conservatives, that Sir John’s action in this matter was wrong. Since that
time the Canadian people, by twice choosing Sir John to lead their Govern-
ment, have shown that they place confidence in him once more ; but though the
“Pacitic Scandal,” by some called the “Pacific Slander,” has been condoned, it
cannot be justified. On November 5, 1873, Sir John Macdonald’s Government
fell, after a brilliant speech from Sir John in his place in Parliament, which
however failed to avert political ruin, at least for the time. Many Conservatives
voted against him, Lord Dufferin thereon sent for Mr. Mackenzie, who formed
a Reform Government, including Richard J. Cartwright as Minister of Finance,
and Edward Blake as Minister of Justice. The Reform party continued in office
till 1878, when a reaction took place in favour of the Conservatives, in conse-
quence of their advocacy of Protection as a remgdy for the hard times which,
unfortunately for the Reformers, had prevailed during their term of office. Sir
John Macdonald’s Ministry was coincident with a return of commercial pros-
perity ; which so completely impressed on the minds of the majority of the
electors the belief that prosperity and protection were related as cause and
effect, that they again returned Sir John and his party into power at the last
elections—1882.

Such has been our political history since 1868 gave us Confederation.
The other most noteworthy events have been the adjustment of the griev-
ances which made Nova Scotia a malcontent partner in Confederation. This
was effected in 1869, through negotiations with Mr. Howe. The Dominion
Government then undertook to pay the Nova Scotia debt. In 1870 an
abortive insurrection, headed by oune Riel, took place at Red River, when
Dr. Schultz, Seott, and other Canadian citizens were seized and imprisoned by
Riel. Schultz contrived to escape, whereon Riel had Scott brought out into the
courtyard of Fort Garry, and after the mockery of a trial, most barbarously
shot. A military expedition was sent to Red River, and the fiasco of an insur-
rection, which was mainly got up by some half-breed French Canadians, was
easily put down. How to act with regard to Riel was a difficult political cruz.
The deepest indignation at the murder of Scott was felt equally by both parties
in Ontario, but if Riel were hanged, the Lower Canadians would turn against
the Government which ordered that act of justice. Sir John’s Government tem-
porized with the matter ; that of Mr. Mackenzie, which succeeded in 1873, put
a stop to the vexed question by pardoning Riel. The wretch survived in obscure
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poverty amid the utter execration of all good men, At the same time a Fenian
raid took place near Stanbridge, but was utterly repulsed with the loss of ten
men by a handful of the Montreal and Huntington Militia under the command
of Colonel Bagot. This battle, a skirmish, took place at Eccles Mill, near Stan-
bridge, in the Eastern Townships, Lower Canada.

In 1878, Canada sustained a loss in the departure of Lord Dufferin, who had
been perhaps the most popular Governor-General ever known in our country.
Of course, since responsible Government was established, the Governor-General
ceased in any true sense to govern, yet Lord Dufferin’s tenure of the position
showed how much social benefit could be gained by the presence aniong us of a
highly cultivated, genial, and most sagacious statesman. Our literature in parti-
cular has reason to regret his departure, and the kindly interest taken by him
in literary work. He was succeeded in November of the same year by the
Maiquis of Lorne and his wife, Princess Louise.

The Dominion of Canada now includes the North-West Territories, ceded to
Canada by the British Government in 1870, and admitted into Confederation in
1872. To this vast territory, teeming with the elements of industrial and
agricultural prosperity, a continuous tide of emigration has set in for the last
several years. Cities which only existed on paper ten years ago, are now thriv-
ing towns with newspapers and churches. Winnipeg has become the focus of a
marvellous colonization movement, attended with an eager energy unknown in
any enterprise of Canadian colonization, froni the days of Samuel de Champlain
until now. It seems not unlikely that the enormous increase of English-speak-
ing population certain to people what is now unbroken prairie, will make the
English-speaking Canadian vote supreme in the Government of our country,
and that thus we shall be delivered from the political domination of the French
wedge whicl is driven in between the Maritime Provinces and Upper Canada,
between the Liberal-Reform and the Liberal-Conservative parties which have
so long conceded to it the balance of power.

STATISTICS.

In order to estimate the vast growth of the Canada of our day, we need but
glance at the following statistics, taken from the last census returns :

CENsUs OF 1881, DoMINION OF CANADA.
/

Provinuce. Area. Population.

Prince Edward Island ... ....cccccoo oot 2,133 square miles, .. ........... 108,891
IO 0015 f 00 B oo o TP 20,907 g 440,572
INTe W, DS iok . o ol 5 oo e o eoishe oo ve 27,174 PO IR o o 8 321,233
ONBEC . e T ool Detonsrstshe s aianis sivn o sione'h T HOSGEE) o o osuve o s seoses] | W153504027
ONEATIO N Rt Rl oot o o s LOIESS Y e 1,923,228
LLEDTTIEI SN 0B 0B ol R R 123,200 GO e F el R 6 o 65,9564
BritishiColumibia’. .. Bh e ooos v vane § ooodf], © - SEB0T T TR PLE 49,459
D R LIEOTT @RI 2ot s fts s¥ares ¥ sovnvinamannevan o | 23 O0DRBE - 56,446

o Gizendytetalse oo o ot Do 3,470,392 (D A N e LG 17 055 (1)

5
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PopULATION of 1871 and 1881, compared by Electoral Districts, within their

present limits (1881).

Territorial ‘ Population.
ELECTORAL DISTRICTS. Superficies in | Repre-
acres. 1871, 4 1881. sentation.
(Prince Edward Island.) ! [
BRI L L o Lt o s el 467,000 | 28,302 34,347 ‘ 2
RIS v ooy v S 186,400 | 42,651 48,111 2
7 IR O B i ' 412,000 . 23,068 26,433 2
{ |
Totals of Prince Edward Island. ...........| 1,365,400 94,021 | 108,891 6
(Nova Scotia.) V
TRAVETIIEES . + oo <Te o0 e oo shoie S0l DET ERE2 SRt 886,800 | 23,415 | 25,651 1
00 5 1) TR SO A S50 38 ~ B8 5.0 6 0,500 90 & 767,000 | 11,346 12,470 1
Cape Breton .........c.cocivininiinen, 748,000 26,454 31,258 2
e inoned . ..o oo s AP S DRGSR Y s 398,880 | 14,268 | 15,121 1
Guysborough .. ...t 1,060,000 16,555 17,808 1
FIQIIEAX: g - o 1 R A PO R L L - - 1o 1,342,032 56,963 67,917 2
Lunenburg. . .. «ceoovvenvee et 714,000 23,834 28,5683 1
GBS oo 1,0 .01 o« ¢ ol ek e o ] 631,900 \ 10,554 | 10,577 1
Sl g I A A o doaotosd 4 d codBa 5! 607,000 12,417 14,913 1
Yiammouths & & 5 2 ol b LS A . o e 471,000 18,550 21,284 1
BIGTR c La%r, 7 . L AR b , 653,500 | 17,037 | 19,881 1
Annapolis .....oiiiiiiai i i 837,000 | 18,121 20,598 1
e NN Ml g 519,000 | 21,510 | 23,469 1
TR 0 0 oo A B 4 bl 6 6 ' o9 0 0 g © | 753,000 21,301 23,359 | 1
(OOTBRR e b . o e e e £ PR | 837,000 23,331 26,720 ’ 1
T ONTL A S B 00 50 R S E S 650t 1 £ 4 720,496 32,114 35,535 2
MEREEOMIAN. . . . . . oovovoseoomss sl e goiobiositse 353,520 16,512 | 18,060 | 1
ADADETIATI . ... o). orere = o ovois aie oot RIS 1,031,875 23,518 27,368 | 1
Totals of Nova Scotia .............. 13,382,003 | 387,800 | 440,572 | 21
(New Brunswick.) |
DY g5 & 50 o SHERTR: (CRERRNSERAR: = ¢ o 429,000 10,672 12,329 1
St. JOBI, CHEY vrorrovrevrserrss s sensnenanes 810 | 28805 | 26,127 1
St. Johty COUDEY « .. nvvrennnnenennone 374,000 | 23,315 | 26,839 2
(D1 FfiE g 000000t SoDEOS ESSARRRIR SEBRE MR e ot 847,000 25,882 26,087 1
e ale: .. ..., 90L000 | 24,593 | 25,617 1
o R S oy 947,000 | 13,847 | 14,017 1
R R 770,000 6,824 6,651 1
T .. ........ ... ol 2,222,000 | 27,140 | 30,307 1
OO so 0 0009he © oo o T 00 0TS AeR %, £ 772,000 19,938 23,365 it
It 1 . . .ot . . g 2,234,000 | 11,641 | 15,686 1
Westmoreland ......oovveeeeeennnennns 822,000 | 29,335 37,719 3,
T R Ll 1,101,000 19,101 | 22,618 1
Northumberland .........ooeeevvvennnn. 3,046,640 20,116 25,109 1
CUTTERT 0 5 55 oo 400 0 o & A o SR SO 1,077,960 18,810 21,614 1
Restigonche ......ocooeumirinorieeeieiiiiiiniin, 1,849,000 5,075 7,058 1
Totals of New Brunswick ................ 17,393,410 | 285,594 | 321,233 16
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Territorial Population.
ELECTORAL DISTRICTS, Superficies in Repre-
acres. { sentati on.
1871. i | 1582
( Province of Quebec.)
Bonaventumeil, B .o PS8 S 8A L 2,106,681 15,923 18,908 1
GROpe . BTV | . .. O b oL 5o 2,009,940 | 18,729 | 25,001 1
Rimouskieh® | 45,00 SENAIE < 20 40 . 3,156,280 27,418 33,791 1
Memisconaiar., i s o o L T i oo - 1,178,290 22,491 25,484 1
Kamouraskariot.. : Fod Nefeedeiidds ol siols oic o 651,235 21,254 22,181 il
Ditlslete, s fmal s i ABER St 2l L. 507,625 13,517 14,917 1
Montmagmyen oo o ST a e 398,953 13,555 15,268 1
Bellechasse: i . oo o Rl em iton. aFe ikt . 430,370 17,637 18,068 1
TC MR e | R e 164,140 | 24,831 | 27,980 1
Worchestensarss. o b BRI L L Soremrs - . 583,330 17,1479 18,710 1
IBTEATTEIRE 1o B oo o B0 B Bomoodod ToHRHoto IO TRors A 1,175,595 27,253 32,020 1
ROMRIETE A, P 1 B oo Bt 2 3, | 460,640 | 20,606 | 20,857 1
Megantic... 475,740 18,879 19,056 il
Nicolet.. L T e 379,320 23,262 26,611 1
Drummond and Arthabaska............... 838,019 31,892 37,360 1
Richmond and Wolfe.....cccoovvniven... 761,621 20,036 26,339 1
T (SR R 883,400 | 13,665 | 19,581 1
S ORbAOOIE ey Se o« Bl T2 5e1e¥e] JFe ke 5 0 5w sslsne 143,300 8,516 - 12,221 il
Stamsteagl s Ao e e e 260,600 13,138 15,556 1
VORI SRt o o oy SoeslE s> g s s - 167,200 | 16,317 | 17,091 1
Bt o - Y. 5t aph L s 214,840 | 19,491 | 21,199 1
Shefordl T Tl - -t Mo et o2 pogere: - 357,762 19,077 23,233 1
Baome), ) e e I8 L8 T e B e 300,455 13,757 15,827 1
Richallam, 5. %% 5 han® « - - - 5omesosiomer 124,215 | 20,048 | 20,218 1
St. Hyacinthe.........o.evvoreereenevreens 172,823 | 18,310 | 20,631 1
Rougille: g rc,. . SN e ok e s 157,635 17,634 18,547 1
Bovillel sy ) Lot b Bt s 8 . o ) 120,960 | 15,413 | 14,459 1
Widkisquoiteheiv i Rl S Lo L. 229,17 16,922 17,784 1
WiercheTes iy $:. Sy Sy LAl 2l 34 o - 124,812 12,717 12,449 1
Oliamyoly, dv plle v M S b A o, s 87,319 10,498 10,858 1
STNTean Vet o Ll SV o e Yersre 112,106 12,122 12,265 1
[ T TS R T 110,606 | 11,861 | 11,436 1
NApierviller R $8 r v bt ia st s S rperes 97,120 11,688 10,511 1
Chateanguay............o..... Sl 3. 159,840 | 16,166 | 14,393 1
P AT AL S S SR S 255,350 | 16,304 | 15,495 1
Beauharnois............................... 89,280 14,757 16,005 1
Soulanges.. . 87,820 10,808 10,220 1
Vandreuil, . olo b~ SBRE 38 117,034 11,003 11,485 1
Chicoutimi and Saguena,y ................ 59,745,821 22,980 32,409 1
Charlevoix. . < B ety 1,233,000 | 15611 | 17,901 1
Montmorency ............................ 1,376,000 12,085 12,322 1
(Ol o Rl D s Tt | R S 5,270 28,305 31,900 1
Quebec, Centre............................ 897 18,188 17,898 i
Quebec, West.. 1,219 13,206 12,648 1
Quebec, Count;y .......................... 1,696,000 | 19,607 | 20,278 1
Portneuf .. 1,068,800 3 16 | 25,175 1
(‘hampl'un 5,856,000 | 21, 643 | 26,318 1
TrOIS-RIVIETES. - » - veor v vn v vmsoorinrn s v e 11,300 | 8414 | 9,296 1
(SR VT Te), e 2 - e 1,614,080 | 1() 658 | 12,986 1
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Territorial Population.

ELECTORAL DISTRICTS. Superficies in Repre-

acres. 1871. 1881. sentation.

PRI CN T ). oy - dhesics e ofo oo e Forolaiolo® 2,073,600 15,079 17,493 1
B .. ... ... ... e 1,555,200 | 19,993 | 21,838 1
1 e ot R C oG - doiio S o 1,713,920 23,075 21,988 1
PSS OINDOIPIIIE T - ov . e oo ls o rolovoimesonie ol PE LT 158,761 15,473 15,282 1
IO HCAl I I e oo o ool e oo L AR 3,084,800 12,742 12,966 1]
Montreal, Centre........oocoveeiivnneenn 749 23,903 25,078 1l
Gntreal Wliast. .. . Sk Ja. ... SIS O 1,153 46,291 67,506 1
Monitreal, West,.... ... oo g 00N, 1,397 37,031 48,163 1
HOChEIAZA 1.vvvveee e e eeneeeenenearae e 52,312 | 25,640 | 40,079 1
Jacques-Cartier . .....covverie e rernnnons 67,912 | 11,179 | 12,345 1
Bt ... Ul EREECRL 54,202 9,472 9,462 1
fernebonme. ... . ....... L. %80 4 PR EN 348,302 19,591 21,892 1
Deux- ’\Iontagnes 165,187 15,615 15,856 1
Argenteuil.. . coo JBIRERN L MR A 599,700 12,806 16,062 1
Ottawa, County (TR ) s B 4,277,120 37,892 49,432 D
Pontiac.. NN ¥ 13,451,520 16,547 19,939 1
Totals of Quebec....c.c..oooienneenn... 120,762,651 |1,191,5616 | 1,359,027 65

(Province of Ontario.)

haicany . ... . LU L Sy 295,804 | 20,524 | 22,221 1
Cornwall. SR LN N S 65,600 7,114 9,904 1
T TERTEN SN IR el B 4 196,160 | 11,873 | 13,294 | 1
© T PO SO s { e 244,744 | 18,777 | 20,598 i
T SNSRI Y 1 313,916 | 17,647 | 22,857 1
AT e R I YL 439,335 | 18,344 | 25,082 1
DETATVE) (OTLT N e - o oo b s RS 1,755 | 21,545 | 27,412 )
Grenville, South......................... 146,460 | 13,197 13,526 1
Leedsand Grenvﬂle, North...... P oot 233,408 13,530 12,929 il
Carleton. . NN el : 414,066 21,739 24,689 il
Brockville.. 78,200 10,475 12,614 1
Betls, Wit 1 . ..ot 415,481 | 20,716 | 22,206 1
Wl Ganlh.. ... ... 375,348 | 19,190 | 20,032 1
AN erth, e . L Ll ke 390,680 13,830 13,943 1
Renfrew,South . . .. .....o. i v it 2,606,154 14,935 19,160 1
Renfrew, North. . 7,892,242 | 14,833 | 20,965 1
Frontenac. . 205,096 16,310 14,993 1
Kingston, Clty : 1,644 12,407 14,091 1
Lennox......... 201,008 | 16,396 | 16,314 1
T S R 1,316,623 | 21,312 | 23,470 1
NI DCEPEICNMNTB v e o7 s« ¢.0% 4t o/ 6 0 ‘mione o 248,130 20, 336 21,044 )
Hastings, Bast ... ...ooeennnnnnnnnnnnn.. 250,910 |  17.: 17,313 1
Rlaetine S AWRERE: & L D e 73,760 14, 17,400 1
Hastings, North............ccoeeeienn... 1,390,721 | 16, 607 20,479 1
Northumberland, East. ................. 304,992 21,758 22,299 1
Northumberland, West........ccceoeneeanenes 170,384 17,328 16,984 1
Peterborough, East..................... 1,830,693 18,706 23,956 1
Petorborou@hiaWests 00 o5 fo. sl 117,255 11,767 13,310 1
isith ol MESTRRES. S e . o oot e ool o 207,835 19,064 18,710 1
I hamy WESEE ... Jod T . i A e 203,370 18,316 17,555 1
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Territorial Population.

ELBCTORAL DISTRICTS. Superficies in Repre-

acres. 1871 1881, sentation.

Viictomia, Sousliss, 1 SRR o e sdtte s <« 264,136 19,244 20,813 1
Victoria, Nioxthes. © . 8. SSFSR I Mwrieers o7: - 571,412 10,956 13,799 1
Muskokamdag ot - TR Rk R e 3,226,320 6,919 27,204 1
Gt airios, SOl . . - - B LB oovcm e ie e 147,660 | 19,923 | 20,378 1
Ontario; Norbh. i . ASRER AT . fute ) 2oeie 402,206 25,967 28,434 1
Toronto, Rlasty, e (I Saimersie. By b, o5 5. 2,002 15,090 24,867 1
TorontoACeRiTer: -\ ro et ET . o v sTors 791 20,647 22,983 1
FLOTONYE), MEB .o poker: LS aPLTIY S Pahols) To ke o « « 3,165 20,355 38,565 1
Vol At T e v M rerariv. « 144,886 | 19,360 | 23,312 1
ORI WOk a g et T v 137,717 | 16,260 | 18,884 1
Work, oty - —ocs- S 0 < ey 295,627 | 24,262 | 24,502 1
Stincoe; SOUIAL . i - o TS Rr1: Fheks e feorasiss 367,048 23,670 26,891 1
SImeoe; NOTBIE. .. ... s ot e = 2 oo Ry 698,155 33,719 49,238 1
S Tl L S {7 (= 8 e S 172,177 | 16,369 | 16,387 1
@amtlvell, LSRR vl A e 243,421 16,500 16,770 1
B Al 0 e o S g SR D o I, oo e i 164,290 [ 20,572 26,152 1
SNPETCN A5 M ) e W ) E L O ) 24,522 3,693 3,445 1
PG50 O T B o Dooc0s FIED B 8% Ao o o) SRS 238,786 16,179 117l 1
T imcolnNes R R R et e 107,501 20,672 22,963 1
Hal dImaamal. .. .5 e o ooiahe sosloreratofer el sfets s o ofore « 228,840 19,042 18,619 1
‘Wentworsh,Soush. L L. 8 4. . L LD 142,776 14,638 14,993 1
WeentwonpheNorth: . LAy, & S ML 145,367 16,245 15,998 1
Hamilton, CHF . ... ... doren e neerpoemsess 2380 | 26,716 | 35,961 2
18 £ 70y O A7 SR R X SRR S 237,953 22,606 21,919 1!
Wellington, South.....ccccoverevriieereennn. 227,827 23,431 25,400 1
Wellington, Centre.......cccccevenevniann. 230,390 21,118 22,265 1
‘Wellington, Noxth .. . . 80005 . L D0, a0 O 359,644 18,740 25,870 L
(T I T8 e = o S o Ao e s e 286,652 18,622 | 21,127 1
Grey, o Banti it . 5% s o e g Ao . 497,923 22,193 29,668 1
KEIE Y, INORTNI ot v el ors " eraye) hdlnoTan (ame lalats o o o « 367,163 18,580 23,334 1
Norfolk, South.....ccceerreeiviineeenninnnns 224 526 15,370 16,374 1
Nozfolk; *Norbhi: . 4 e nErl - e deime 182,160 15,390 17,219 1
BT, SO . o e & e eaants 4 e oo s D 165,706 20,766 | 21,975 1
Brant;y Norbhiis. Sl S wole Sope s < hbia o 105,540 11,493 11,894 1
Waterlno, Soush® s WENENE . & o vesae 169,184 20,995 21,754 1
Waterloo, North......ccceeericecevnenanns 172,092 19,256 20,986 1
g in, et e g e e 8o oienss 234,896 20,870 28,147 ]
LTV P T et A vt SRS 231,539 | 12,786 | 14,214 1
O ond) 1S oMt S 5 i tale o 5 e o b saieet o 229,163 23,678 24,732 1
Oxford, NOTth. ... ..eeueneensreieeenns 956,446 | 24,559 25,361 1
Middlesex, Bast. . . coveunrnnneeenrennnn.. 272,520 | 25,055 30,600 1
IMdldlegex PWIGSTE b Sed Wb . < v Tk ¢ seoecnn 249,627 20,195 21,496 1
Middlesex, North..... .. ......oneeieene 275,598 21,519 21,239 1
LdndoniCilyey . o T - . 5, e se e s 1,907 15,826 19,746 1
Perth, South........conn.... Ao o ST 212,458 21,159 20,778 1
TP iy AN T S T, SR 326,735 25377 | 34,207 1
Huron, South..... AR E ¢ ol R o8 c o el 256,297 21,512 23,393 1
130000 (CTe 7117 Y S S S S 253,087 22,791 26,474 1
o S INORBIES S Tt i o o oraie ssse o o 5 oW 315,330 21,862 27,103 1
IBrtce,  Soubhif.r SR e ek e 427,018 31,332 39,803 1
18RO LEIRINKO T L S ann0 cio ¢ LT o T TR s 621,141 17,183 24,971 1
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Territorial

POPULATION.

ELECTORAL DISTRICTS, Sup?cﬁrzts, in se}ﬁiﬁﬁ)’m
1871 1881.
RSB WOl R, ..t el e oo ve ord o ke 379,006 20,701 27,102 1
T OIS Rere < o)c - - <o .o oo o 600 s oi00/s opo toke opofee 510,671 31,994 42,616 Tk
T o A A ST~ § 412,019 26,836 36,626 1
Essex 450,394 | 32697 | 46,962 1
I3 0 8 0 0 o JUCERCEES JOBIRIR. S 8 5 - 27,605,802 7,018 20,320 1
Totals of Ontario .......coceev.nn.. 65,111,463 [1,620,851 | 1,923,228 88
|
(Province of Manitoba.) |
S EHRIT Y. . NSt v oo v coonchepioiohle o o o200 688,040 3,093 12,771 I
IBROVENCHEYE . Lot « o o o blenslienire ohiios SOEAE T 2,159,760 2,147 11,496 1
T AT =T - ) 783,689 3,254 5,786 | 1
M chaette . ) . ... ..., ooile 80010 B it 4,519,368 3,734 19,449 1
IETHensIoN. | o7 .okl .o, g b W 70,697,143 |........... 16,452 . .
Totals of Manitoba.................. 78,848,000 | *18995 | 65954 4
(Province of British Columnbia.)
Niew Westminstert . | < aia - S s orey: 114,502,400 1,356 15,417 1
CAITDOO0. .« e eeeete e eeaaeaeevennn| 62,982,400 1,955 7,550 1
YRIENVT e i | W gintoiie o Segast NIl (30, 700400 1,316 9,200 1
WHCTOTIR - 5ot e « - L S R e 4,540 7,301 2
WANGANVET Firese - - <ot Beeipeias St S Buidl } HUME R 1,419 9’,991 1
Totals of British Columbia. . .... | 218,435,200 | 136,247 | 49,459 6
he MrrItories: i . .o . s voeese & sl | 4l 706,761,280 56,446 |............
Grand Totals of Canada............. 2,221,059,407 | 3,635,024 | 4,324,810 [ 206

* Including 6,767 Indians.

+ Including 25,661 Indians.

PoruratioN of Cities and Towns having over 5,000 inhabitants compared.

Population.
NAMES. PROVINCFS. Increase. | Decrease.
1871, 1881,

Montreal...22... .. .. ... Quebec. .................. . 107,225] 50 40747 83,582 ... ik
TofontassIMbees . SlOntariony 2 Lial, 0. . g8 56,092/ 86,415/ 30,323.........
Quebec.................[Quebec...c... ...t vunn. .| 59,699 62,446 6 Tl o5 does 6
Halifax...................Nova Scotia.... oo otoedfl A9IE82] 1 3651001 (NG5SR AL
Hamiltony SIS 8 HORkaTio. .. . . . . .c....o. e R NEOGTTITE 35,QGII 9,245..... .

Oftawas . & ARSI o MONATIO. 5 L. b b . oeieeno S| B2IES A5 RID 741 O BIBGT[ X, <7 e
Stadohn. - ZREe SIS F SN Brunswick: . 2. 0. gl M2ESROBE]N2611971x £ o N 2,678
Londont.,,. oot B8 L L N [Onkarie... 0. .. D L LT 165626 195746 3,980 LT
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PoruratioN, &c.—Continued.

Population.
NAMES. PROVINCES, Increasc. | Decrease.
1871. 1881

ot ENaG Lot Belo B, o0 bt ‘N Brunswick.. 12,520, 15,226 2,706) ........
Kingston.. ./Ontario. . ceee..| 12,407 14,091 1508 . .. o 'u
Charlottetown ... . Prince Edward Island. . ..... 8,807| 11,485 2 (D0t S 5easrans
Gelphi 5 o vew oo Bt THOBEANOL S, P S L ol oo 6,878/ 9,890 3012
St. Catharines.........| HOBMBRBION f.. 2 otcb 1« s ue s e 1% o o 7,864 9,631 1 767| ........
Brantford.... ........ RO TIOR3, 15 s & o« o % s AN 8,107 9,616 NGO crerers -l
Bellewille. ..c.ooen o oo JOMBABION . . oot ot v uiaa e 7,305 9,616 2211 ........
Trois-Rivieres..........Qdebec...................,... 7,570 8,670 1100‘..........
St T ROMB!, c1s oo s fudeter MMOMBUBION (oeiciconls o - o 3 ol < oNiis 2194 8,367 S5 5 00 0 oo
Stratford. . ARELA W ()17 1117) S IS AP R ES P 4,313 8,2391 3, 926 .......
Winnipeg.............. I MANIEODA e s seeresrerronnen 241 7,985)f S 744[.... 18000
Chatham. . o ORBABIO s vore) b ore o ags + o« oo ol o o 5,873 7,873 2 OO(M B ALy
Brockville. ... ........ HORBATION: + <+ v5e v e s oasoeevesn | 5,102 THGOGINNNE 507\ ........
i, = .55 0 4 R mng 7,597 GO ..o s
Sherbrooke... coco... .. jQuebeC. .ooveeeiuie i 4,432 7,227) 2,795]........
TR R e S Quebec.......................‘.}...‘...‘. 6,890]c0eereenfeennnnn.
'Peterborough....‘........‘()ntario‘.......... ......... | 4,611 6,812 2,201f.........
WV I DS OB o e eeele e ool JONPAMIOR o oy e, . T o SRSl RS QIOR 8 6,561 2,308/ . ...
St. Henri....ooovvevnen.. Quebee..... o | A (G B - oo o) (5000 6 0
Fredericton............ N. Brunswick., . ..| 6,006 6,218 212;.
Victonian, i . British Columbia. . - 3,270 5,925"  2,655/.
St. Jean Baptxste (Vll-

lage). . . ‘Quebec. . .......iiiiiuin.. 4,408/ 5,874 1,466 -
Sorel. . o EEEE0 s s00adeod o Bob ¢ o886 6 5,636 5,791 155)........
PortHope..............Ontario...........................\ 5,114 5,585, 471 5
Wioedttoele, M. v 8 OO O et Soh e oy ahoroe o ere 3,982 5,373  1,391f...........
St. Hyacmthe........... Quebec e L .05, 3,746 5,321 1 71 | S S st
Galt. . SIOm@niol X5 Ay, SN L L 3,827 5,187 1,360
Lmdﬁay ..Ontario.... o T 4,049 5, 080 ) (0551 | S8 o
Moncton........... _IN. Brunswick...............|........ 5032........

RELIGIONS OF THE PEOPLE.

Baptists.
f | Church
PROVINCES. Advent- Tumkers. Catholies, of Congrega-
ists, | — Brethren.| Roman. England. tional.
Baptists. Free Will.| Menon-

| ites.
P. Edward Island. 13 5,588 648|......... 17 47,115 7,192 20
Nova Scotia... .. 1,5636] 73,1491 10, 612; 218} 117,487 60,255 3,506
New Brunswick. . 738 49,489' 31 603| 164/ 109,091] 46,768 1,372
Quebées,. " sl 4,210 5, 988l 2 ,865]. 682 1,170,718] 68,797 5,244
Ontario. . 696] 88, 948 13) 408 7,714 320,839) 366,539 16,340
Mamtoba. 8 1 638 35 7,776 29 12,246/ 14,297 343
British Columbsia.. 10 424 04 . 7 10,043 7,804 7
The Territories. . 12% Bl el . o 4,443 SHLEEIIS

Grand Totals .. 2011 22552 36; 50,055! 21,234 8,831 1,791 ,982} 574,818| 26,900
v
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ReLIGIONS OF THE PEOPLE—Continued.

Methodists,
Episco- ]
PROVINCES. Disci- pal Jews. | Luther-| church l | Bible Pagan,
ples. |Reform- ans. of Episcopal.| Chris- | Primi- | Other.
ed. Canada. tian, | tive.
|

| | |
P. Edward Island. 594 L] PR 4| 11,052 21 2403 ...... ()
Nova Secotia.......| 1,826 99 19| 5,639 50,214 148/ 436 2 e
New Brunswick..| 1,476 ~ 478| 55| 324| 34,302 1')2 43 9! 8 2
Quebec............ 121‘ 423 989| 1,003 38,026 "’29 357 42 67 6
ONtarior., . s .. .. 16, 001i 989| 1,193 37,901| 436,987 101 000‘ 23,726 25,555; 3,730 1,499
Manitoba..........| 102 1/ 33 ‘084 8508 641 257  64...... | 2,173
British Columbia. 23l 593 104| 491 3,416 73| 14 8 5 437

The Territories....|.. .. .. . 4 458 3w| " .| 361

Grand Totals . .!20,193] 2,596 2,393] 46,350| 582,963 10'3,272 .44,236? 23,680‘ 3, 830 4, 478

Presbyterians. }

Other 1

Pro- Uni- De- !

PROVINCES. Church | Church test- | Qua- |Unitar-| versal-| nomin-| No Not

o o Reform- |Other.| 30t8. | kers. | ians. | ists. | ations.|Religion| Given.

Canada. |Scotland| ed. ‘

[ |

|
P. Edward Island| 29,304| 4,004 163| 364 15 5 16 78 139 14 100
Nova Seotia. ...... 94,760 15,567 2,150 11 15 7T 68 673, 355 121! 1,618
New Brunswick.. 39,102 1,626] 2,136 24‘ 50 21 14(1 375 311 114 1,260
Quebec. .... 45,651 3 246{ 1,034} 356, 2,432 86 ()10 2 021 234 432 2,608
Ontario. .. 402,312‘ 7,9(54 6,912 301| 2,978 6,307| 1 13 1 333 10,983| 1, 756/ 12 965
Manitoba.. ] 13, 928! 63 277 24 45, 43 ZO 8 68 16/ 2 327
British Columbla 3 48‘3[ 330 251 26 292| I3 54 29/ 2,128 180 19,131
The Territories. .| 47 34 22.....| 692 1 . 1 1| 46,760

| { |
kGra.nd Totals. . 629,280| 32,834] 12,945(1,106 6,519} 6,553 2,126‘7 4,517(14,269| 2,634 86,76?

BIRTHPLACES OF THE PEOPLE.
¢ , British Isles. Canada.
PROVINCES. ] Prince '
England, | Ireland. | Scotland. | Edward Nova New | Quebec.
Wales. ! Island. Scotia. |Brunswick.
|
|

Prince Edwird Island. 1,728 2, 915 3,425 95,234 2,507 1,346 177
Nova Scotia . ...... 4,813 5 600 10,851 1,639, 405,687 4,482 441
New Brunswick ..... 4,174/ 16, 355! 4,168 2,719 6,160/ 277,643 3127
Guebech: SMIRSES. 10 12,909 27 3/9' 10,237 586 813! 1,272 1.269,075
Ontario . ... ...ccove....| 139,031 130 094 82,173 686 3,706, 2,801 50,407
Manitoba, ........... 3,457 1 836 2,868 154 820 341 4,085
British Columbia . ... 3,294 1,285 1,204 23 379, 374 396
The Territories....... 98 62 136 6 16} 6. 101
Grand totals of Canada 169,504‘ 183,526| 115,062) 101,047 420,('88‘I 288,265! 1,327,809
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BIRTHPLACES OF THE PEOPLE.—Continued.

Canada. Other British Possessions.
PROVINCES.

Ontario. Manitoba. | British TheTer- |Newfound-{ Channel |Other Pos-

Columbia. | ritories, land. Islands. | sessions.

|

Princec Edward Island. LU Eore SR S 1 ', s o 671 12 63

Nova Scotia ..........| 333.e ot 6 1 2,058 57 460

New Brunswick ......| 310 1 S 2 262 43 131

Quebec ...:....oooee 10,379 39 19 48 809 342 339

Ontario .............| 1,435,647 62 42 158 771 345 | 1,490

Manitoba .............| 19,125 18,020 25 | 6,422 16 4 52

British Columbia .... .| 1,572 24 | 32175 14 8 10 193

The Territories.. . .....| 517 L1.450 B 58S ' i 1 5

| .
Grand totalsof Canada 1,467,988 19,590 ’ 32.275 | 58,430 | 4,506 814 | 2,733
Russia \ Spain Sweden,l Other
PROVINCES. France. | Ger- | Italy. and  |and Por-| N. and | United | Coun- | At Not
many. Peland. | tugal. | Den- | States. [ tries. | Sea. | given.
' mark.
. l [

Prince Edward Island. 15, 14 9 2! 1 11 609 11}  § 28

f

Nova Scotia ..........| 222/ 254| 36| 10| 23 114] 3,004] 166 45 270
New Brunswick ......| 63 203 22 6| 14 444 5,108 52/ 23 200
Quebec . euuenn.......| 2,239 1,023 231] 231 50/  358!19,415 545 30 665
Ontaiof ol e el 1,549 23,270| 378| 444 103‘ 852 45,454 1,208| 256, 2,211
Manitoba . ...........| 81| 220 23| 5651 1 1210 17521 7Tl 7 102
British Columbia....| 193 344 78 32 23 170 2,295 4611 1L 751
The Territories........| 27 ...... e B e B . ‘ 2,107
|
Grand totalsof Canada 4,389 25,328 777 6,376 I 6,334

215‘\ 2,076i TIT53 7455 350

\

The total population of the Dominion of Canada in 1881 will be found to be
4,324 810, nearly five millions, the amount of population with which the United
States Republic began its marvellous career. The number of immigrants
into Canada we find, by the Report of the Minister of Agriculture for 1881, to
be 80,238 for that year. A valuable colony of the Quaker-like Russian secta-
ries, the Mennonites, have settled in the North-West, and the attention of
English statesmen and philanthropists is being increasingly turned to Mani-
toban emigration as a preventive—it cannot be a remedy—for pauperism and
discontent.

The churches of Canada have risen in numbers and efficiency with the
general growth of the country. The historic Church of England, which had but
one Canadian bishop fifty years ago, has now twenty or more colleges like
the Universities of Trinity, in Toronte, and of Lennoxville, in the Province of
Quebec. Her congregations have multiplied in every county; her clergy have
no need of “Reserves;” she has not even felt the withdrawal of the liberal

-
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yearly subsidy given in former years by the Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel. In Toronto the evangelical section of her communion have lately
built and endowed a second college, that of Wyeliffe Hall. The Roman Catholic
Church retains her ancient hold on the pious habitants of the Province of
Quebec ; within the last twenty years the Jesuits have raised in Montreal the
“Jesu,” one of the most beautiful churches on the continent, a building worthy
of the order and its glorions missionary traditions.

In Toronto, the Metropolitan Church is a monument of the impulse for good
communicated to Canadian Methodism by the ministry there of Mr. Morley
Punshon. Our Upper Canada Methodism, the pioneer church of the yet un-
settled wilderness, began by preaching in barns and backwoods log-huts ; it now
builds cathedrals for services remarkable for classical music and cultured
preaching. The other Protestant churches are pretty well balanced in numbers
and popularity. The census shows that the Roman Catholics number 1,791,982 ;
the Church of Canada Methodists, 582,963 ; the Episcopal, 103,272 ; the Bible
Christian, 27,236 ; the Primitive, 25,680, and others unclassed, 25,680 ; the
Church of England has 574,818. Of Pagans it appears there are still amongst
us 3,830. The church spire of one or other of the Protestant denominations
rises from every village, and now that the old leaven of uncharitableness, caused
by the Clergy Reserves controversy, has died away, the various divisions of
Protestant Christianity are learning to dwell together in unity.

It has been mentioned in the course of this history that the first territorial
division of Upper Canada was into four districts. These succeeded a number
of smaller districts, such as the Talbot District, a division which we find in
maps as lJate as 1838. But in referring to the Revised Statutes of Upper
Canada, we find, for the year 1798, a division into counties for the most part
identical with those of the present day, although in some cases both names and
boundaries have since been changed. Thus we find it enacted “that the
triangular tract of land heretofore called Townsend Gore be added to the town-
ship of Burford, and formn part thereof.” And again, “that the townships of
Burford, Norwich, Dereham, Oxford, Blandford, and Blenheim, do constitute
the county of Oxford.” The next territorial division is a rearrangement of
these counties in the Statutes of 1849, wherein the present county of Brant
forms part of the county of Oxford.

Again, in the Statutes for 1849, the first mention of the County Brant is
made. It consisted then of six townships, Brantford, Burford, South Dumfries,
Onondaga, Uakland, Tuscarora, and of the towns of Brantford and Paris.

In estimating the intellectual progress of the Dominion, we must take into
account these main aspects of its evolution, the educational advance, journalism,
literature in its various forms, and the fine arts. As to education, some account
of its progress has been already given. Although the Jesuits, who were
esteemed the best educators of their day, did something, the Duke de Roche-
foucald could write, in 1787, that the Canadian who was able to write was a
phenomenon. In 1807 the first Education Act, passed in Upper Canada, estab-
lished grammar schools in each of the eight districts of the Province. The
history of the public school has been already given. The University of Toronto
was opened in 1847; Upper Canada College, which once did work that has now
passed to all the Collegiate Institutes, opened at the same time. In 1834 the

, »
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Wesleyans founded Victoria College, now one of. the most flourishing of our
denominational colleges, under the able direction of Dr. Nelles, The Kirk of
Scotland opened Queen’s College, Kingston, in 1841 ; the Presbyterian Church
of Canada, Knox College, Toronto, in 1844. Trinity College, Church of Eng-
land, was the outcome of the secularization of our Provinecial University in
1849. The Baptists established the Woodstock Literary Institute in 1857 ; the
Methodists, Albert College, Belleville, in 1878 ; and the evangelical party in
the Church of England, the Western University at London, in 1878,

In Nova Scotia, King’s College, at Windsor, goes back as far as 1788. Dal-
housie College at Halifax dates from 1820. Acadia College, in Horton, was
instituted by the Baptists in 1831. In 1843, the Wesleyan University of Sack-
ville was founded at Sackville, New Brunswick. In the census of 1881 the
following very gratifying summary of our educational statistics is found :—
Total number of educational institutions in the Dominion, 13,000 ; number of
pupils in attendance during the year, 925,000 ; amount annually contributed
for purposes of education by the State and the people, $6,700,000.

As to journalism, some account has already been given of its early struggles
in Upper Canada, and of the influence exercised by Le Canadien in the Lower
Province. In looking over the files of the journals on both political sides,
preserved in the Parliament Library, Toronto, one is struck with the coarse per-
sonality, the frequent solecism, and the badness of the writing both in form
and matter. Regularly arranged, methodical news editing there is none. It is
witty in a Reform journal to call Lord Metcalfe “Old Squaretoes;” in a Tory
paper to speak of M. Lafontaine as “a rebel fattening for the gallows.” We
have changed all that, it is to be hoped may truly be said, though there is still
far too much bitterness, and too little “ sweetness and light,” in our best journal-
ism. The ablest editorial writing we find in the Colonist (Tory), in Mackenzie’s
Colonial Advocate, and Sir Franecis Hineks’ Eraminer and Pilot. At last in 1844
appeared a really first-class newspaper, a title which no political partizanship
can withhold from the Globe. In 1852 Mr. Beaty established the Zeader, an
able Conservative journal. In 1857 the lamented McGee came to Canada, and
displayed his brilliant versatile talents in the columns of the Montreal New Era.
In 1867 the Conservatives of Upper Canada had for the first time the advantage
of being represented by a really first-class paper, the Toronto Mazl. Inillustrated
papers Canada is as yet poor, the only goud one being the genial and witty
comic paper Grip, edited by an artist who is also a poet and a humorous writer,
and who never sneers at religion or stoops to carrion.

As to literature, viewed distinctly from journalism, Lower Canada has pro-
duced nothing before the conquest, and but a scanty list of really good original
works since, except the historic works of Le Moyne and Garnean. The latter
has given us, from a point of view very partial to the Catholics and the French,
the history of the French Canadian from: the earliest times. His hero is M.
Papineau, in whose favour damaging facts are a little too gently treated. In
fiction, the “Jean Rivaud” of M. Geru Lajore, and “ Les Ancien Canadien” of
M. de Gaspe, are pleasing local tales. In poetry, a far greater success has been
won by M. Honore de Frechette, whose two volumes of lyrics, ecrowned by the
French Academy, have furnished a type of poetry unknown before even to the
rich literature of Fravce, by their presentation, in a graceful style, instinct
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with local colouring and tradition, of the scenery of Canada. MM. Le May,
Cremazie and several others have also published some commendable poetry. D.
Larue and M. Ernest Gagrien have lately given us a valuable collection of the
chansons of the Lower Canadian peasants, mauny of which are peculiarly sweet
and piquant, and belong to a form of ballad, unique in itself, which ought not to
be allowed to die out. Early in the history of Upper Canada we find mention
of bookstores and ecirculating libraries. In 1836 Mis. Jameson, authoress of
“ Legends of the Madonna,” spent some time in Toronto ; the Stricklands, Judge
Haliburton and Mr. John Galt, are names more or less associated with our Eng-
lish-speaking community. The first experiment at a literary serial was the
Canadion Magazine, in 1823 ; but a far abler publication was the Canadian
Magazine, in 1533.

For the last ten years a review of a very high class was edited by Mr. G.
Mercer Adam, and only discontinued a year ago. In science we can boast of
two writers of European reputation, Principal Dawson, of McGill College, and
Professor Daniel Wilson, now President of the University of Toronto. The
best poetry yet written in Canada has appeared in the columns of the Cana-
dian Monthly Review, and the works of Kate Seymour MeLean and Miss
Machar, of Kingston, of Charles Roberts, of New Brunswick. and the dramas
of Charles Heavysiege, show that poetic power is not wanting amongst us.
Of these names, by far the highest is that of Mr. Roberts, whose “ Orion ” is a
picture of Greek life drawn with a strength of hand which no other writer in
Canada is capable of. Mr. Roberts has been for some years a leading contributor
to Seribner. His “ Brother Cuthbert ” is a dramatic lyric of great power. In
the manipulation of new metrical combinations, and in wealth and force of
imagery, this poet has attained to a rare excellence. He always “draws from
a full ecask,” and we feel inclined, like little Oliver Twist, to ask for “ more.”
The presence in this country of so original a thinker, and so brilliant a writer,
as Mr. Goldwin Smith, has given a powerful stimulus to literature in Toronto,
and his Bystander, published quarterly, gives us the comments of one of the
ablest of the writers the England of our day has produced, on the passing
events of our history. In miscellaneous literature we have, in a special de-
partment, Colonel Denison’s work on cavalry, which gained a prize from the
Emperor of Russia. In biography Mr. Lindsey’s “ Life of William Lyon Mae-
kenzie ” is an interesting and vivid presentment of a remarkable career. Mr.
Fennings Taylor has written some readable biographies of Episcopal and other
worthies. The late Mr. Watson, of Toronto, has left in his “ Constitutional
History of Canada,” a work remarkable for its lucid style, and clear insight into
our constitutional history. Mrs. Moodie’s “ Roughing it in the Bush ” is a pic-
ture, valuable to the future historian, of the hardships of pioneer life in the
backwoods. Her style is graceful, and often displays much humour. Mr.
Alpheus Todd, who holds the position of Librarian to the Dominion Parliament
at Ottawa, has written a “ History of Parliamentary Precedent and Constitu-
tional Usage,” which has already been regarded as a classical authority in
England. “The Canadian Portrait Gallery,” by Mr. Dent, is a valuable and
pleasantly-written series of short biographies of our leading public men. ¢ Pic-
turesque Canada,”* published by the Art Publishing Co. of Toronto, is a work

* NoTE.—Several of the best articles in this work were written by Dr. C. Pelham Mulvany.—"
THE PUBLISHERS.
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to the artistic merits of which it is impossible to give too high praise. Of the
literary part, those articles written by Principal Grant, Miss McLean and Mr.
G. Mercer Adam, are an honour to Canadian literature. The artist to whom
this work is most indebted is Mr. O’Brien, President of the Canadian Aca-
demy, several of whose pictures, illustrating Canadian seenery, have been pur-
chased by Queen Victoria, and hung up in Windsor Castle and others of the
royal palaces. Princess Louise has herself some taste for art, aud has given
encouragement to Canadian artists. The last two exhibitions of the Academy
held in Toronto show a great improvement in the number and ability of our
artists. Mr. Verner, Mrs, Schrieber, Mr. John Fraser, and Mr. Watson, with
many others, might be mentioned.

To return to literature. In the department of history we have a good and
original work on Canadian annals, “ The Last Forty Years in Canada,” by
John Charles Dent. This is well written, often eloquent, and always, we
believe, reliable. Withrow’s “ History ” is a mere compilation; McMullen’s is
better, but having been written at Brockville, the writer had not sufficient
access to original authorities and documents. *“The Scot in British North
America,” by Mr. W.J. Rattray, is one of our best historfeal works. A pleasing
historic monogram appeared lately, the « Life and Speeches of the Hon. George
Brown.” It is somewhat hastily put together, and does not give—what would
have been so useful to students of Canadian politics—a thorough analysis of
the conditions of the times in which George Brown and his newspaper fought
the battle of Reform. While this portion of our work is preparing for press,
Mr. J. E. Collins has given to our literature what we believe is sure to prove
the most brilliant and exhaustive of political biographies published in this
country. It has, like all great historical works, the interest of truth stranger
and more captivating than that of fiction. We must not close this brief sketch
of Canadian literature without giving a meed of well-earned praise to Mr. G.
Mercer Adam, editor for many years of the above-named Cunadian Monthly.
This gentleman, without hope of reward, has given all his time to the encour-
agement of our struggling literature. Neither of the party chiefs have helped
or thanked him. The same disregard of high literary excellence has been
shown by the Conservative party to Mr. R. W. Phipps, who put into their
hands the talisman which gained them office, the *National Policy;” Mr.
Phipps is par excéllence the pamphlet writer of Canada. His command. of ver-
nacular illustration and of telling and exhaustive invective, is unrivalled by
any writer in the “ great party organs.” Some of his letters have been known
to sell 300 extra copies of a small and impecunious local daily, to which Mr.
Phipps was generous enough to afford the too occasional aid of his pen. Harvey’s
“ Acadia ” is an interesting monograph. We consider that all such local gleau-
ings of incident and personal recollections, if not collected now, must soon be
lost by the death of the older generations, and most important materials for the
future historian thus pass into oblivion.  From this point of view the “ His-
tory of the County of Brant” may, we trust, be found useful. No pains have
been spared in gathering up the precious and yet perishable material, which
exists in the memories of the old, the records of churches and public institutions,
and personal observations of those who have been professionally or otherwise
active in the country during the last fifty years.
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INDIAN HISTORY.
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CAPTAIN JOSEPH BRANT



CAPT. JOSEPH BRANT (THAYENDANEGEA),

THE DISTINGUISHED MOHAWK INDIAN CHIEF, SACHEM AND WARRIOR,

PARENTAGE.

The birth and parentage of this celebrated Indian leader, whose career is a
part of the general history of two great civilized nations, as well as an important
factor in the local history of the particular county which bears his name, is
involved in uncertainty.

His biographer (Stone), who wrote as late as 1865, thus alludes to the circum-
stance : “The Indians have no heralds’ college in which the lineage of their
great men can be traced, or parish registers of marriages and births, by which
a son can ascertain his paternity. Ancestral glory and shame are therefore only
reflected darkly through the dim and uncertain twilight of tradition. By some
authors, Thayendanegea -has been called a half-breed ; by others he has been
pronounced a Shawanese by parentage, and only a Mokawk by adoption.”

He has also been mentioned as a son of Sir William Johnson; Drake, the
well known writer of Indian biography, ealls Brant an Onondaga of the Mo-
hawk tribe. Other writers have allowed him the honor of Mohawk blood,
but have denied that he was descended from a chief.

During the year 1819, the Christian ERecorder, then published at Kingston,
presented a brief account of the life and character of Brant. In that memoir it
was stated that he was born on the banks of the Ohio, whither his parents
had emigrated from the Valley of the Mohawk, and where they are said to
have sojourned several years.

"« Hus mother at length returned with two children—Mary, who lived with Sir
William Johnson, and Joseph, the sulject of this memoir. Nothing was known of
Brant’s father among the Mohawks. Soon after the return of this family to
Canajoharie, the mother married a respectable Indian called Carrikogo, or news-
carrier, whose Christian name was Burnet, or Bernard ; but by way of contraction
he went by the name of * Brant’.”

Hence it is argued that the lad who was to become the future war chief was
first known by the distinctive appellation of Brant's Joseph, and in process of
time, by inversion, “ JoSEpH BRraxNT.” *

“There is an approximation to the truth in this relation,” says Stone, “and
it is in part sustained by the family tradition. The facts are these: The Six

* Christian Register, 1819, Vol. 1, No. 3, published at Kingston, and edited by the Rev. Doctor;
afterwards the Honourable and Venerable Archdeacon Strachan, of Toronto. Dr, Strachan wrote
the sketches upon information received from the Rev. Dr. Stewart, formerly a missionary in the
Mohawk Valley. /
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Nations have carried their arms far to the west and south. : X ; :
To the Ohio and Sandusky country they asserted a peremptory claim extending
to the right of soil, at least as far as Presquiisle. From their associations in
that country, it had become usual among them, especially the Mohawks, to
make temporary removals to the west during the hunting seasons, and one or
more of those families would frequently remain abroad among the Miamis, the
Hurons, or the Wyandots, for a longer or shorter period as they chose. One
of the consequences of this intercommunication was the numerous family alliances
existing between the Six Nations and others at the west, the Wyandots in par-
ticular. It was while his parents were abroad upon one of those excursions, that
Thayendanegea was born, in the year 1742, on the banks of the Ohio.

The home of his family was at the Canajoharie Castle, the central of the
three castles of the Mohawks, in their native valley. His father’s name was
Tehowaghwengaraghkwin, a full-blooded Mohawk of the Wolf Tribe. Thayen-
danegea was very young when his father died. His mother married a second
time to a Mohawk ; and the family tradition at present is, that the name of
Brant was acquired in the manner assumed by the publication already cited.
There is reason to doubt the accuracy of this tradition, however, since it is be-
lieved that there was an Indian family of some consequence and extent bearing
the English name of Brant. Indeed, from the extracts from the recently dis-
covered manuscripts of Sir William Johnson, it may be questioned whether
Tehowaghwengaraghkwin and an old chief, sometimes called, by Sir William,
Brant, and at others Nickus Brant, were not one and the same person., The denial
that he was a born chief is likewise believed to be incorrect. It is very true that
among the Six Nations chieftainship was not necessarily obtained by inheritance;
but in regard to Thayendanegea there is no doubt that he was of royal blood.”

“The London Magazine for July, 1776, contains a sketch of him, probably
furnished by Boswell, with whom he was intimate during his first visit to
England, in 1775-6. In that account it is affirmed as a fact without question
that he was the grandson of one of the five sachems who visited England in 1710,
during the reign of Queen Anne.

“In the life of the first President Wheelock, by the Rev. Messrs. McClure
and Parish, it is asserted that the father of Joseph Brant was Sachem of th
Mohawks after the death of the famous King Hendrick.” :

Much other evidence might be added to support the generally accepted state-
ment of a recent local writer, to the following effect :

“Thayendanegea, or Joseph Brant, as he was called in English, according to
tradition was born on the banks of the ¢ Belle,” or Beautiful River, according to
the French, or ‘Oh-he-oh,’ according to the Indian vocabulary, about the year
1742,

“He was the youngest son of a distinguished Mohawk chief, mentioned in
various records and traditions, under the English or German name of ‘Nickus
Brant,” between whom and Sir William Johnson it is said a close intimacy
subsisted.” e

Boyxoob.

_ «“Of the early youth of Joseph Brant there are no accounts, other than that
he was very young when first upon the war-path.”
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“Three sons of ¢ Nickus Brant’ accompanied the expedition against Crown
Point in 1755, which was commanded by Gen. William Johnson. J oseph was
the younger of the three, and could not have been over 13 or 14 years of age at
that time. This expedition was successful, and procured for Sir Wm. Johnson
his title of Baronet, and a gratuity of five thousand pounds from the King.”

The Mohawks in this engagement were led by their celebrated king, the
brave old Hendrick, who was slain.

EDUCATION.

That Thayendanegea was to a certain extent benefited by the Christian-
izing and eivilizing efforts of the influential representatives of the royal
authority with whom he was associated, is substantiated by every unprejudiced
source from which information can be drawn.

That Sir William Johnson was deeply interested in the success of the
philanthropic efforts which were then being made in behalf of the Indians,
is sufficiently illustrated by the following letter, which has been preserved
among the papers of that gallant officer :

“ ForT JOHNSOYN, Nov. 17th, 1761.

“ REV, SIr,—Yours of the second instant I had the pleasure of receiving by
the hands of Mr. Kirkland. I am pleased to find the lads I sent have merited
your good opinion of them. I have given it in charge to Joseph (Brant) to
speak in my name to any good boys he may see, and encourage them to
accept the generous offer now made them, which he premises to do, and return
as soon as possible. I will, on return of the Indians from hunting, advise
them to send as many as is required. I expect they will return, and hope
they will make such progress in the FEnglish language and their learning, as
may prove to your satisfaction and the benefit of those, who are really much
to be pitied. My absence these four months has prevented my design of en-
couraging some more lads going to you, and since my return, which is but
lately, I have not had an opportunity of seeing old or young, being all on
their hunt. When they come back I shall talk with and advise their parents
to embrace this favourable opportunity of having their children instructed, and
doubt not of their readiness to lay hold of so kind and charitable an offer.

“ Mr. Kirkland’s intention of learning the Mohawk language I most approve
of, as after acquiring it he could be of vast service to them as a clergyman,
which they much want and are desirous of having. k

“The present laudable design of instructing a number of Indian boys will,
1 doubt not, when more known, lead several gentlemen to contribute towards
it, and enable you thereby to increase the number of scholars, with whom I
shall not be backward to contribute my mite.

“I wish you all success in this undertaking, and am with truth and sin-
cerity,

“Rev. Sir,
“Your most humble servant,

« WM. JOHNSON.”
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“ The exertions of Sir William Johnson to improve the moral and social con-
dition 6f his Mohawk neighbours were not the least of his praiseworthy labours
among that brave and chivalrous people. Having aided in the building of
churches, and locating missionaries among them, at the request of the Rev. Mr.
Kirkland and others he selected a number of young Mohawks, and caused them
to be sent to the Moor Charity School at Lebanon, Connecticut, under the
immediate dirvection of the Rev. Doctor Eleazer Wheelock, afterwards President
of Dartmouth College, of which, by its transfer, the Moor school became the
foundation.*

“ Among the Indian youths thus selected was young Thayendanegea. The
precise year in which he was placed in charge of Doctor Wheelock cannot now
be ascertained. The school was opened for the reception of Indian pupils,
avowedly as an Indian missionary school, in 1748; the first Indian scholar,
Samson Occun, having been received into it five years before.”

The various writers who have treated of the deeds and character of Captain
Brant, differ widely as to his scholastic attainments, and the length of time
which he passed at the Moor school. One authority (Dr. Stewart) says he
made but little proficiency in his studies. His chief biographer, Stone, after
what appears to have been a thorough consideration of all the available docu-
mentary and traditional evidence, thus concludes :

“ The fact, however, that Charles Jeffrey Smith, a missionary to the Mohawks,
took Thayendanegea as an interpreter in: the year 1762, and gave him an excellent
character, presents a much more favourable idea of his progress in learning.”

From MecClure’s “ Life of Wheelock,” the following extract is made, as bearing
upon this point: “Sir William Johnson, Superintendent of Indian Affairs in
North Ameriga, was very friendly to the design of Mr. Wheelock, and at his
request sent several boys of the Mohawks to be instructed. One of these was
the since celebrated Joseph Brant, who, after receiving lis education, was par-
ticularly noticed by Sir William Johnson, and employed by him in public
business,” ete. »

Among the Indian youths*who accompanied Thayendanegea to the Moor
school were several Mohawks and two Delawares, the latter having preceded the
others some little time. One member of this party was a half-breed named Wil-
liam, who was®supposed to have been a son of Brant’s friend and patron.

“ Only two of the number remained,” says Stone, “ to receive the honours of the
future College (Dartmounth). The others, impatient of the restraints of school,
and delighting more in the chase of game than of literary honours, returned to
their hunter state in about two years. Thayendanegew probably left the school
ot the same time.”

From Dr. Wheelock’s «Narrative of the Indian Charity School,” published
in 1763, it is learned that “Joseph Braunt, a Mohawk Indian of a family of
distinction in that nation, was educated by Mr. Wheelock, and was so well
accomplished that the Rev. Charles Jettrey Smith took him for his interpreter
when he went on his mission to the Mohawks, now three years ago. But the

* The Moor Charity School was established with the philanthgopic design of educating Indian
boys, and was continued for a length of time, but with indifferent success, so far as the original
object was concerned. It was originated and principally supported by the patronage of English
philanthropists.
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war breaking out at that time between the back Indians and the English, Mr.
Smith was obliged to return; but Joseph tarried and went out with a company
against the Indians. He behaved so much like the Christian and the soldier
that he gained great esteem. He now lives in a decent manner, and endeavours
to teach his poor brethren the things of God, in which his own heart seems
much engaged. His house is an asylum for the missionaries in that wilderness.”

It is not stated which particular campaign it was that the young warrior was
engaged in at the time, but a passage contained in a letter from Sir William
Johnson to Dr. Wheelock, and dated April 25, 1764, affords a clue to the desired
information: “J——1is just returned from an expedition against the enemy,”
ete., ete. It was therefore early in the spring of 1764 that he returned from
the war-path ; this makes it probable that the war was none other than that
against the great Ottawa chief, Pontiac, who in 1763 attempted to dispossess
the English of the country of the lakes.

That Brant was possessed of at least a fair degree of culture is established
beyond doubt. The English historian, Weld, in his “ Travels through the States
of North America, and the Provinces of Upper and Lower Canada, during the
years 1795, 1796 and 1797,” has the following notice of Capt. Brant:

‘ Brant, at a very early age, was sent to a college in New England, where,
being possessed of a good capacity, he soon made very considerable progress in
the Greek and Latin languages.

“Uncommon pains were taken fo instil into his mind the truths of the
‘Gospel. He professed himself to be a warm admirer of the principles of
Christianity ; and, in hopes of being able to convert his nation, on returning to
them he absolutely translated the Gospel of St. Matthew into the Mohawk
langnage ; he also translated the established ¢ Form of Prayer’ of the Church of
England.

* * * * 25

“Whenever the affairs of his nation shall permit him to do so, Brandt declares
it to be his intention to sit down to the study of the Greek language, of which
he professes himself a great admirer, and to translate from the original into the
Mohawk language more of the New Testament.”

Many other proofs of his ability might be added to those already given, but
enough has been produced to disprove the charge of illiteracy or the lack of
culture.

BRANT AS A WARRIOR.

Mention has already been made of his having been a participant in the expe-
dition against Crown Point, in the year 1755, when but thirteen years of age.
It is reported that in relating the particulars of this engagement to Dr.
Stewart, the youthful warrior acknowledged that this being the first action at
which he was present, he was seized with such a tremor when the firing began,
that he was obliged to take hold of a small sapling to steady himself; but that
after the discharge of a few volleys he recovered the use of his limbs and the
composure of his mind, so as to support the character of a brave man, of which
he was exceedingly ambitious.

His next experience appears to have been with the expedition against Niagara
in 1759. This important post was then in possession of the French. The move-
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ment was organized under the command of Gen Prideaux, and consisted of a
little over two thousand men, who left Oswego for Niagara on the 1st of Sep-
tember, 1759.

Sir William Johnson joined the expedition with about six hundred warriors
of the Six Nations. This number was increased to about one thousand before
reaching the vicinity of the fort. The youthful warrior accompanied Sir
William in this expedition. The French had drawn all their available forces of
every description from their western posts for the defence of Niagara.

A large detachment arrived in the vicinity during the siege, consisting of
both French and Indians. These Indians were friends and allies of the Six
Nations. A parley between the Indians*was held, the western Indians'declaring
they did not come to fight their brethren of the Six Nations, but the English.
The result was they detached themselves and joined their brethren. In the
early part of the siege General Prideaux was killed by the accidental discharge
of a “ cohorn,” and the command devolved upon Sir William Johnson. Upon
the withdrawal of the western Indians, the French were attacked, and all
either killed, taken prisoners, or put to flight.

Upon learning the fate of this reinforcement, the French commandant sur-
rendered the fort, himself, and all his forces prisoners of war.*

His connection with the Pontiac war has been mentioned as having taken
place in 1763-4. It was probably his third venture upon the uncertain field of
combat.

In what particular battles he was engaged does not appear; but he was in
the war, and his courageous and enterprising spirit offered the best evidence
that he was promptly on hand, regardless of obstructions and danger. From
all accounts now at hand, it appears that the Pontiac war was the last import-
ant campaign in which Brant participated, until the outbreak of those pre-
monitory mutterings, which terminated in open rebellion by a portion of the
American colonies.

By reference to that portion of this sketch which treats of his social and
domestic relations, it will be seen that this period of his career was exceedingly
tranquil.

That he was, by his associations with Sir William Johnson, most thoroughly
tutored in the details of the relation which,his people bore to both the loyal
and disloyal elements of the English dependencies in this country, is certainly
established by what transpired later.

CHIEFTAINSHIP.

“ About this time” (1771), says one authority, “ Brant was made Principal
War Chief of the Confederacy.”+ Stone’s language is altogether inferential,
but as his statements appear to be the foundation of all that has been written
since the publication of his work, they are given entire :

“ Thayendanegea had now been advanced to the situation of Principal War
Chief of the Confederacy. (I am aware that the dignity of Principal Chief has

* Mr. Stone expresses the opinion that Brant entered the ‘‘ Moor Charity School ” soon aftel”
his return from this Niagara campaign.
+ Mrs. Carey, Brantford, 1872.
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been denied to Captain Brant by several writers, and expressly by Rev. Mr.
Stewart, who says he was not a war chief by birth, and not so often in
command as has been supposed. It will be seen, however, from the speech of
a Seneca chief that Thayendanegea was the head chief of the Six Natious,
Mr. Stewart to the contrary notwithstanding). This important office was
uniformnly filled by a warrior selected from the Mohawks. How or in what
manner Brant arrived at that dignity history does not inform us. Hendrick,
the last of the Mohawk chiefs, who bore the title of ‘King, fell at Lake
George twenty years before. He was succeeded by Little Abraham, who has
been designated by some writers as a brother of Hendrick, but whether he was
or not, he was uniformly friendly to the colonists, and refused to leave the
valley with Thayendanegea and the majority of the nation who accompanied
Guy Johnson in his flight. It is not improbable that Brant assumed the
superior chieftaincy from the force of circumstances.

“From certain letters of Sir William Johnson to Arthur Lee,it is learned that
the sachems of each tribe of the Six Nations were usually chosen in a public
assembly of the chiefs and warriors, whenever a vacancy happened by death, or
otherwise. They were selected from among the oldest warriors for their sense
and bravery, and approved of by the whole tribe. Military services were the
chief reconimendations to this rank, but in some instances a kind of inheritance
was recognized. ‘

“We have seen that Thayendanegea was descended from a family of chiefs,
and his birth may have contributed to this elevation. His family and official
connection with Johnson, whose name was so potent with the Indians, without
doubt facilitated his advancement.

“The inquiry is, however, of little importance. The fact that he had now
become the chief sachem is unquestionable, and from this point he becomes a
principal personage in the history of the English-speaking people of America.

“He was ordinarily called by his other name of Joseph Brant, or ¢ Captain
Brant’—the title of ‘captain’ being the highest military distinction known to
the Indians; and that, moreover, being the rank conferred upon him in the
army of the Crown.”

In much of his correspondence, when wishing to be formal, and when writing
to distinguished men, he was accustomed to write his name “JOSEPH BRANT—
Thayendanegea,” the latter being his legitimate Indian name.

When Col. Guy Johnson evacuated the Mohawk Valley, and moved west-
wardly to Ontario, thence to Oswego, and later to Montreal, he was accom-
panied by Brant, and a portion at least of the Mohawk warriors. ,

One account contains the following: “Colonel Johnson arrived in Mont-
real July 14th, 1775, accompanied by Joseph Brant with two hundred and

* twenty Indians, by way of Lake Ontario, expecting soon to organize a force
sufficient to return and take possession of the homes and property he and his
retainers had left behind. But failing in these endeavours, and finding his
official standing and powers were interfered with to some extent by the
appointment of Major Campbell as Indian Agent for Canada, Colonel Johnson
decided to go to England to get the question of his powers and jurisdiction
settled.” At Montreal he appears to have met Generals Carleton and Haldi-
mand, who courted the services of himself and followe»s, and soon induced
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them to join the standard of the King. “For the prosecution of a border
warfare, the officers of the Crown could scarcely have engaged a more valua-
ble auxiliary.”

On the 11th of November, 1775, Colonel Johnson sailed from Quebec on a
visit to England; he was accompanied by Joseph Brant and a Mchawk war
chief, named Oteroughyanente. Brant was much noticed and courted in
London, and made a speech before Lord George Germain, setting forth the
grievances of the Six Nations in general, and of the Mohawks, his own
nation, in particular; to which Lord Germain made a brief reply. This
speech, which is the first of Brant’s we have on record, seems to have been
delivered in London, March, 1776.

It is not known whether the chief visited the Indian country of the Six
Nations during the summer previous to his journey to the English capital, in
company with Colonel Johnson. The precise object of that journey is also
enshrouded in uncertainty ; many speculations have been indulged in by
different writers concerning the matter, but none have been able to arrive at
any important couclusion. That he went to England is, however, beyond
cavil.

There are several incidents recorded, here and there, in connection with this
first London sojourn, which illustrate the character of the brave old chief;
and as some of these seem to be in order here, they are introduced without
further explanation.

“He had but little of the savage ferocity of his people in his countenance,
and when, as he ordinarily did, he wore the Furopean dress, there was nothing
besides his colour to mark wherein he differed from othermen. Upon his first
arrival in London, he was conducted to the inn called ¢ The Swan with Two
Necks.” Other lodgings were soon provided which were more suitable to his
rank as an Indian king; but he said the people of the inn had treated him
with so much kindness, that he preferred to remain there during his stay in
London, and he accordingly did so.”

Although he was dressed in the European habit, he was not unprovided
with a well selected wardrobe of Indian costumes, and he always appeared at
Court, and upon occasions of ceremony, in the dress of his own nation.

The tomahawk worn by him in London was a very beautiful article,
polished to the highest degree ; upon it was eugraved the first letter of his
Christian name, with his Mohawk appellation, thus: “ J. Thayendanegea.”

It was during this visit that he procured a gold finger-ring, with his full
name engraved thereon. This ring he wore until his death. It was kept as a
precious relic by his widow for four years, when it was lost.  Strange as it
may seem, however, during the summer of 1836 the identical ring was found
in a ploughed field near Wellington Square. The venerable Indian Queen
was at that time upon a visit to her daughter, the accomplished wife of
Colonel Kerr. As may well be supposed, the aged widow was overjoyed at the
unexpected recovery of the memento, after its having been lost for twenty-six
years.

Brant did not remain in England many months, but in company with Cap-
tain Tice, who had been a member of the party during its entire journey, he
sailed for America in the spring of 1776.
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There is much confusion among the statements of various writers concern-
ing the date of this event. May and July are both given as the time of his
arrival, but as he is known to have been in the battle of the Cedars, above
Montreal, which was fought in that same month, it is altogether probable that
he arrived during the end of March or early part of April.

He was cautiously and privately landed somewhere in the neighbourhood of
New York harbour, whence he performed a very hazardous journey to Canada,
having, of course, to steal his way through an enemy’s country until he could
hide himself in the forests beyond Albany.

During his stay in the British capital, the question of his attitude towards
the rebellious colonies was effectually settled; he pledged himself most heartily
to the cause of the King, and returned to his native forests to execute the re-
quirements of that pledge.

In a letter to Sir Evan Nepean, which was written after the peace of 1783,
Brant said: “ When I joined the English forces in the beginning of the war it
was purely on account of my forefathers’ engagements with the King. I
always looked upon these engagements, or covenants, between the King and
the Indian people as a sacred thing, therefore I was not to be frightened by
the threats of the rebels at that time. I assure you I had no other view in it,
and this was my real cause from the beginning.”

The battle of the Cedars was the result of a movement by General
Carleton to dislodge the Americans from a point of land extending far out
into the St. Lawrence River, about forty miles above Montreal.

The British comiwsander had a force of six or seven hundred men, the
greater part of which were Indians under the leadership of Thayendanegea.
This affair terminated most snccessfully for the British, by the surrender of
Major Sherbourne, on the 20th of May, 1776.

The name of Captain Brant does not appear in any of the books in con-
nection with this affair at the Cedars, but there is positive evidence that he
was not only there, but that he exerted himself, after the surrender of Major
Sherbourne, to control the Indians and prevent the massacre of the prisoners.
The reader is referred to the story of Captain McKinstry, iu another part of
this sketch, for the particulars of an important event in the career of Captain
Brant.

It was not supposed that any considerable numbers of the Six Nations took
part in the battle of the Cedars other than the Mohawks, and their kindred
tribe; the Caughnawagas, or, as the latter tribe chose to call themselves, the
SEVEN NATIONS OF CANADA.

Among the papers preserved in the family of Colonel afterwards General
Herkimer, is a speech from the Oneida chiefs to Colonel Elmore, who at the
commencement of the year 1777 was in command of Fort Schuyler. *

This document announces the final extingnishment of the great council fire
of the Six Nations, at Onondaga, New York. As the most central of all the
tribes of the Confederacy, their castle hdd been the assembly ground for all
general councils from time immewmorial, and here, according to their own figur-
ative langunage, the council fire was ever kept burning.

* The letter is too long to insert in this work; the reader is referred to Stone’s ¢‘Life of
Brant,” Vol. L., p. 176.
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The cause of this abandonment of their time-honoured council place is wrapt
in much uncertainty, but is supposed by those who have investigated closely to
have been the extensive prevalence of small-pox, or other pestilential disorder.
The event is mentioned for the purpose of marking an important occurrence
in connection with the life of Brant, and with the history of the Six Nations,
as it was the occasion of their final exit, as a national body, from the council
grounds of their ancestors.

Neither tradition nor history furnishes any account of Thayendanegea’s
movements until the spring of 1777, when he appeared among the Indians of
the Mohawk River country, having separated from Colonel Guy Johnson, with
whom he had had some difficulty. He penetrated the country as far south as
the northern settlements of the Susquehanna River, in Pennsylvania, and was
undoubtedly active in his endeavours to unite the various Indian factions in
support of the royal cause.

The presence of the crafty chieftain did not improve the pacific disposition
of the natives, nor diminish the fears of the scattered and nnprotected settlers
of that neighbourhood.

In June, 1777, he, with seventy or eighty warriors, appeared at Unadilla,
and requested an interview with the principal men and militia officers of the
settlement. He stated that the object of his visit was to procure provisious, of
which his people were greatly in want, and if these could not be obtained by
peaceable means he would take what he required by force. The visit continued
two days, during which time the Indians were well supplied with provisions,
and on their departure they were permitted to take away some live cattle and
sheep.

The Indian forces of Captain Brant continued to increase, and the anxiety
of the whites became correspondingly greater. General Herkimer determined
to obtain an interview with Brant, for the purpose of at least ascertaining de-
finitely the temper of the Indians in regard to the issues of the period. For
this purpose Herkimer dispatched a messenger to Brant, with an invitation to a
mutual couference, to be held at or near Unadilla.

There has been mueh speculation in regard to the real object of General
Herkimer’s call for this meeting. The different accounts of the affair which
have been published from time to time teud rather to confuse than enlighten the
historian of to-day. The following is from the “ History of Schoharie County :”

“Ii appears that in July, 1777, Joseph Brant had then, with some eighty
warriors, commenced his marauding enterprises on the settlements at Unadilla,
by appropriating their cattle, sheep and swine to his own benefit.* To obtain
satistaction for those cattle, and ¢f possible to get the Indians to remain neutral in
the approaching contest, General Herkimer, in the latter part of June, with three
hundred and eighty of the Tryon County Militia, proceeded to Unadilla (an
Indian settlemnent on the Susquehanna River), to hold an interview with Brant.
That celebrated chief, then at Ogquago, was sent for by Gen. Herkimer, and ar-
rived on the 27th, after the Americans had been there about eight days waitilgg.

“ Col. John Harper, who attended Gen. Herkimer at this time, made an afli-
davit on the 16th of July following the interview, showing the principal griev-

* This is probably an error, as the cattle were given to the Indians, as previously stated.
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ances of which the Indians complained, as also the faect that they were in
covenant with the King, whose belts were yet lodged with them, and whose
service they intended to enter.

“The instrument further testified that Brant, instead of returning to Oswego,
as he had informed Gen. Herkimer was his intention, had remained in the neigh-
bourhood on the withdrawal of the American Militia, and was proposing to
destroy the frontier settlements.

“ The following, relating to the interview between Gen. Herkimer and Brant,
is obtained from the venerable J oseph Wagner, of Fort Plain. He states that
at the first meeting of Gen. Herkimer with Brant, the latter was attended by
three other chiefs—William Johnson, a son of Sir William Johnson by Molly
Brant, which son was killed at the battle of Oriskany the same year; But, a
smart looking fellow, with curly hair, supposed to be part Indian and part
Negro; and a short dark-skinned Indian.

“The four were encircled by a body-guard of some twenty noble looking
warriors. When in his presence Brant rather haughtily "asked Gen. Herkimer
the object of his visit, which was readily made known. But seeing so many
attendants, the chief suspected the interview was sought for another purpose.

“ Said Brant to Gen. Herkimer, ‘I have five hundred warriors at my com-
mand, and ecan in an instant destroy you and your party; but we are old
neighbours and friends, and I will not do it Col. Cox, a young officer who
accompanied Gen. Herkimer, exchanged several sarcastic remarks with Brant,
which served not a little to irritate him and his followers. The two had a
quarrel a few years previous about lands around the upper Indian castle. Pro-
voked to anger, Brant asked Cox if he was not the ‘son-in-law of old George
Clock ?’ ‘ Yes, replied Cox in a tone of malignity, ‘and what is that to you,
you d—d Indian?’

“ At the close of this dialogue, Brant’s guard ran off to their camp firing
several guns and making the hills echo back their savage yells. Gen.Herkimer
assured Brant that he intended his visit for one of a pacific character, and urged
him to interpose to prevent anything of a hostile nature. = A word from Brant
hushed the tumult of passion, which a moment before threatened serious con-
sequences. The parties, however, were too much excited to proceed with the
business which had convened them. Brant, addressing Gen. Herkimer, said, ¢ It
1s needless to multiply words at this time; I' will meet you here at precisely
nine o’clock to-morrow morning.’ The parties then separated to oceupy their
former position in camp. They again met on the 28th of June. Brant was the
first to speak. ¢Gen. Herkimer,’said le, ‘I now fully comprehend the object
of your visit ; but you are too late ; I am engaged to serve'the King. We are
old friends, and I can do no less than to let yon return unmolested, although
you are in my power.” After a little more conversation of a friendly nature,
the parties agreed to separate amicably. The conference ended, Gen. Herkimer
presented to Brant seven or eight fat cattle that had just arnved owing to
obstructions on the outlet of Otsego Lake, down which stream they were driven
or transported. For three days before the arrival of the cattle the Americans
were on short allowance. It is said that at this second interview of Brant with
Gen. Herkimer, the latter had taken the precaution to privately select four
reliable men, in case any symptoms of treachery should be exhibited, to shoot
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down Brant and his chiefs at a given signal, but no occasion to execute these
precautionary measures occurred.”

The conference being ended, Brant turned proudly away and buried himself
in the forest. * It wa®¥ early in Jaly, and the morning was clear and beautiful.
But the war-whoop had scarcely died away before the heavens became black,
and a violent thunder-stormn obliged each party to seek the nearest shelter.”

This was the last conference held with the hostile Mohawks. Brant very
soon drew off his warriors from the Susquehanna and united them to the forces
of Colonel John Butler and Sir John Johnson, who were concentrating the
Loyalists and refugees at Oswego. It was about this time that the officers of
the British Indian Department summoned a general council of the Six Nations,
to be held at that place. It is probable that Brant arrived at this post with
his warriors for that occasion.

This council was an important one in the affairs of America, as it terminated
in the complete alliance of the greater portion of the Six Nations with the
British forces. At the conclusion of the proceedings the Indians were pre-
sented with clothing, arms, ammunition, cooking utensils, etc.; some of the brass
kettles which were among the gifts of that day are said to be in existence
among the descendants of the Indians at the present time.

It is now generally conceded among students of American history that
Captain Brant’s first “ raid ” upon any of the New York settlements was made
in the month of May previous to his interview with General Herkimer, which,
as has been stated, took place in July ; this fact was not established with any
degree of certainty until after the close of the Revolutionary War. The affair
referred to was the waylaying of Lieutenant Wormwood and Peter Sitz, near
Cherry Valley.

“The next we hear of Brant is at the head of three hundred warriors at Os-
wego, 1777, to join the expedition of Gen. St. Leger against Fort Stanwix. The
Indians under Brant met with a severe loss in an engagement, and on their way
home committed some depredations upon the Oneidas, whom they considered
rebels for their refusal to join the expedition. In retaliation, the Oneidas plun-
dered Brant’s sister, < Molly Brant,’ who resided with Ler family at the Upper
Mohawk Town, together with others of the Mohawks who accompanied Brant
in this expedition.

“Molly Brant and her family fled to the Onondagas, the council place of
the Six Nations, and laid her grievances before that body. The information
given to Gen. St. Leger of the approach of the reinforcements cf the rebels
under Gen. Herkimer, was through the instrumentality of Molly Brant, and
led to the surprise and almost defeat of the entire party under Gen. Herkimer.
Capt. Brant, with a strong force of Indians, with true Indian sagacity, formed an
ambuscade in a position admirably fitted for the purpose. The whole rebel army,
with the exception of the rear guard, fell into the trap, and would have been
destroyed had not a severe storm of thunder, lightning and rain, put a stop to
the work of death.” This engagement was none other than the historically
famous battle of Oriskany, which was one of the most bloody of all the strug-
gles of the Canadian frontier.

The whole Indian force was led by Thayendanegea in person, “ the Great Cap-
tain of the Six Nations,” as he was then called; and as the Cayugas had now
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joined the Mohawks in alliance with the arms of England, while the Onon-
dagas also were practically against the Provincials, although professing a doubtful
policy, he must have had a large force in the field. :

Of the Senecas alone thirty-six were killed and a great number wounded.
Captain Brant was accustomed, long years afterward, to speak of the sufferings
of his “poor Mohawks” in the battle of Oriskany.

Among the spoils captured by the American troops was the baggage of Sir
John Johnson, with all his papers, consisting of memoranda, journals, orderly
books, correspondence, etc. These papers have been an authentic and fruitful
source of information to the historian and biographer since then,

The victory at Oriskany was claimed by both British and Provineials ; in fact,
the issue was of such a peculiar character, that neither combatant had gained
anything decisive, while each had lost heavily, in men and materials.

The military operations of 1777 closed with the British army in winter
quarters at Philadelphia, and the Americans at Valley Forge.

Early in 1778, the American Congress made another strenuous effort to con-
ciliate the Indians of the Six Nations, or such of them as had thus far claimed
to be neutral; the scheme failed, and was never again attempted during the
Revolutionary War.

About the same fime, various symptoms of change were perceptible among
the Indians of the Mohawk Valley, and such other tribes as were affiliated with
them ; the Indians of the remote west were manifesting a disposition to unite
with the nations already allied with the British forces against the Provineials.

The master spirit of these combinations and movements was Captain Brant,
whose winter quarters were at the central and convenient point of Niagara. Sir
John Johnston, Colonels Claus and Butler, and their co-workers, were active in
their preparations for an early and forward movement from Niagara, while
Colonel Hamilton, who ecommanded the British post, at Detroit, was equally
energetic in the same work in his own department.

Omitting many interesting particulars of the period under consideration,
which have no direct conuection with the career of Brant, we find him at the
opening of the season for active operations, in 1778, at his former haunts on the
Susquehanna, below Unadilla. He soon proved himself a dreaded partisan; no
matter what were the difficulties or distances, if a blow could be struck to any
advantage, Thayendanegea was sure to be there.

Frequent were the instances in which individuals, and indeed whole families,
in the outskirts of the settlements disappeared, without any knowledge on the
part of those who were left that an enemy had been near them. *The smoking
ruins of their dwellings, and the charred bones of the dead, together with the
slaughtered carcasses of the domestic animals, were the only testimonies of the
course of the catastrophe, until the return of an escaped captive, or the rescue
of a prisoner, furnished more definite information.”

There is no good evidence that Brant was personally a participator in secret
murders, or attacks upon isolated individuals or families.

In support of the foregoing opinion concerning Brant, the subjoined inci-
dent, which happened in the summer of 1778,is given. A lad in Schobharie
County, named William McKown, while engaged in raking hay alone in a field,
happening to turn around, perceived an Indian very near him. Startled at lLis

’
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perilous situation, he raised his rake for defence, but his fears were dissipated
by the savage, who said, “ Do not be afraid, young man, I shall not hurt you.”
He then inquired for the house of a Loyalist named Foster. The lad gave him
the proper direction, and asked the Indian if he knew Mr. Foster. “Iam par-
tially acquainted with him, having once seen him at the Half-way Creek,” was
the reply. The Indian then inquired the lad’s name, and having been informed,
he added, “ You are a son of Captain McKown, who lives in the north-east part
of the town, I suppose. I know your father very well, he lives neighbour to
Captain McKean.” Emboldened by the familiar discourse of the Indian, the boy
ventured in turn to ask his name. Hesitating for a moment, the unwelcome
visitor replied, “ My name is Brant.” “What! Captain Brant ?” demanded the
youth. “No, I am a cousin of his,” was the rejoinder, but accompanied by a
smile and a look that plainly disclosed the transparent deception. It was none
other than the terrible Thayendanegea.

The first movement of Brant in the spring of 1778 was upon the settlement
at Springfield, a town at the head of Otsego Lake, lying directly west of
Cherry Valley, and about ten miles distant. Those of the men who did not fly
-were taken prisoners. The chieftain then burnt the entire settlement, with the
exception of a single house, into which he collected all the women and chil-
dren, and left them uninjured.

It was reported in June that Brant was fortifying his post ncar Unadilla,
and Captain McKean, with a small patrol, was sent to reconnoitre, but was
obliged to return without making any important observations. During the jour-
ney McKean wrote a letter to Brant upbraiding him for the predatory system
of warfare in which he was engaged, and challenging him to single combat, or
to meet him with an equal amount of men and have a pitched battle, adding
that if he would come to Cherry Valley they would change him from a “ Brant ”
to a “goose.” This missive was fastened to a stick and placed in an Indian path.
No modern post office could have transmitted the letter with greater speed or
safety ; the “contents were noted” by Brant, and he resolved to fight the
‘rebels ” as well as he could.

WyoMING.

Of all the names which grace the record of events upon this side of the
Atlantic, none are perhaps more familiar to the readers of English literature
than this synonym of all that is bloody in war or beautiful in peace ; it has
been the subject of picture, song and story, during four generations of men. To
such an extent has the ideal Wyoming been treated, that its real historic
position has, to a great degree, been obscured by a mask of fanciful imagery,
while the characters which cluster around its memories have been more or less
deformed by prejudice and by “poetic license.”

Inasmuch as the name of Thayendanegea has been almost inseparably linked
with a principal event in the history of Wyoming, over which no small amount
of controversy and misunderstanding has arisen, it is deemed both just and
proper to introduce an outline sketch of the relation which Wyoming bore to
the other colonial settlements of the north in general, and to the Six Nations
in particular.
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“ Wyoming is the name of a beautiful section of the Susquehanna Valley,
situated in the north-eastern part of the State of Pennsylvania. It is twenty-
five miles in length by three or four miles in width, lying deep between two
parallel ranges of mountains crested with oak and pine. The scenery around
is wild and picturesque, while the valley itself might be chosen for another
paradise.” .

The possession of this valley appears to have been a “bLone of contention”
among the prehistoric races who disappeared before the Indian’s time. The
remains of earthworks and fortifications, so ancient that the largest oaks and
pines were rooted upon the ramparts and in the entrenchments, indicate that
it may have been the seat of power of a race of men far different from the
Indians. Within the white man’s time, but before his possession, various Indian
tribes converted it into a field of strife, in the controversy over the right to its
scenes and its soil.

“It was here that Count Zinzendorf commenced his labours as a missionary
among the Shawanese.” Originally it lay within the territory of the Delaware
Indians, but the Six Nations claimed it by right of conquest. In 1742 a grand
council of chiefs was held in Philadelphia, to settle a dispute concerning the
title to certain lands lying within the forks of the Delaware River, which the
proprietaries of Pennsylvania alleged that William Penn had bought of the
Delawares, but which they had never given up, while at the same time the Six
Nations claimed the ownership.

“The Governor of Pennsylvania having explained the state of the case to
the council, reminded the chiefs of the Six Nations that inasmuch as they had
always required the Government of Pennsylvania to remove such whates as
intruded upon their lands, so now the Government expected the Six Nations to
remove the Indians from the lands which it had purchased. Old Cannassateego
was the master spirit of the Iroquois delegation on this oceasion, and after due
consideration he pronounced his decision. He rebuked the Delawares for their
dishonesty in first selling land which they did not own, and even then retaining
possession of it themselves. He taunted them with thair degraded position as
having been made women of by his people, and ordered them to remove to
Wyoming or Shamokin.

“The commands of the Six Nations (Iroquois) were neither to be questioned
nor disregarded, and the Delaware clan straightway packed up and removed to
Wyoming, then in partial occupancy of a band of the Shawanese. The latter
were suffered to remain on the west side of the river, while the Delawares
planted themselves on the east side, and built their town of ¢ Maughwauwame’
—the original of Wyoming.”

The close proximity of these two clans was no -addition to their happiness,
and no long period elapsed before their animosities were sharpened into actual
hostilities.

Upon the breaking out of the old French War, the Shawanese espoused the
side of the French, while the Delawares united with the Six Nations as allies
of the English. The Indian communitics at Wyoming finally came into open
conflict over the catching of a grasshopper, by a Shawanese child, or the -Dela-
ware side of the river; the children began a petty quarrel, their respective
mothers took up the contest, and an Amazonian battle was the result. Upon
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the return of the warriors of the respective tribes, they too became incensed,
and a bloady battle was fought ; in this several hundreds were killed, and the
Shawanese were vanquished and obliged to leave the valley.

They then joined the main body of their tribe on the Ohio. This vietory of
the Delawares over the Shawanese, restored them, in a great measure, to their
caste as warriors, and enabled them to retain their claim to the Wyoming
country, although the Six Nations held jurisdiction over it. These conflictink
claims of Indian title were the cause of rival negotiations between white land
speculators, which ultimately led to many and serious evils.

The first movement towards planting a white colony in the Wyoming Valley
was made by Connecticut, in 1753.

It was justly held that this section of country belonged to the grant of James
I, in 1620, to the old Plymouth Company. The Earl of Warwick having
purchased the right of the Plymouth Company to the territory of Connecticut,
and the lands beyond New Jersey, west “from sea to sea,” within certain
limits, Connecticut claimed these lands under that grant.

But no sooner was a company formed to plant a colony in Wyoming, called’
the Susquehanna Company, than Pennsylvania preferred a claim to the same
territory under a grant from Charles 11, to William Penn, in 1681. A rival
association, called the Delaware Company, was organized in like manner to settle
it. The first which each company undertook to accomplish was to circumvent
the other in purchasing the Indian title, it being conceded that the Six Nations
were the rightful owners. For a time the territory was refused to both parties,
but ultimately the Susquehanna Company were successful in their negotiations,
and in 1755 the Connecticut colony was commenced ; but on account of the
French and Indian wars their settlers were compelled to return to Connecticut,
and it was not until 1762 that they were enabled to obtain a foothold.

The Pennsylvanians immediately prepared to resist the Connecticut enter-
prise. A case was made up and submitted to Attorney-General Pratt (after-
wards Lord Camden), of England, who delivered an opinion in favour of the
successors of Penn.

Connecticut likewise sent over a case, and on her part obtained a like favour-
able opinion from eminent counsel.

Thus far the relations between the colonists and the Indians had been of the
most pacific character. The old Delaware chief, Tadeuskund, had embraced the
Christian religion and was their friend, but he had given offence to some of the
Six Nations in 1758, and in 1763 a party of warriors came down and murdered
the venerable chief by setting fire to his dwelling, in which he was consumed.
The murder was charged by the Indians upon the settlers from Connecticut,
who, unconscious of any wrong, remained in fancied security. The consequence
was, the sudden destruction of their settlement by a party of Delawares, on the
15th of October, 1763. The descent was made upon the town while the men
were at work in the field.  Many were killed and others taken prisoners, while
those who could fled to the woods and wandered back to Connecticut, destitute
and or-fooy.

"In 1768 the > Delaware Company took advantage of a treaty holden at Fort
Stanwix, and purchased of the same Six Nations the same territory of Wyoming.
The Pennsylvanians entered upon immediate possession, and when, in the ensu-
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ing spring, the Connecticut colonists returned, they found others in occupancy
of their lands, with a block-house erected, and armed for defence, under the
directions of Amos Ogden and Charles Stewart, to whom a lease of a section of
land had been granted by John Peun, for the express purpose of ousting the
Connecticut claimants. Here was a new state of things. Some of the leading
Connecticut men were arrested, and sent off to a distant prison. But recruits
coming on from Connecticut, they in turn built works of defence, and went on
with their labours.

The Governor of Pennsylvania sent a detachment of armed men, in the summer
of 1769, to dispossess the Connecticut people by force. The colonists prepared
for a siege, but one of their leaders was captured and sent to jail in Phila-
delphia, and they soon capitulated and agreed to leave the territory, except
seventeen families, who were to remain and secure the crops. But no sooner
had they departed than the Pennsylvanians, led by Ogden, plundered the whole
colony, and drove them off in a state of destitution.

In February, 1770, the Counecticut people rallied, and marched upon
Wyoming, under a man named Lazarus Stewart. They took Ogden’s castle
and his single piece of artillery, and in turn obliged him to agree to evacuate
the place, which he did, leaving six men to take charge of his remaining pro-
perty. But the eonduct of Ogden the year previous had not been forgotten,
and the “law of revenge ” was speedily executed. In September, 1770, a force
of one hundred and fifty men, under Ogden, took the Connecticut settlers by
surprise, and the whole ecolony were again scattered and devastated. But
Ogden’s triumph was brief. In December the fort was again surprised and
captured by Captain Stewart, and the Pennsylvanians driven out into the
forests.

The State of Pennsylvania now took the matter in hand, and sen’ a posse to
arrest Stewart, who resisted, and made his escape with many of his followers.
The place again fell into the hands of the Ogdens, but not until one of them,
Nathan Ogden, had been killed. In July, 1771, the fort was again invaded by
the Connecticut colonists, under Colonel Zebulon Butler with seventy men, who
joined forces with Captain Stewart. Ogden retired to anew fort and prepared
for fight, but finding such a course useless, he made his escape to Philadelphia,
and obtained the co-operation of State forces, under Colonel Asher Clayton.

Colonel Clayton advanced to the attack, but was ambushed by the Connec-
ticut men and completely vanquished, whereupon he and Ogden agreed to
evacuate the Wyoming country. The matter had now assumed such important
aspects that the Governors of the two States began to try to solve the disputed
question, but all to no practical purpose.

Meantime, the people of the colony proceeded to organize a government, and
to exercise almost all the attributes of sovereignty. Connecticut extended its
broad wings over it, and attached it to the county of Litchfield in the parent
State. The States of Pennsylvania and Connecticut kept up a war of edicts upon
the subject, while the settlement advanced in population and extent with
unexampled rapidity.

Thus matters proceeded until the year 1775, when just after the outbreak
between the British troops and the colonists at Lexington, the old feuds between
the settlers of the rival companies suddenly broke forth afresh.

e
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The entire militia of the Connecticut settlements was soon in the field,
while Colonel Plunkett, at the head of seven hundred Pennsylvanians, marched
against Wyoming. The contest was severe, and resulted in the retreat of the
Pennsylvanians, nor did they attempt to rally again. This was the last effort
of the Government of Pennsylvania against the Valley of Wyoming.

At the risk of being charged with tedious irrelevancy, the foregoing sketch
of the history of Wyoming has been extracted mainiy from Stone's “Life of
Brant,” in order to explain the peculiar condition of things which existed there
during the Revolutionary War. The reader will see that in no other part of
America was there such an amount and kind of fuel wherewith to feed the
fires of partisan hatred. Wyoming had been the scene of strife, and her soil
had been drenched in blood, for more than a quaiter of a century before
Thayendanegea had attained special prominence as a warrior.  The already
divided and embittered portions of that beautiful valley were all the more highly
incensed by the events which marked the Revolutionary period. Those
who adhered to the Royal cause, and those who were struggling for independ-
ence, were pitted against each other, in many instances with more than fiend-
ish hatred, and neither failed to improve any opportunity which presented
itself for inflicting all the penalties of a semi-barbarous warfare upon the
other.

“The population of the Wyoming settlements at the beginning of the war
was about five thousand. Three companies of regular troops had been enlisted
for the United States service, and their militia numbered eleven hundred men,
capable of bearing arms. So prolific was their soil, and so well was it tilled,
that they were enabled td furnish large supplies of provisions for the Provinecial
army.” All these circumstances and conditions combined to make Wyoming a
tempting objective point to those who had espoused the cause of its enemies.

Some demonstrations had been made during the summer of 1777, while St.
Leger was besieging Fort Schuyler, but after some skirmishing with the in-
habitants the intruders dispersed ; yet the impression prevailed that there was
mischief brewing, and the people were not altogether at ease, and in January,
1778, twenty-seven suspected inhabitants were arrested. Nine of these were
discharged for want of evidence to warrant their detention; the remaining
eighteen were sent to Hartford, in Connecticut, and imprisoned. The nine set
at liberty immediately fled to the enemy, and were soon followed by others of
their friends. It was but natural that these proceedings should still more em-
bitter the feelings of the Loyalists against the Whigs, and the effect was soon
perceptible in the behaviour of the Indians and their allies who patrolled
the borders.

During the spring of 1778 several petty incursions were made upon the
settlements, and some plundering and loss of life resulted therefrom.

Towards the close of June of this year Col. Guy Johnson, writing to Lord
Germain from New York, suggests the plan of employing the Indians in a
“petit guerre” in their own way. The first expedition under this new mode
of warfare was organized at Niagara under Col. John Butler, consisting of
Loyalists and Indians, and was directed against Wyoming. Arriving at Tioga
Point, they procured floats and rafts, and descended the Susquehanna to a
place called the Three Islands, whence they marched across the country, and
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entered the Valley of Wyoming through a mountain’s gap near its northern
extremity. On the 2nd of July they took possession of two small forts, one
of which was called the Exeter Fort, the other the Lackawana Fort (Col. John
Butler’s headquarters).

The inhabitants were alarmed, and began immediate preparations for
defence. They assembled at Fort “Forty,” about four miles below the head-
quarters of the British troops, and resolved to make a quick dash upon the
invaders,and vanquish them before the arrival of their vear guard, and thus take
them in their weakest numerical strength. Colonel Zebulon Butler was the
commander of the Wyoming forces, and was not favourable to the attack,
preferring to await the arrival of reinforcements from Washington’s army,
but he was overcome by the counsel of his fellow-officers, and finally con-
sented to the advance.

An engagement followed, which resulted in the defeat of the Provincials,
and the sacking and pillaging of the entire district known as Wyoming. The
inhabitants were dispersed and destroyed by all the means known to a ruth-
less foe; atrocities were committed which can only be accounted for as
accumulations of “wrath against the day of wrath,” wherein brothers were
slain by each other, and flesh was pitted against its kin. "

Colonel Zebulon Butler collected his scattered and broken remnants, and
united them to a detachment of the continental army: with this force he
repossessed himself of the valley, the British commander having retired to
Niagara, and the Indians to their homes.

Other minor affairs were enacted on the same ground before the close of the
Revolutionary War, while the dispute over the land title was not settled
until many years later, after much more strife of the kind already mentioned.

At the time of the invasion of Wyoming, Brant was probably the most
noted Indian in America. As a powerful auxiliary of the Crown, he had been
encouraged by praise and laudation, until in England, as well as here, his
name was a symbol which expressed in a breath everything connected with
the parts played by the Indians in the military operations of the times.
Furthermore, he was known to have been a principal actor in many of the
scenes which transpired upon territory immediately adjoining the Wyoming
country.

Thus it was both natural and easy to associate his name with every deed
which was in any way obscure, just as Tecumseh and Sitting Bull, and other
noted leaders, have been charged with the doings of those who were absent
from them in person and purpose.

Immediately after the Wyoming affair, there went up a wail and a cursing
from every Provincial hearthstone. “Mother” England caught up the
sound, and echoed it back in the songs of her bards, and the lamentations of
her statesmen and philosophers. So firmly were these impressions noted,
that Thomas Campbell, after a lapse of more than thirty years from the
engagement, made a popular “hit” in the publication of his celebrated poem,
entitled “ Gertrude of Wyoming.”

The poet made Brant the leader in this expedition, and heaped great
obloquy upon his good name and character, for his more than savage barbarity
on that occasion.
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The particular stanzas, wherein Thayendanegea was so unjustly stigmatized,.
are as follows :—

‘¢ ¢ But this is not the time,’—he started up,

And smote his heart with woe-denouncing hand—
¢ This is no time to fill the joyous cup,

The mammoth comes—the foe—the monster Brant,
With all his howling, desolating band ;

These eyes have seen their blade and burning pine
Awake at once, and silence half your land.

Red is the cup they drink, but not with wine :

Awake, and watch to-night ! or see no morning shine !’

‘¢ Scorning to wield the hatchet for his tribe,
’Gainst Brant himself I went to battle forth :
Accursed Brant! he left of all my tribe
Nor man, nor child, nor thing of living birth.
No ! not the dog that watched my household hearth
Escaped that night of blood, upon our plains !
All perished—I alone am left on earth !
To whom nor relative nor blood remains ;
No, not a kindred drop that runs in human veins !”

This poem was not published until a year or two after the death of Captain
Brant, but it gave great offence to his family and friends, who stoutly denied
his connection with the Wyoming affair. His son and successor, John Brant,
visited England in 1821-2, and having proecured the necessary documents to
prove his father’s innocence, he waited upon the distinguished author (Campbell)
and obtained from him the following statement, which has been incorporated
with the notes of every edition of the work since then ;

“ I took the character of Brant in the poem of ‘Gertrude of Wyoming,’ from
the common histories of England, all of which represented him as a bloody and
bad man even among savages, and chief agent in the horrible desolation of
‘Wyoming. ’ ]

“Some years after this poem appeared, the son of Brant, a most nteresting and
intelligent youth, came over to England; and I formed an acquaintance with
him, on which I still look back with pleasure. He appealed to my sense of
honour and justice, on his own part and that of his sister, to retract the unfair
aspersions which, unconscious of their unfairness, I had cast on his father’s
memory. He then referred me to documents which completely satisfied me
that the common accounts of Brant’s cruelties at Wyoming, which I found in
books of travels, and in Adolphus’ and similar histories of England, were gross
errors, and that in point of fact Brant was not even present at that scene of
desolation. It is, unhappily, to Britons and Anglo-Americans that we must
refer the chief blame in this horrible business. T published a letter expressing
this belief in the New Monthly Magazine, in the year 1822, to which I must
refer the reader if he has any curiosity on the subject, for an antidote to my
fanciful description of Brant. Among other expressions to young Brant, I made
use of the following words : Had I learned all this of your father, when I was
writing my poem, he should not have figured in it as the hero of mischief.

“It was but bare justice to say this much of a Mohawk Indian who spoke
English eloquently, and was thought capable of having written a history of the
Six Nations. I also learn that he often strove to mitigate the cruelty of Indian
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warfare. The name of Brant, therefore, remains in my poem a pure and
declared character of fiction.”

It has been reported that Campbell promised to expunge the objectionable
lines, but he never did ; and the somewhat obscure note is all the satisfaction
ever given for a great wrong, as the poem lives through succeeding generations,
whﬂe the note, if read at all makeo little 1mp1essxon, and is soon forgotten.

Muech has been written and said concerning Brant’s partlclpatlon in the
-expadition against Wyoming. The efforts to establish his absence from that
desolating scene were not made until after his death, or at least not until many
years after the close of the Revolutionary War, and of course were difficult to
accomplish. The venerable Seneca chief, Ixaoundoowand commonly called
Captain Pollard, was in the battle of Wyoming, and he declared most unequivo-
«cally that Brant was not there. Several other survivors of that battle were
equally positive in their assertions. The Indians were chiefly Senecas, and
were led by a chief named Gi-en-gwah-toh.

The late Philip R. Frey, of Palatine, New York, was an ensign in H. B, M.’s
Eighth Regiment ; he served in the campaign and battle of \Vyommo and bore
uniform testlmouy that Brant was not there, neither were there any other
chiefs of much notoriety with the Indians on that expedition. His statement
was to the effect that one Captain Bird, of the Eighth, was the commander of
the Indians, who united with a detachment of that regiment at Detroit, and
proceeded to Niagara, where they were attached to Butler’s Rangers.

Ensign Frey further states that ¢ Bird had been engaged in a love affair at
Detroit, but being very ugly, besides having a hair-lip, he was unsuccessful.”
The affair getting wind, his fellow-officers made themselves merry at his ex-
pense, and in order to drown his griefs in forgetfulness, he obtained permission
to lead an expedition against the American frontier. After his union with
Butler’s forces, they arranged the expedition against Wyoming. Bird was cross
and ill-natured during the whole march, and acted with foolhardiness at the
battle.”

“Rarely indeed does it happen that history is more at fault in regard to
facts than in the case of Wyoming. The. remark may be applied to nearly
every writer who has attempted to narrate the events connected with the inva-
sion by Colonel John Butler. Ramsay, and Gordon, and Marshall, nay, the
British historians themselves, have written gross exaggerations. :

Other writers, of greater or less note, have \ufwely recorded the same ﬁctlons
adding, it is to be feared enormities not even conveyed to them by tradition.

No regular troops surrendered, and all escaped who
survived the battle of the 3rd. Equallv untrue was the story of the burning of
houses, barracks and forts, filled with women and children.

“There is still another important correction to be made to the history of this
battle, and that is in regard to the name and the just fame of Joseph DBrant,
whose character was blackened with all the infamy, both real and imaginary,
connected with this expedition.

“ Whether Captain Brant was at any time in company with this expedition
is doubtful, but ¢t ¢s certain, according to every British and American authority,
that he was not present at the battle, but that he was miles away at the timne
-of its occurrence.”
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In the controversy which formerly existed over the correctness of various
historic details, it was claimed by some that Brant’s friends should prove for
him an “alibi,” 7.c., show where he was, if not at Wyoming. This would be
difficult indeed, if it was at all necessary. There is no doubt about Brant’s.
being at or near Niagara when Butler and Bird planned the movement on
Wyoming ; it is equally certain that he was displeased with the position
assigned him, under those whom he chose to regard as inferiors, so far as that
kind of fighting was concerned. This placed him in a semi-neutral frame of
mind, so that he did not enter into the scheme with anything more than a show
of acquiescence ; he therefore took his own course, and followed the mavement.
independently, over his old and familiar war-paths, until he arrived at, or in the
vicinity of, the Indian towns on the Susquehanna, below Unadilla. By doing
this he could co-operate with Colonel Butler without taking any active part in
the battle proper, or being present personally. It is altogether probable that
Brant commanded the  covering force,” or rear guard, which never had occasion
to enter the Wyoming Valley, in conjunction with the main body under Butler.

Those who insist upon making Brant a party to the bloody deeds at Wyom-
ing, should in all fairness bring forward the evidence of his presence there,
and if possible disprove the statements of Brant himself, and those who, by
situation or kinship, are prepared to deny his participation in that affair. In
the absence of any authentic evidence to the contrary, he should at least he
given the benefit of the grave and reasonable doubts which surround the popu-
lar and “ poetic” charges against him.

Brant’s next exploit was at Andrustown, a small hamlet about six miles
south-east of German Flats. This settlement consisted of seven families,
planted upon a lot of one thousand acres. On the 18th of July, 1778, a small
band of Indians, led by Brant in person, made a descent upon this little
settlement and wiped it out of existence. A few people were killed, and the
remainder carried into captivity. The object of the enemy appears to have
been plunder. The news of this aflair started a band of Whigs from German
Flats in pursuit of the enemy. They followed as far as Young’s Settlement.
and abandoned the chase, but not until they had avenged the Andrustown
raid by plundering and burning the property of two Loyalists named Young
and Collyer.

German Flats was the name of an extensive and populous settlement in
the Mohawk Valley. It was the home of General Herkimer, and had been
an important pioneer station for many years. At the close of August or early
in September of this year (1778), this fine station was laid waste, and the
buildings burned, and live stock driven off or killed ; but two lives were lost,
however. This dash was under the personal leadership of Captain Brant.

The next event in Brant’s carrer as a warrior appears to have been in con-
nection with the invasion of Cherry Valley, in November, 1778. This expedi-
tion, too, was organized at Niagara, at the instigation of Walter Butler (son
of Colonel John Butler), and was placed under his command. Captain Brant,
who, with his Indian warriors, had been employed on the Susquehanna during
most of the summer, was on his return to winter quarters at Niagara. Meet-
ing Butler with his forces, bearing an order for Brant to join the expedition
with his force, Brant was reluctant to do so, displeased at being placed under
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command of Walter Butler; but he was too much a soldier to refuse to obey
orders.

Colonel Ichabod Alden was in command of the post at Cherry Valley, and
had disregarded frequent warnings from the old frontier men who were with
him. When the onset was made by the British and Indians, Colonel Alden
fell by the tomahawk of a warrior.

It is not necessary to recount the details of the attack on this station ; it
was another complete destruction of life and property, accompanied by all the
bloody and cruel particulars of these times. Brant’s humanity was conspicu-
ously displayed in the attack upon Cherry Valley, at which he was present,
but was not in command.

History has recorded to the credit of Joseph Brant that on this occasion he
exhibited traits of humanity which seemed to be wanting in some at least of
the white men present. “In a house which he entered he found a woman
enﬂaﬂed inher usual avocations. ¢ Why are you thusengaged ?” said Brant to her,

“while your neighbours are being murdered all around you? °We are king’s
people, shelephed ¢ That plea will not avail you to- da} They have murdered
Mr. Well's family, who are as dear to me as my own.” ‘There is one Joseph
Brant,” she said, ‘if he is with the Indians he will save us” ‘I am Joseph
Brant,” he said, ‘but I have not the command, and I know not whether I can
save you. But I will do what I can.” While speaking, several Senecas were
observed approaching the house. ‘Get into bed and feign yourself sick, said
Brant, hastily. When the Senecas came in, he told them there was no person
there but a sick woman and her children, and besought them to leave the
house, which, after a short consultation, they did. As soon as they were out
of smht Brant went to the corner of the house and gave a long shrill yell.
Soon a small band of Mohawks were seen crossing an adpmmg field with
great speed. As they came up, he addressed them : * Where is your paint ?
Here, put my mark on this woman.” As soon as it was done, he added, ‘ You
are now probably safe.””

The reader will remember the letter which Captain McKean had left in the
Indian trail, inviting Brant to visit Cherry Valley, and get himself transformed
into a “ goose.”

After the battle was over, Brant inquired of one of the captives for Captain
McKean, who was absent at the time of the attack. “He sent me a challenge
once. I have now come to acceptit; he is a jfine soldier to retreat thus.

: He is a brave man, and I would have given more to have taken
him than any man in Cherry Valle) but I would not have hurt a hair of his
head.”

The following letter from Brant to Parcifer Carr, written in July previous
to the capture of Cherry Valley, is interesting in this connection, while it
exhibits, probably, a fair specimen of his epistolary style :—

“SI1R,—I understand by the Indians that was at your house last week, that
one Smith lives near you, has little more corn to spare. I should be much
obliged to you if you would be so kind as to try to get as much corn as
Smith can spared. He has sent me five skipples already, of which I am much
obliged to him, and will see him paid, and would be very glad if you could
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spare one or two of your men to join us, especially Elias. I wonld be glad
to see him, and I wish you could sent me as many guns as you have to spare,
as I know you have no use for them ; as I mean now to fight the eruel rebels
as well as I can; whatever you will able to sent’d me, you must sent’d by the
bearer.

“I am your sincere friend and humble ser't,

“ JOSEPH BRANT.”

“P. S.—T1 heard that Cherry Valley people is very bold, and intend to make
nothing of us. They call us WILD GEESE, but I know the contrary.”

Minisink, Orange County, New York, was the scene of Brant’s next per-
formance. On the night of July 19, 1779, the crafty Mohawk stole upon the
slumbering town, at the head of sixty Indians and twenty-seven Loyalists ;
such was the silence of their approach, that several houses were in flames
before the inhabitants were fairly awakened. Ten houses and several barns
were burnt. Many persons were killed, and others carried away captive. The
usual desolation was spread over the whole settlement, after which Brant and
his forces made a hasty retreat. They were followed by a force of militia,
which overtook them the next day, and a desperate fight ensued ; the militia
were defeated, and most of them killed. Major Wood, of Orange County, was
made a prisoner, but saved his life by using a masonic sign, which Brant
promptly recognized; Wood pledged his word to Brant that he would not
attempt to escape, if permitted to go without being tied. That night he was
placed between two Indians, and told that if he tried to escape he would be
tomahawked instanter: during the night his blanket took fire, and he dared
not put it out for fear of a “jolt ” on the head ; finally, when it burned up to his
feet, he kicked it out. It was Brant’s blanket. Brant treated him rather
harshly after, and when Wood asked him the reason, he replied, “ D—n
you! you burnt my blanket.” The truth was that Wood had made a fraudu-
lent use of his knowledge of freemasonry, and Brant knew it. That was
probably what ailed the blanket.

The prisoner finally returned in safety, after a long captivity. He after-
wards joined the freemasons, and lived many years as an influential citizen
and public official of Orange County.

From Minisink Brant made a rapid movement, and fell upon a settlement on
the south side of the Mohawk River, where, on the 2nd of August, he made a
few prisoners. The name of one of them was House, who soon became too
lame to continue the journey. The Indians proposed to kill him, but Brant
interposed, and the prisoner’s life was spared: he ultimately returned to his
friends.

In the summer of 1779, the American forces, commanded by Generals Clinton
and Sullivan, were ordered to make an aggressive expedition against the Seneca
country. The two armies united at Tioga, New York, on the 22nd of ‘August,
and advanced upon the British and Indians, who were established at Newtown
(now called Elmira). At this point a severe engagement took place, which
resulted in the defeat of the Royal forces. The Indians in this battle were com-
manded by Brant in person, who conducted them with great skill and bravery.
This affair is generally known as the battle of the Chemung.
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Shortly after this, Brant’s party captured Lieutenant Boyd of the American
army, who fell into the hands of the Indians at Beardstown on the Genesee
river.

Brant interceded and saved the officer’s life, but he was subsequently exe-
cuted after the Indian fashion, by order of one of the Butlers during the absence
of Brant on other duty.

The campaign of General Sullivan against the Senecas, in 1779, proved very
disastrous to the Indians. Although vigorously opposed by all the available
British force, both English and Indian, Sullivan penetrated into the Senccas’
country, destroying their towns, and all their property and provisions, and
driving the Indians under the protection of the guns of Fort Niagara. Capt.
Brant accompanied the expedition from Niagara against Gen. Sullivan, having the
immediate command of the Indians, and again distinguished himself by his
valour and humanity.

The winter of 1779-80 was one of extraordinary severity. —The snow fell to
the depth of eight feet over all Western New Yorkandin Canada. The Indians
suffered greatly by sickness and destitution. Numbers died from exposure and
starvation, and the carcasses of dead animals were so numerous in the forests the
next summer, as to fill the atmosphere with the pestiferous odour of their decay-
ing bodies. Capt. Brant returned to Niagara, and took up his winter quarters
with Col. Guy Johnson, the Butlers—father and son—and other officers of the
Indian Department.

About this time Brant and his Indians made an expedition against the
Oneida Indians, which tribe had refused to join the Mohawks in behalf of the
King. Their castle was invaded, their crops destroyed, and they were thrown
upon the United States for provisions and shelter.

Aside from the destruction of the Oneida country, it is believed that Brant
undertook no important expedition during the winter of 1780.

The month of April found him on the war-path, at the head of a small varty
of Loyalists and Indians, whom he led against Harperstield, which was taken by
surprise and entirely destroyed.

Proceeding from Harpersfield, it was Brant’s design to make an attack upon the
upper fort of Schoharie, but this part of his project was prevented by an unex-
pected occurrence. Capt. Alexander Harper, the ancestor of the Harper Brothers,
the well known publishers, had been sent out with a small party ot men to keep
an outlook over certain parties, and at the same time to make a quantity of
maple sugar, of which the garrison were much in need.

Brant, in wending his way from Harpersfield to Schoharie, fell suddenly upon
Harper and his party, and immediately surrounded them ; so silent and cautious
had been the approach of the enemy that the first admonition Harper received
of their presence was the death of three of his little band, who were stricken
down while engaged at their work.

Capt. Brant knew Capt. Harper well, and on recognizing him among the
prisoners, rushed up to him, tomahawk in hand, and said, “ Harper, I am sorry
to find you here.” “ Why are you sorry, Capt. Brant?” “Because,” rejoined
Brant, “I must kill you, although we were schoolmates when we were boys.”
As scalps were much easier carried to Niagara than prisoners, the Indians were
for putting the prisoners to death, but Brant’s influence was exerted successtully

oA,
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to prevent the massacre. When they arrived at the Genesee River and
encamped for the night, Capt. Brant dispatched a runner to Niagara with infor-
mation of his approach, and the number of his prisoners. His friend, Capt.
Powell, who married Miss Moore, the Cherry Valley captive, was at the fort.
Capt. Brant knew that Capt. Harper was uncle to Miss Moore, now Mrs. Powell,
and it had been agreed, in consideration of sparing their lives, that ou arrival at
the fort the prisoners should go through the customary Indian ordeal of running
the gauntlet.  Before arriving at the fort two Indian encampments had to be
passed ; but on emerging from the woods and approaching the first, what was
the surprise of the prisoners and the chagrin of their captors, at finding the war-
riors absent, and their place filled by a regiment of British soldiers. A few
Indian boys and some old women only were visible, who offered some violence
to the prisoners, which was quickly suppressed by the soldiers. At the second
encampment nearest the fort, they found the warriors absent also, and their
place occupied by another regiment of troops. Capt. Brant led his prisoners
directly through the dreaded encampments, and brought them in safety into the
fort. The solution of this escape from the ganntlet was, that Capt. Powell had,
at the suggestion of Captain Brant, enticed the warriors away to the “Nine-mile
Landing ” for a frolic, the means for holding it being furnished fromthe public
stores. Colonel Harper was most agreeably surprised at escaping the gauntlet
with his party, and at being met by his niece, the wife of one of the principal
officers in command of the post. Harper knew nothing of her marriage, or even
of her being at Niagara, Capt. Brant having kept it a secret from him. He was
held as a prisoner of war for a Jong period, but was finally exchanged and
returned to his friends.

Brant’s next expedition was against the Saugerties settlements. This wasin
May, 1780. It was upon this occasion that Captain Jeremiah Snider and his
son, of Saugerties, N. Y., with others, were taken prisoners. Those prisoners
were taken over the same route as Capt. Harper and his party, but did not
escape as fortunately when they arrived at Niagara, as they had to run the
gauntlet between long lines of Indian warriors, women and children. But their
captors interposed to prevent injury. Capt. Snider, in his narrative of this
event, describes Fort Niagara as a structure of considerable magnitude and great
strength, enclosing an area of from six to eight acres. Within the enclosure was
a handsome dwelling house for the residence of the Superintendent of Indians.
It was then occupied hy Col. Guy Johnson, before whom the captain and his son
were brought for examination. Col. John Butler, with his Rangers, lay upon the
opposite side of the river. Capt. Snider describes Gen. Johuson as being “a
short, pussy man, about forty years of age, of a stern, haughty demeanour, dressed
in a British uniform, powdered locks and cocked hat, his voice harsh, and his
brogue that of a gentleman of Irish extraction.” While in the guardhouse the
prisoners were visited by Capt. Brant, of whom Capt. Snider says, “ He was a
likely fellow of fierce aspect, tall and rather spare, well spoken, and apparently
about thirty years of age.” (He was actually thirty-seven.) “He wore moc-
casins elegantly trimmed with beads, leggins and breech-cloth, of superfine blue ;
short green coat, with two silver epaulettes, and a small laced, round hat. By
his side hung an elegant silver-mounted cutlass, and his blanket of blue cloth,
purposely dropped in the chair on which he sat to display his epaulettes, was
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gorgeously decorated with a border of red. He asked the prisoners many ques-
tions ; indeed, the object of their capture seems to have been principally for the
purpose of obtaining information.” Upon being informed where they were
from, Capt. Brant replied, “ That is my old fighting ground.” In the course of
the conversation Brant said to the younger Snider, “ You are young, and I pity
you ; but for that old villain there,” pointing to the father, “I have no pity.”

On the 2nd of August, 1780, Brant again made his appearance in the Mohawk
Valley ; the south side of the river, for several miles, was completely devastated ;
the town of Canajoharie was burned, its inhabitants carried off or killed, and
their property destroyed. In accomplishing this work Brant had outflanked
the American officer. The result was deplorable enough ; but it added another
plume to the crest of “the Great Captain of the Six Nations.”

The 16th of October, 178C, was made memorable by the invasion of the
Schoharie country. The expedition was successful to the British arms. In
this movement Brant was the leader of the Indians, and several anecdotes
concerning his personal actions, in connection with the affair, are found here
and there. Among the captures made by him at that place was a man named
Vrooman, with whom he had been formerly acquainted. He concluded to give
Vrooman his liberty, .and after they had proceeded several miles he sent
Vrooman back about two miles alone, ostensibly to procure some birch bark,
expecting of course to see no more of him. After several hours Vrooman came
hurrying back with the bark, which the captain no more wanted than he did
a pair of goggles. Brant said he sent his prisoner back on purpose to afford
bim an opportunity to escape, but he was so big a fool he did not know it, and
that consequently he was compelled to take him along to Canada. Those who
study the details of the history of that period will find much more concerning

the Vrooman family, of which no less than six or seven were made prisoners
at one time or another.

After the close of the war Captain Brant visited Hudson, New York ; he was
waited upon by many old acquaintances, and among the rest was a loquacious
Dutchman who had known him before the Revolution. In a boasting and
rather uncivil way the Dutchman told him if he had met him in the border
wars he would have put an end to his career. Brant parried the attack with a
pleasant anecdote. “And if you had met me,” said he, it would have been
with you just as it was with your neighbor He had boasted just as you
are boasting now. In a skirmish I Lappened to meet him ; he took to his leels,
and hardly stopped to take breath until he arrived in Albany, where a fire had
just broken out, and the Dutchmen were in the streets, erying ¢ Braunt! braunt !
(fire ! fire ). Stopping short, he exclaimed in amazement, ‘ The d d Indian
has got here before me I ” This story is supposed to be founded upon an incident
of this campaign, but whether it occurred in the Schoharie or Mohawk Valley,
both of which were devastated, is not known.

The British forces were finally met by a body of American troops under
General Van Rensselaer, and a battle was fought at Flock’s Field, in which
engagement the Americans were victorious and the invading allies were
obliged to make a rapid retreat from the valley with General Rensselaer push-
* ing after them. At Fort Hunter the plundered inhabitants crowded around
him with their tales of loss or grief.  Among them was a woman whose
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hushand and other relatives were missing. ~ She was in an agony of grief over
the loss of her infant, which had been snatched from the cradle. Early next
morning a young Indian warrior came bounding into the room like a stag ; he
bore an infant in his arms, and with it a letter addressed “to the Commanding
Officer of the Rebel Army.” The letter was substantially as follows: « Sir,—I
send by one of my runners the child which he will deliver, that you may
know that whatever others may do, I do not make war upon women and
children.” The letter was from Thayendanegea, and the baby was none other
than that of the disconsolate mother who has been mentioned. In this engage-
ment Brant was wounded in the heel, but not seriously enough to prevent his
escape. Concerning this little circumstance several absurd anecdotes have been
narrated by careless or misinformed writers. One of these stories was to the
effect that Brant despatched an American prisoner whe was in conversation
with Col. Johnson at the time, and that his heel felt easier for the deed.

The close of the season of 1780 found Capt. Brant in his old winter quarters
at Fort Niagara, with Col. Butler and Col. Guy Johnson. The forces at Niagara
were stated at this time to consist of sixty British regulars, commanded by a
captain; four hundred Loyalists, commanded by Col. John Butler; twelve
hundred Indians, including women and children, commganded by Guy Johnson
and Capt. Joseph Brant. The particular parts enacted by Captain Brant
during the continuance of the Revolutionary struggle were in no way different
trom those already recorded ; he was active, able and successful in all he under-
took in behalf of the Royal cause. In the spring of 1781 an expedition against
the revolted Oneidas in the Mohawk Valley was plauned under the approbation
of Gen. Haldimand, to be commanded by Brant, but for some unexplained
reason was never executed. Vigorous incursions were kept up by small parties
of Loyalists and Indians during the season, sometimes under Capt. Brant but
often under the command of others. This state of things continued with
varying fortunes until the news of an agreement for the cessation of hostilities
between the United States and Great Britain was received.

After the cessation of active operations, Thayendanegea turned his attention
to the pressing needs of his people, as will be more fully treated of further on.
"The end of the Revolutionary War, properly so called, did not terminate the
military career of Captain Brant, but, on the other hand, bid fair at one time
to extend his fame as the chieftain of the united tribes of North America.
Not only the greater part of the Six Nations, but a majority of the tribes of
the west and north-west, had been friendly to the British cause during the
war; and when a principal portion of the lands of these Indians was conveyed
by treaty to their late enemy, the United States, they very naturally mani-
fested much discontent, more especially as Britain had, for some unexplained
cause, neglected to make any provision for them in her treaty with the new-
fledged Republic.

Among the prominent’ Indian characters of that period were Red Jacket,
Corn Planter, Black Hoof, and many others of lesser note, but above all these
towered the consummate genius of Joseph Thayendanegea; the eyes of his race
seemed to be turned towards him as their deliverer from the fate of banish-
ment from the hunting grounds of their fathers. Brant has been charged
with being ambitious for the leadership of a confederacy of all the principal
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Indian tribes, but the facts, which are too numerous to relate in this connec-
tion, do not warrant so strong a conclusion. The Indian war, which followed
in a few years after the War of the Revolution, was waged by the combined
tribes of the old North-West Territory against the United States for the pur-
pose of resisting the tide of emigration which began to roll westward over
their country upon the approach of peace.

That Brant was both an active and an influential agent in those well known
campaigns is undisputed. He visited England in December, 1785, and it has
been frequently asserted that his mission there was to secure the co-operation
of the British Government in conducting these campaigns; while the result
demonstrated that he was in a measure successful, yet there was no open
declaration of such a purpose. He returned to America in 1786, probably in
July, and devoted himself to various matters pertaining to the Six Nations in
particular, and to his scheme for a confederation generally. In the last-named
interest he was much absorbed, and was present at many of the more import-
ant councils and treaty meetings which were held throughout the west. It
is not known that he was personally engaged in any of the battles of that
bloody frontier conflict across the lakes, but many of his Mohawk warriors
were. Efforts were made to secure peace by both the Government of Great
Britain and that of the United States, and the acknowledged ability and influ-
ence of Captain Brant was sought by both, and led to an active and extensive
correspondence with the officers and agents of both Governments. Early in
1792 Captain Brant was invited to visit the city of Philadelphia, the then
seat of Government of the United States. The newspapers in New York
announced his arrival in that city in the following terms: “ On Monday last
arrived in this eity from his settlement on the Grand River, on a visit to some
of his friends in this quarter, Captain Joseph Brant, of the British army, the
famous Mohawk chief, who so eminently distinguished himself during the
late war, as the military leader of the Six Nations. We are informed that he
intends to visit the city of Philadelphia,” which he did in June, 1792, and was
received by the President of the United States with cordiality and respect.
There is no doubt that strenuous efforts were made at this time to engage his
active interposition with the Indians to bring about peace, and also to con-
ciliate his friendship to the United States. Although nothing could divert
him from his loyalty to the Government of his choice, yet the visit seems to
have given mutual satisfaction to himself and the President. The Secretary
of War wrote to General Chapin, U. S. Superintendent of Indian Affairs, as
follows : “ Captain Brant’s visit will, I flatter myself, be productive of great
satisfaction to himself, by being made acquainted with the humane views of
the President of the United States.” The Secretary also wrote to General
Clinton : ““ Captain Brant appears to be a judicious and sensible man. I flatter
myself his journey will be satisfactory to himself and beneficial to the United
States.” Still, however, the war raged until the victorious arms of General
Wayne, in August, 1794, compelled the Indians to surrender all hope of hold-
ing their coveted territory. In the language of Captain Brant, in one of his
speecheq delivered long afterwards: “The Indians, convinced by those in the
Miami Fort and other circumstances, that they were mistaken in their expec-
tations of any assistance from Great Britain, did not longer oppose the
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Americans with their wanted unanimity. The consequence was that General
Wayne induced them to hold a treaty at his own headquarters, in which he
concluded a peace entirely on his own terms.” With this event the career of
the great Mohawk chieftain as a warrior ended.

BraNT’S CIvIL CAREER.

When the Mohawks first abandoned their native valley to join the British
standard, Sir Guy Carleton had given a pledge that as soon as the war was
ended they should be restored, at the expense of the Government, to the con-
dition they were in before the contest began. In April, 1770, Gen. Haldimand,
then Commander-in-Chief in Canada, ratified the promise of his predecessor,
pledging himself under hand and seal, so far as in him lay, to its faithful
execution, ‘“when that happy time should come.” Long before the close of
the Revolutionary War, the Mohawks, with their Loyalist neighbours in the
Valley of the Mohawk, had fled to Canada. Their beautiful country, together
with that of their brethren of the Six Nations, had been desolated by the
ravages of fire and sword. At the close of the war the Mohawks were tempo-
rarily residing on the American side of the Niagara River, at what was then
called “The Landing,” now called Lewiston. Their brethren, the Senecas,
offered them a portion of their lands upon the Genesee River. But as Captain
Brant said, “ The Mohawks were determined to sink or swim with the English ;”
the generous offer of the Senecas was declined ; and the Mohawk chief pro-
ceeded to Quebec to arrange for the settlement of his people in the royal
dominions. A tract of land upon the Bay of Quinte was designated for their
settlement. But upon the return of Captain Brant to his people, the location
was unsatisfactory to their brethren, the Senecas, who, apprehending that
their troubles with the United States were not at an end, desired their settle-
ment near the Senecas’ territory. Under these circumstances, Captain Brant
convened a council of his people, and the country upon the “Ouse,” or Grand
River, was selected, lying upon both sides of that stream from its mouth upon
Lake Erie, to its head ; which was conveyed to the Mohawks, and others of
the Six Nations who chose to settle there, by a formal grant from the Crown.
It was at this period that Brant resolved to visit England a second time, for the
purpose of perfecting all necessary plans for the settlement of his people on
the soil where he had so faithfully served to maintain the honour of the British
flag. Sir John Johnson, who had visited England immediately after the war,
returned to Canada during the summer of 1785. He seems to have been
charged with the settlement of the Indian claims, but accomplished nothing to
their satisfaction. Johnson was strongly opposed to Brant’s mission across the
Atlantic, and wrote, on the 6th of November, strongly dissuading him from the
undertaking. But the chief was not to be diverted from his purpose, and he
sailed in time to arrive about the 12th of December. A notice of his arrival in
Salisbury was published in London, in December, 1785. IHis reception at the
British capital was all that he could wish. He was treated with the highest
consideration and distinction. Many ofticers of the army whom he had met in
America recognized him with great cordiality. His arrival was thus announced :
“ Monday last, Captain Joseph Brant, the celebrated King of the Mohawks,
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arrived in thiscity from America; and after dining with Colonel De Peister at
the headquarters here, proceeded immediately to London. This extraordinary
personage is said to have presided at the late grand congress of confederate
chiefs of the Indian nations in America, and to be by them appointed to the
conduct and chief command in the war which they now meditate against the
United States of America. He took his departure for England immediately as
that assembly broke up, and it is conjectured that his embassy to the British
Court is of great importance. This country owes much to the services of
Captain Brant during the late war in America. He was educated at Phila-
delphia; is a very shrewd, intelligent person, possesses great courage and
abilities as a warrior, and is inviolably attached to the British nation.” The
Baroness Riedesel thus speaks of him, having met him at the provineial court :
“] saw at times the famous Indian chief, Captain Brant. His manners were
polished, he expressed himself with fluency, and was much estecmed by Gen.
Haldimand. T dined once with him at the General’s. In his dress he showed
off to advantage in the half-military, half-savage costume. His countenance
was manly and intelligent, and his disposition mild.”

Many little incidents which occurred during this second visit to the British
capital, have furnished the basis for several anecdotes of Brant. Preliminary
to his introduction to the King, he was receiving instructions in regard to the
customary ceremonies to be observed. When he was informed that he was to
salute his Majesty by dropping on the knee and kissing the King’s hand,
Brant objected to this part of the ceremony, saying if it was a lady it would
be a pleasant and proper thing to do; but that he, being himself a king in his
own country, thought it derogatory to his dignity, and contrary to his sense of
propriety, to perform such a servile act. During his stay in London, a grand
fancy dress ball, or masquerade, was gotten up and numerously attended by
the nobility and gentry. Captain Brant was also present, richly dressed in the
costume of his nation, wearing no mask, but painting one half of his face.
His plumes nodded proudly in his head-dress, and his silver-mounted toma-
hawk glittered in his girdle. There was likewise present a stately Turkish
diplomat of rank, whose attention was particnlarly attracted by the chieftain’s
singular and, as he supposed, fantastic attire. The pageant was brilliant, but
amongst the whole motley throng of pilgrims, warriors, hermits, shepherds,
knights, damsels and gipsies, there was, to the eyes of the Mussulman, no
character so picturesque and striking as that of the Mohawk, which, being
natural, appeared to be the best make up. The Turk scrutinized the chief very
closely, and at last attempted to handle his nose. In an instant Brant, who
had watched the prying eyes of the Oriental, and was in the mood for some
fun, raised the war-whoop and brandished his tomahawk over the astounded
Mussulman’s head. Such a piercing and frightful cry had never before rung
through those halls; there was a general scramble of all hands to fly from
the blood-curdling scene—it is said that some of the affrighted ones even
tumbled down stairs in their confusion. The matter was explained, and was
accounted a good incident in the affairs of the evening.

But neither the pleasures of society, nor the special business of his mission,
nor yet the views of political ambition which he was cherishing at the time,
made him forgetful of the moral wants of his people. He had found time to
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translate the Gospel of Mark into the Mohawk language; and as most of the
Indian Prayer and Psalm Books had been destroyed during the war, he assisted
in bringing out a new and superior edition of that work. After accomplish-
ing much of what he desired in England, he returned to his_people in the
early part of the year 1786. In the grant of the land to the Mohawks, such
other of the Six Nations as were inclined to make their settlement upon it
were included. This led to some difficulty and dissatisfaction, by the intrusion
of individuals of the Six Nations who did not fully sympathize with the Mo-
hawks in their loyalty to the British Government. The whole weight of these
difficulties seemed to fall upon Capt. Brant; and his friends were at one time
anxious not only for his personal safety, but also for his popularity and influ-
ence. But he ably sustained and defended himself, and his conduct was ap-
proved by a full council of the Six Nations at Niagara. About this time he
was engaged in various matters connected with the general policy of the
Indians of the north and west, which has been mentioned under the title of
his military experience.

A change in the Government of Canada about this time brought new men
and new measures upon the stage of action. Col. J. G. Simcoe was appointed
Lieut.-Governor. The new Governor brought out letters of introduction to the
Mohawk chief. They became fast friends, and in all the peace negotiations
with the Western Indians, Capt. Brant became an active participant in the
interests of the Government of Great Britain. The beautiful tract of country
upon the Grand River, which had been designated for the settlement ot the
Mohawks, attracted the cupidity of white men, as their equally beautiful
country in the Valley of the Mohawk and western New York had done before;
and Capt. Brant exerted his influence with his people to induce them to exchange
their hunting for agriculture. In furtherance of this idea, he conceived the plan
of making sales and leases of land to skilled white agriculturists. But the
Colonial Government interposed objections, claiming that the donation from
Government was only a right of occupancy and not of sale. Capt. Brant com-
bated this idea, but was overruled by the officers of the Government, including
his friend, Gov. Simcoe. Very general dissatisfaction seems to have prevailed
among the Indians in regard to the legal construction of the title to their lands,
and attempts were made to-negotiate a peaceful settlement of the difficulty, but
with indifferent success. Capt. Brant was anxious to encourage and promote
the civilization of his people; and, in his negotiations with Gen. Haldimand,
stipulated for the erection of a church, which was built upon their Jands upon
the Grand River, and furnished with a bell and communion service brought
from their former home in the Valley of the Mohawk. This church is believed
to be the first temple erected to the worship of Almighty God in the Province
of Upper Canada. It is fully mentioned elsewhere in this work. The contro-
versy was long and determined on both sides. It resulted in the confirmation
by the Government of the sales and leases made by Brant, in many cases at
least ; but the Indians were not granted the title to their lands in fee simple.
They could hold and use them, but could not deed them away without the
consent of the Government. Capt. Brant continued to be the unyielding advo-
cate of the 1ights of his people, as an independent nation, to their lands, to the
end of his life. . His views, and the arguments by which he sustained them,
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may be gathered from an extract of a speech which he delivered at a meeting of
chiefs and warriors at Niagara, before Col. Sheafe, Col. Claus and others, on
the occasion of a Government proclamation forbidding the sale and leasing of
any of their lands by the Indians. “In the year 1775,” said he, “ Lord Dorchester,
then Sir Guy Carleton, at a numerous council, gave us every encouragement, and
requested us to assist in defending their country, and to take an active part in
defending His Majesty’s possessions, stating that when the happy day of peace
should arrive, and should we not prove successful in the contest, that he would
put us on the same footing on which we stood previous to joining him. This
flattering promise was pleasing to us, and gave us spirit to embark heartily in
His Majesty’s cause. We took it for granted that the word of so great a man,
or any promise of a public nature, would eter be held sacred. We were promised
our lands for our services, aud these lands we were to hold on the same footing
with those we fled from at the commencement of the American war, when we
joined, fought and bled in your cause. Now is published a proclamation forbid-
ding us leasing those very lands that were positively given us in lieu of those
of which we were the sovereigns of the soil, of those lands we have forsaken,
we sold, we leased, and we gave away, when and as often as we saw fit, without
hindrance on the part of your Government, for your Government well knew we
were the lawful sovereigns of the soil, and they had no right to interfere with
us as independent nations.” Capt. Brant entered into an extensive corres-
pondence with his friends, men of distinction both in the United States and
England, prineipally in regard to the title of the lands of his people, and their
settlement and civilization, an object which seemed to lie very near his heart.

Among other vexations which beset his efforts were the machinations of
“ Red Jacket,” a sort of nondescript chief of the Senecas. This pretender
appears to have been a tool in the hands of speculators to undermine the
influence and authority of Thayendanegea, but the scheme failed, and its
instigator appears to have passed into oblivion with his base designs. Brant
was again vindicated, and from that time until his decease he was the undis-
puted head of all the tribes of the Six Nations.

Among the strongest efforts of Brant’s life were the exertions made by him
to provide for the Christianizing of the pagan individuals of his people. His
correspondence in relation to the settlement of a missionary at Grand River,
shows that he considered it of great importance to the realization of his
wishes, in regard to the moral and spiritual interests of his people. He was
opposed in this matter, but finally succeeded in procuring the settlement of
the Rev. Davenport Phelps, who had married a daughter of the Rev. Dr.
Wheelock, the early friend and preceptor of Capt. Brant. Mr. Phelps was a
graduate of Yale College, and became a missionary of the Episcopal Church in
Western New York. He was ordained in Trinity Church, New York, in
December, 1801, and immediately entered upon the active duties of a
missionary. He had settled in the Province of Upper Canada ; his residence
being upon a farm near Burlington Bay, at the head of Lake Ontario. Captain
Brant urged him to accept a lot of land near the Mohawk village on Grand
River, but he declined the offer, and in 1805 he removed his family from
Canada to Onondaga, N.Y., and subsequently to Geneva, N.Y., where he
died.

8
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From Welds' “Travels through the States of North America,” 1795 to
1797, the subjoined extract is made, as illustrating the character of the chief,
in addition to what has alveady been said:—¢ When the war broke out the
Mohawks resided on the Mohawk River, in the State of New York, but on
peace being made, they emigrated into Upper Canada, and their principal
village is now situated on the Grand River, which falls into Lake Erie on the
north side, about sixty miles from the town of Newark, or Niagara. There
Brant at present resides. He has built a comfortable habitation for himself,
and any stranger who visits him may rest assured of Leing well received, and
of finding a plentiful table well served every day. He has no less than thirty
or forty negroes, who attend to his horses, cultivate his grounds, &e., &e.
These poor creatures are kept in the greatest subjection, and they dare not
attempt to make their escape, for he has assured them that if they did so,
he would. follow them himself though it were to the confines of Georgia, and
would tomahawk them wherever he met them. They know his disposition
too well not to think that he would adhere strictly to his word. Brant receives
from Government half-pay as captain, besides annual presents, &e., which in
all amounts, it is said, to five hundred pounds per annum. We had no small
curiosity, as you may well imagine, to see this Brant, and we procured letters
of introduction to him from the Governor’s secretary, and from different
officers and gentlemen of his acquaintance, with an intention of proceeding
from Newark to his village. Most unluckily, however, on the day before that
of our arrival at the town of Newark, he had embarked on board a vessel for
Kingston at the opposite end of the lake. You may judge of Brant’s con-
sequence, when I tell you that a lawyer of Niagara, who crossed Lake Ontario
with us from Kingston, where he had been detained for some time by contrary
winds, informed us the day after our arrival at Niagara, that by his not having
reached that place in time to transact some law business for Mr. Brant, and
which had consequently been given to another person, he should be the loser
of one hundred pounds at least. Brant's sagacity led him early in life to
discover that the Indians had been made the dupe of every foreign power that
had gained footing in America, and indeed could he have had any doubts on
the subject they would have been removed when he saw the British, after
having demanded and received the assistance of the Indians in the American
war, so unjustly and ungenerously yield up the whole of the Indian territories
cast of the Mississippi and south of the lakes, to the people of the United
States,the very enemies, in short, they had made to themselves at the request
of the British. He perceived with regret that the Indians, by espousing the
quarrels of the whites and espousing different interests, were weakening them-
selves, whereas, if they remained aloof, guided by one policy, they would soon
become formidable, and be treated with more respect. He formed the bold
scheme therefore of uniting the Indians together in one grand confederacy,
and for this purpose he sent messengers to different chiefs, proposing that a
general meeting should be held of the heads of every tribe to take the subject
into consideration. But certain of the tribes, suspicious of Brants designs,
and fearful that he was bent upon acquiring power for himself by this measure,
opposed it with all their influence. Brant has, in consequence, become ex-
tremely obnoxious to many of the most warlike, and with such a jealous eye
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do they now regard him, that it would not be perfectly safe for him to return
to the upper country. He has managed the affairs of his own people with
great ability, and leased out their superfluous lands for them for long terms
of years, by which measure a certain annual revenue is insured to the nation.
He wisely judged that it was much better to do so than to suffer the Mohawks,
as many other tribes had done, to sell their possessions by piecemeal, the sums
of money they received for which, however great, would soon be dissipated if
paid to them at once.

During the last few years of his life, Brant had many journeys to perform—
to the Lower Province, in the interests of his own people; to the Upper.Lakes,
to keep the chain of friendship with his old confederates from becoming rusty ;
to Canandaigua and elsewhere, upon matters of business or friendship. In 1797
he made another visit to Albany and Philadelphia, striking into New England
by way of New York on his return. While in Philadelphia he was made the
especial guest of the celebrated Colonel Aaron Burr, who had been in corres-
pondence with him previous to his arrival. On leaving Philadelphia for New
York, Colonel Burr gave the chief a letter of introduction to his youthful and
gifted daughter, Theodosia, afterwards Mrs. Aliston. For the purpose of show-
ing the estimation in which Brant was held by so distinguished a gentleman
as Aaron Burr undoubtedly was, the letter above mentioned is here given:
“ PHILADELPHIA, February 28, 1797.—This will be handed to vou by Colonel
Brant, the celebrated Indian chief. I am sure that you and Natalie will be
happy in the opportunity of seeing a man so much renowned. He is a man of
education, speaks and writes the English perfectly, and has seen much of
Evrope and America. Receive him with respect and hospitality. He isnot one
of those Indians who drink rum, but is quite a gentleman; not one who will
make fine bows, but one who understands and practises what belongs to pro-
priety and good breeding. He has daughters ; if you could think of some little
present to send to one of them—a pair of ear-rings, for example—it would please
him. You may talk to him very freely, and offer to introduce him to your
friend, Mr. Witbeck, of Albany. Vale, et amo—A. B.” Miss Theodosia enter-
tained the forest chief with all the courtesy suggested by her father, as is
evidenced by herletters to him immediately after Brant’s departure. His stay
in New York was pleasant enough, as it also was in New England, but in
Albany he was treated rather coolly, and even threatened with violence. On
this account Governor Jay directed a guard to be detailed, which escorted him
through the Mohawk Valley, on his way to Upper Canada.

The correspondence of Brant, after his retirement from military to civil life,
besides that pertaining to the current business which engaged much of his
attention with literary and scientific men, was considerable. His replies to
letters of this class show him to have been a man of deep reflection, independent
thought, and of intelligence above most of the white men of his time, and are
characterized by good common sense. The education of his children seems
never to have been lost sight of amid all the cares and perplexities of his public
life. !

The following letter, written by Capt. Brant to James Wheelock, son of the
President of Dartmouth College, his former preceptor in the Moor Charity
School, will best illustrate his views on that subject : :
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“ NIAGARA, 3rd October, 1800.

“ DEAR SIR,—Although it is a long time since I have had the pleasure of
seeing you, still I have not forgot there is such a person in being, and now
embrace the kind offer you once made me in offering to take charge of my son
Joseph, whom I certainly at that time should have sent out, had it not been
that there was apparently a jealousy existing between the British and Ameri-
cans ; however, I hope it is not yet too late. I send both my sons Joseph
and Jacob, who I doubt not will be particularly attended to by my friends. I
could wish them to be studiously attended to, not only as to their edueation,
but likewise to their morals in particular. This is, no doubt, needless mention-
ing, as I know of old, and from personal experience at your seminary, that
these things are paid strict attention to. Let my sons be at what schools
soever, your overseeing them will be highly flattering to me. I should, by
this opportunity, have wrote Mr. John Wheelock on the same subject, but a.
hurry of business at this time prevents me. I shall hereafter take the first
opportunity of dropping him a few lines. TUntil then, please make my best
respects to him, and earnestly solicit his friendship and attention to my boys,
which, be assured of, I shall ever gratefully acknowledge.

“T am, Dear Sir, wishing you and your family health and happiness,

“Your friend and well-wisher,
“To MR. JAMES WHEELOCK.” “ JOoSEPH BRANT.”

The two boys, Jacoh and Joseph, were sent to school at Hanover, and pro-
secuted their studies quite to the satistaction of their teachers, exhibiting not
only excellent capacity and diligence, but good deportment, and great ami-
ability of character. Unfortunately a difficulty sprang up between the boys,
which resulted in Joseph leaving the school and returning to his parents.
Jacob remained a while longer, when he too visited home, but subsequently
returned to the school to resume his studies. On the oceasion of his son’s
return, Captain Brant writes to his friend, Mr. James Wheelock, the follow-
ing letter:

“NTAGARA, 14th December, 1802,

“ My DEAR Sik,—TI received your very polite and friendly letter by my son
Jacob, and am very much obliged to you, your brother, and all friends, for the
great attentions that have been paid to both of my sons, and to Capt. Dunham
for the great care he took of Jacob on the journey.

“My son would have returned to you long before this but for a continued
sickness in the family, which brought Mrs. Brant very low.

“ My son Jacob and several of the children are very ill. My son returns to
be under the care of the President, and I sincerely hope he will pay such atten-
tion to his studies as will do eredit to himself and be a comfort to his friends.
The horse that Jacob rides out I wish to be got in good order, after he arrives,
and sold, as an attentive scholar has no time to ride about. Mrs. Brant joins
me in the most affectionate respects to you and Mrs. Wheelock.

“T am, Dear Sir, with great respect,
“Your sincere friend and humble servant,
“ JOSEPH BRANT.”

“To Jamrs WHEELOCK, Esq.”
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The following extract from a book entitled, “Travels in the Interior of the
Uninhabited parts of North America, in the years 1791-2, by Alexander Camp-
bell, Captain 42nd Regiment,” will serve perhaps to throw some light upon
the every-day life of Captain Brant while he was living at the Mohawk
village, near Brantford. The plain story of Captain Campbell is vigorous
enough to be refreshing, and so frank withal that its truthfulness cannot be
doubted :

“FroM NIAGARA TO THE GRAND RIVER.

“On the 9th of February I set out with a party of gentlemen in two sleds on
an excursion to the Grand River. Put up for the first night at Squire
McNab’s, and next day dined at the house of one Henry, who had only been
here for six years; put up at night at the house of one Sivith, who came from
the colonies two years ago.

“The land as we came along seemed extremely good—heavy timber, consisting
of oak, walnut, chestnut, hickory, maple sugar wood, ash, pine and a variety of
others, all lofty of their kind, particularly in that space which lies between the
long stretch of precipices called the ‘mountain,’ and the side of the lake.
This space is from one to four miles broad and from fifty to sixty miles long
from Niagara to Lake Geneva. This mountain begins in the Genesee country
and stretches along until it crosses the River Niagara at the Grand Falls;
from thence in a serpentine form to the head of the small lake called by the
Indians ¢ Ouilqueton,” and known to the white people by the name of
¢ Greneva,” and from thence to the Bay of Toronto, opposite to the Fort of
‘Niagara on the north side of Lake Ontario, a stretch of between two and
three hundred miles long. We stayed that night with Mr. Paisley, who enter-
tained us with the greatest hospitality. d

“ February 11th. We set out from Mr. Paisley’s. For several miles on the
way to the Grand River the lands are so open as to have searce a sufficiency
of wood for enclosures and the necessary purposes of farming; but towards
the mountain the wood becomes thick and lofty, as is common in that country,
for several miles along the mountain. Towards evening we fell down on a
gentleman’s farm, where we stopped to warm ourselves and bait our horses.
No sooner was our repast over than we bade adieu to the family, mounted
our sleds and drove down to the Indian village; alighted about nightfall at
the house of the celebrated Indian chief and warrior, Captain Joseph Brant.
This renowned warrior is not of any royal or conspicuous blood, but by his
ability in war and political conduct in peace has raised himself to the highest
dignity in his nation, and his alliance is now courted by sovereign and foreign
states. Of this there are recent instances, as he has had within the last
three wecks several private letters and public despatches from Congress
soliciting his attendance at Philadelphia on matters of high importance; but
after consulting Col. Gordon, commandant of all the British troops in Upper
Canada, he excused himself and declined to aceept the invitation. He just
now-enjoys a pension and captaiu’s half pay from the British Government,
and seemed to keep quite staunch by it, but a person of his great political
talents ought to be carefully looked after ; at the same time, I am convinced
that he bears no good-will to the American States, and seems to be much
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rejoiced at the drubbing their troops got from the Indians on the 4th of last
November, when, by the Indian account, 1300 of them were killed on the spot,
but by the American, only 800, including the wounded ; the former is nearest
the truth and gains most credit here. By comparing the numbers brought to
the field with those that remained after the action, which is the surest way
to judge, their loss must have exceeded 1600. I saw a muster roll and returns
of some of the companies, and examined if there were any Scotch names
among them, and could find none but one Campbell, who it would appear by
their orderly book was among those that deserted, of whom there were a
great many. My reason for examining this so particulaily was that I was
informed the American army was mostly made up of Scotch and Irish
emigrants, to whom Congress promised free lands at the close of the Indian
war in the event they would engage in it. ,Capt. Green, of the 26th regiment,
who held the orderly book, made the same remark in regard to names, so that
T am happy that the report was ill-founded. Captain Brant, who is well
acquainted with European manners, received us with much politeness and
hospitality. Here we found two young married ladies with their husbands
on a visit to the famnily, both of them very fair complexioned and well looking
women. But when Mrs. Brant appeared, superbly dressed, in the Indian
fashion, the elegance of her person, grandeur of her looks and deportment, her
large mild black eyes, symmetry and harmony of her expressive features,
though much darker in complexion, so far surpassed them as not to admit of
the smallest comparison between the Indian and the fair European ladies. I
could not in her presence so much as look at them without marking the differ-
ence. Her blanket was made up of silk and the finest English cloth, bordered
with a narrow strip of embroidered lace; her sort of jacket and scanty petti-
coat of the same stuff, which came down only to her knees; her garters or
leggins, of the finest scarlet, fitted close as a stocking, which showed to
advantage her stout but remarkably fine formed limbs, her moccasins (Indian
shoes) ornamented with silk ribbons and beads. Her person is about five feet
nine or ten inches high, as straight and proportionable as can be, but inclined
to be jolly or lusty. She understands but does not speak English. I have
often addressed her in that language, but she always answered in the Indian
tongue. They have a fine family of children. I remarked of one fine-looking
boy, about eight years old, that he was like his mother. His father said he
was so, and that he was glad of it; that he was a good scholar and a good
hunter; that he had already shot several pheasants and other birds; that he-
and two other boys of the same age had been lately in the woods with their
guns ; that they supposed they had found the track of a deer, which they
followed too far, got wet, and became cold; that, however, young as they
were, they put up a fire and warmed themselves and returned home ; that
before they arrived their toes were frost-bitten, of which he was then not
quite recovered. I mention this circumstance to show how early the young
Indians are bred to the chase, and the instance of their early being bred to
war is, that I myself saw a rifle-barrelled gun taken by an Indian boy from
an American, whom he shot dead in the action of the 4th of November last,
and he was allowed to keep it on account of his gallant behaviour. Tea was.
on the table when we came in, served up on the handsomest china plate, and
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every other furniture in proportion. After tea was over we were entertained
with the music of an elegant hand organ on whieh a young Indian gentleman
and Mr. Clinch played alternately. Supper was served up in the same genteel
style. Our beverages were brandy, port and Madeira wines. Capt, Brant
made several apologies for his not being able to sit up with us so long as we
wished, being a little out of order ; and we, being fatigued after our journey,
went timeously to rest ; our beds, sheets and English blankets were fine and
comfortable. r

“ Next day being Sunday, we, the visitors, went to church. The service
was given out by an Indian in the absence of the minister, who was indis-
posed, and I néver saw more decorum or attention paid in any church in all
my life. The Tudian squaws sung most charmingly, with a musical voice, I
think peculiar to themselves. Dinner was just going on the table in the same
elegant style as the preceding night, when I returned to Capt. Brant’s house,
the servants dressed in their best apparel. Two slaves attended the table, the
one in scarlet, the other in coloured clothes, with silver buckles in their shoes,
and ruffles,and every other part of their apparel in proportion. After dinner,
Capt. Brant, that he might not be wanting in doing me the honours of his
nation, directed all the young warriors to assemble in a certain large house, to
show me the war dance, to which we all adjourned abouwt nightfall. Such as
were at home of the Indians appeared, superbly dressed in their most showy
apparel, glittering with silver in all the variety of shapes and forms of their
fancies, which made a dazzling appearance. The pipe of peace, with long
white feathers, and that of war, with red feathers equally long, were exhibited
in their tirst war dance, with shouts and war-whoops resounding to the skies.

“The chief himself held the drum, beat time, and often joined in the song
with a certain cadence to which they kept time. The variety of forms into
which they put their bodies, and the agility with which they changed from
one strange position to another, was really curious to a European eye not
accustomed to such a sight. !

« Several warlike dances were performed which the chief was at particular
pains to explain to me, but still I could not understand, or see any affinity
excepting in the *eagle attack, which indeed had some resemblance. After the
war dance was over—which took up about two hours, as the whole exhibition
was performed in honour of me, being the only stranger, who they were told
by my fellow travellers meant to publish my travels on my return home, which
they judged of by the notes I took of everything I saw, though in reality I
had no such thing in view at the time—I was desired by Mr. Clinch to make a
speech, and thank them for their handsome performances. As this could not
be declined without giving offence, I was obliged to get up, and told them I
would address them in the Indian language of my own country, and said in
Gaelic, ‘ That I had fought in many parts of Europe, killed many men, and
now being in America, I did not doubt that I would fight with them yet, par-
ticularly if the Yankees attacked us’ My worthy friend, Capt. McNab,
explained in English my speech, as also did Capt. Clinch, in the Indian tongue,
at which they laughed very heartily. No sooner was the war dance over than
they began their own native and civil ones, in which Capt. Brant and I Jjoined.
He placed me between two handsome young squaws, and himself between
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other two. In this way we continued for two hours more, without conming off
the floor, dancing and singing, he himself keeping time all along, which all
the rest followed in the same cadence. The serpentine dance is admirably
curious; one takes lead representing the head, and the others follow one after
the other joined hand in hand, and before the close of the dance we were put
in all the folds and forms a serpent can be in. After this and every other
dance peculiar to their nation was over, we began Scotch reels, and I was much
surprised to see how neatly they danced them. Their persons are perfectly
formed for such exercise. The men, from the severity of their hunting excur-
sions, are rather thin, but tall and straight, and well proportioned, e\tremely
agile and supple. The women are much fairer in their complexion, plump and
inclined to be lusty.

“ Here we continued until near daylight. I told Capt. Brant that in my coun-
try at all country weddings and frolics it was customary to Aiss both before
and after every dance. He said it was a strange though agreeable custom, but
that it would never do here, I suppose owing to the JealouS)' of the men. I had
bought two gallons of rum to entertain them and he had ordered six bottles of
Madeira wine from his own house, and would’ hardly allow the other gentlemen
and myself to take any other liquor. By my being in a manner under the neces-
sity of drinking grog with the young Indians and squaws, I got tipsy, though
T and one young “Indian were the only persons present in the least atfected.
As for the squaws, I could hardly get them to taste, however warm they miglit
be with dancing.

“When Captain Brant observed the young Indian was affected with what
he had drank, he requested I should give him no more, taxed him with being
drunk, and said he must turn him out of the company if he did not take care
what he was about.

“On the whole, I do not remember I ever passed a night in my life I enjoyed
more. Everything was new to me and striking in its manner; the old chief
entered into all the frolics of the young peop]e in which I was obhoed to join.
But the other gentlemen, to whom none of these things were new, “looked on,
and only engaged now and then in the reels. After passing the night in this
agreeable manner, and I being a good deal fatigued with drinking and dancing,
we retired to rest.

“ Captain Brant showed me a brace of double-barrelled pistols, a curious guu,
and a silver-hilted dagger he had got as presents from noblemen and gentlemen
in England, when he was in that” country on an embassy from his own and
other Indian nations. Fach of the double-barrelled pistols had but one lock,
the hammer of which was so broad as to cover the two pans and two touch-holes,
so that both shots would go off at once; and when he had a mind to fire but
one barrel at a time, there was a slip of iron which by a slight touch covered
one of the pans so as that only which was uncovered would go off. The gun
being sufficiently charged, would fire fifteen shots in the space of half a
minute.

“ The construction of this curious piece was, as near as I can describe it, as
follows: There was a powder chamber or magazine adjoining to the lock,
which would hold fifteen charges, another cavity for as many balls,and a third
for the priming, and by giving one twist round to a sort of handle on the left
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hand side opposite the lock, the gun would be loaded from these magazines,
primed and cocked, so that the fifteen charges could be fired, one after another,
in the space of half a minute, at the same time he might fire but one or
two shots, less or more of them, as he chose. He said there was something of
the work within wrong, so that he could not get it to fire more than eight shots
without stopping. He tried it at a mark, and said it shot very well. Of the
dagger, he said it was the most useful weapon in action he knew—that it was
far better than a tomahawk ; that he was once obliged to strike a man four or
five times with a tomahawk before he killed him, owing to hurry and not
striking him with the fair edge, whereas he never missed with the dagger.
Others told me that he was not over scrupulous or sparing on these oceasions.
Another instance he said was that he had seen two Indians with spears or
lances attack a man, one on each side ; that just as they pushed to pierce him
through the body, he seized on the spears, one in each hand; they tugged and
pulled to no purpose, until a third person came up and dispatched him. This
could not be done to a dagger, and of course it was by odds the better weapon.

“ Mr. Clinch, who is a young man of liberal education, served through the
last war in the Indian Department, and was on many expeditions along with
Capt. Brant. They put one another in mind of many strange adventures ;
among others that of having once brought boys and a number of women and
girle prisoners to Detroit,and so served that whole settlement, which was much
in want of females. The description of the consequences gave me a lively
idea of the rape of the Sabine women by the first settlers of Rome, but the
difference was great, for here the former husbands and lovers had been killed.
A tailor in this place told me he was one of the boys captured on the oceasion;
that his eldest brother and father were killed. The latter, after he had been
taken prisoner and brought a great part of the way, had got fatigued and
could not travel, on which he was tomahawked by the Indians. 1 cannot see
how the necessities of war can warrant such barbarities to women and children,
independent of the cruelty shown to men and prisoners.

“ Another story of Capt. Brant’s relating to hunting was, that himself and
another being on an expedition with a large party to the south, and nearly run
out of provisions, and dreading the consequences, had gone a hunting on
horseback ; that they preferred small to large game, as the small would be the
exclusive property of him who killed it, whereas the large game must be
equally divided among the party; that they rode on through the woods, and
at last fell in with a large flock of turkeys, and galloped after them as fast as
they could, until they obliged the turkeys to take wing and get upon trees,
when the party alighted from their horses and shot seventeen fine turkeys,
with which they returned to camp. They all shot with rifles. Lieut. Turner,
of the first regiment continental troops, was the only officer taken prisoner by
the Indians in the action of 4th November, 1791, who survived the slaughter
of his countrymen. He said that when he was taken prisoner among the
Indians he was one day permitted to go along with them to the woods on a
Lhunting party ; that they soon fell in with turkeys. The Indians pursued on
foot as fast as they could, running, falling and hallooing all the time to
frighten the birds, and when they had thus got them on trees, they shot many
of them. Several other persons have said that this was the surest way to get
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them. They are so tame, or stupid, when they are in the trees, as to stand
perhaps till the last be killed. Whereas,on the ground, they were so quick-
sighted and fleet, that in an instant they were out of sight. An old turkey
cock will outrun any man on the ground. Another method practised is that
of watching them on the ground until they get up to roost in the trees in the
evening, when the sportsmen may shoot on until the last in the flock be
killed. i

“With Capt. Brant I had a conversation upon religion,  introduced by him
indeed, and not by me. He said that we were told everyone that was not a
Christian would go to hell; if so, what would become of the miserable souls
of many Indians who never heard of Christ; asked if I believed so, and what
I thought of it? 1 frankly told him that if all the saints and priests on earth
were to tell me so, I would not believe them. With such as were instructed
in the Christian religion, and did not conform to its precepts, I did not doubt
but it would fare the worse ; that I believed that it might be so with those of
any other religion ; but I supposed it was a matter of little moment in the
omnipresent eye of the Creator of the universe, whether he was worshipped on
Sundays in the church or on Saturdays in the mosque ; and that the gratetul
tribute of everyone would be received however different the mode of offering
it might be; that everyone has only to account for those actions which he
knew to be wrong at the time of committing them ; but for these, that surely
a time of reckoning would come. He spoke of the Virgin Mary and her
husband Joseph, and even of our Saviour, in a way that induced me to waive
the subject. It, however, showed the difficulty of converting these people
from the early prejudice of education. But his discourses brought to mind a
conversation on traditionary ramours that passed between Ossian, the son of
Fingal, and Patrick, the first Christian missionary he had seen. Before I take
leave of this charming country and the honour done me by the renowned
chief and his warlike tribe of handsome young warriors, all of the Mohawk
nation, I must not omit saying that it appears to me to be the finest country
I have as yet seen ; and by every information I have had none are more so in
all America. The plains are very extensive, with few trees here and there
interspersed,and so thinly scattered as not to require any clearing, and hardly
sufficient for the necessaries of the farmer. The soil is rich, and a deep clay
mould. The river is about 100 yards broad, and navigable for large bateaux
to Lake Erie, a space of sixty miles, excepting for about two miles, of what
are here called rapids, but in Scotland would be called ‘fords,’ and in which
the bateaux are easily poled up against any little stream there may be. Abund-
ance of fish are caught here in certain seasons, particularly in the spring, such
as sturgeon, pike, pickerel, maskinonge, and others peculiar to this country ;
and the woods abound with game. The habitations of the Indians are pretty
close together on each side of the river, as far as I could see, with a very few
white people interspersed among them married to squaws, and others of half-
blood, their offspring. The church in the village is elegant, the schoolhouse
commodious, both built by the British Government, which annually orders a
great many presents to be distributed among the natives: ammunition and
warlike sfores, of all the necessary kinds; saddles, bridles, kettles, cloth,
blankets, tomahawks with tobacco-pipes in the end of them ; other things and
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trinkets innumerable, provisions and stores, so that they may live, and really
be, as the saying is, ‘happy as the day is long.’

“ February 13th. When Capt. Brant found that we would be away, he
ordered his sled to be got ready, and after breakfast he and Mrs. Brant accom-!
panied us the length of ten or twelve iniles to the house of an Indian who had
a kitchen and store room, clean floors and glass windows, erops, and cattle in
proportion, where we put up to warm ourselves. Capt. Brant brought some
wine, rum and cold meat, for the company. After refreshing ourselves, we
bade adieu to our hospitable and renowned host and his elegant squaw, and
bounded on our journey along the banks of the Grand River. The land seemed
extremely good as we came alon(r The first village of Indians, the next of white
people, and so on alternately, as far as I have been, and for all I know, to the
side of the lake. The Indians in this part of the country seem to be of different
nations, Mohawks, Cherokees, Tuscaroras and Mississaguas. I called at different
villages, or castles as they are called here, and saw the inhabitants had large
quantities of Indian corn drying in every house, suspended in the roof, and in
every corner of them. We put up at the house of Mr. Ellis, who treated us very
hospitably.

“ February 14th. We went a visiting for several miles down the river side,
and dined at the house of a half-pay ofﬁcer a Mr. Young, who had served in
the last war as a lieutenant in the Indian Department married to a squaw,
sister to one of the chiefs of the Mohawk nation, who succeeded Capt. David.
This gentleman, of Dutch extraction, used me with marked attention and hos-
pitality. Messrs. Clinch, Forsyth and I stayed with him that night playing
whist, cribbage and other games. Here I for the first time played cards with
a squaw. Next morning he conducted us in his own sled the length of Mr.
Ellis’s. He told us that a few days ago a wolf killed a deer on the ice near his
house, and showed us the remains of a tree which, before it was burnt, measured
tw ent) -eight feet in circumference.

“]nebru'uy 15th! We set out from Mr. Young’s; crossed a forest of about
twenty miles without a settlement ; fell in with "Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Patton,
a Mr. Henry and his wife, and some sleds loaded with grain going to mill.
Here we all stopped to bait our horses at the side of a stream or creek ; made a
fire and dined upon such victuals as we brought along with us, in a shade put
up by some trading Indians. I saw the track of a deer as we came along, and
where one of them was dragged on a hand sled or tobogan, on the snow. Mr.
and Mrs. Patton invited our company to their house, to which we readily agreed.
Mrs. Patton is a very well looking, agreeable young lady, and he himself a
good, plain sort of man. We artived about nightfall, and after refreshing
onrselves with some tea, and some glasses of Port and Madeira wines, the card
tables were produced, on which we played till supper time. 1In this, and indeed
every place we had been in, we were genteely and hospitably entertained.

“TFebruary 16th. After breakfast we set out from Mr. Andrew Patton’s, and
bade adieu to him and his amiable wife. Called at Major Tinbrook’s, and dined
at Squire McNab’s. Here we were told that a party of pleasure had gone from
Niagara and the barracks, to meet us on our return from the Grand River at a
place called the Cheapway, three miles above the Grand Falls, and have a dance
there that night, which would disappoint them much in the event we did not



128 HISTORY OF BRANT COUNTY.

appear. Capt. McNab insisted on my being there in particular, for reasons he
said I could not well dispense with. I therefore agreed, and my particular
friend, the Squire, was good emough to furnish me with his carriage and a
couple of good horses. This Mr. McNab is a gentleman of genteel and inde-
pendent property—is a justice of the peace, which gives him the title of Squire,
and a member of the Land Board. After dinner, we all set out. I, with Mr.
Johnston Butler, called at his father’s (Col. of that name); from thence to
Captain Clineh’s, on Mississagua Point, opposite Fort Niagara. From thence
again in one carriage to the Chippewa, where we arrived about eight o’clock at
night—two and twenty miles from the place we dined at. Here we drank tea
supped, played cards, and danced until daylight. - In the morning I took Mr,
Forsyth, Lieut. Daniel, and Mackenzie, of the twenty-sixth regiment, info my
sled. Breakfasted at Mr. Binckes’ house, who has some saw and grist mills on a
small stream cut out from the side of the great river. Stopped at the Grand
Falls, and saw themn for the second time. Called at Mr. Hamilton’s, and arrived
in the evening at Niagara.

“March 4th. Before I take leave of Niagara, I must not omit to express my
obligations and acknowledgments to my very particular friends Messrs. McNab,
Mr. Hamilton and family, Mr. Dickson, merchant, Poets Moore and Kerr,
Messts. Crooks and Forsyth, Mr. Clark, storekeeper, Mr. Farquharson, commis-
sary ; Mr. Johnson, Indian interpreter, Mr. Clinch, Captain Law, and his son
and young Mr. Alexander McNab. Did I particularize every mark of atten-
tion and hospitality of these gentlemen to strangers which T myself experienced
to a very high degree, and how many happy mights I spent with them in that
place at assemblies, entertainments and card parties, I should make a diffuse
narration of it ; but I therefore suffice to say that I am extremely sensible of
their politeness, and will always make grateful acknowledgments. Near the
village of New Johnstone is the seat of the late Sir William Johnson, Baronet,
of whom the inhabitants speak to this day with the highest gratitude and
respect. He died a year or two before the breaking out of the war. He was
a man of unbounded power in this country. Affability and generosity were his
distinguishing qualities. He had a large property in land, and was to the Indians,
as well as to the Scotch inhabitants, a father and a friend. To him they looked
up for relief in all their distress and wants. He kept a squaw, now called ‘Old
Miss Molly, sister to the famous Captain Joseph Brant, by whom he had several
children, male and female, now in life; to each of whom he bequeathed at his
death £1,500, besides leaving a large sum to the mother, who now lives at
Niagara.

«Tt is said the sons are somewhat wild, and savour a little of the Indian ; but
that the daughters have the mild dispositions and manners of the Europeans.
One of them is well married. I have often been in her house and been very
genteely entertained. She is the best dancer I think I have ever seen perform.
Her husband is a particular friend and countryman of my own, is surgeon to
the Indian Department in the District of Nossa, with a salary of about £200
a year from the Government. To cross the breed of any species of creatures is
deemed an advantage, but I am convinced it can be to none more than the
human species. I do not remember to have seen an instance where a white
man and an Indian woman did not produce handsome children. Thousands of
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examples of this kind might be given. The famous and handsome Capt. David
and the present Mr. Brant afford striking instances of this kind, and of whom
I have spoken in another place. The greatest warriors and most conspicuous
characters among the southern Indians now at war with the Americans are half
blood. They retain the expressive features, the fine large black eyes, hair and
eyebrows of the Indians, with a much fairer tint of skin, which are easily dis-
cernible even to the third generation, if not longer. Sir William lived in great
splendour in this place. In his family were slaughtered 100 fat hogs and 24
oxen annually, and everything else was in proportion. Sir William was wont
to say that he was born in Ireland, but that his father when a boy came from
Glencoe in Scotland, and that he deemed himself of that country. The
Johnsons, or, as they were called in Gaelic language, McDons of Glencoe, now
McDonalds, were anciently a very warlike race, and in times of barbarism not
the least so of their neighbours ; but it is somewhat singular that scarcely one
of them who left his country in early life, and issued out into the world to push
his fortunes, but made a distinguished figure in it. Their vein of poetry was
such that any one of them who could not compose extempore in rhyme was
deemed a by-leap, but that practice, which was then much in use and shone
very conspicuous in them, is now discontinued, and their genius in that line is
no better than others. Sir William had the distribution of the King’s gratui-
ties and stores to the Indians, and his manner of distributing them was very
different from what is now practised. When an Indian came for his presents
he was carried into the store and allowed to choose for himself, which pleased
him mightily, and he often went off with a few trinkets of little value. At pre-
sent I have seen saddles, bridles, &c., given to Indians who had never crossed
a horse, and many other things given in the same way of as little utility to
them ; and the tirst use the possessors made of them was to dispose of them to
the first bidder at half value. Sir William was so remarkably beloved, that if
he had been 1 life when the war broke out it was supposed the whole inhabit-
ants of the back parts of the Province of New York would have risen in arms
along with him. His son, Sir John, was more distant, and not so affable in his
manners, and of course not so well liked. However, the greatest part of the
young Scoteh settlers, besides some Irish and Germans, adhered to his fortunes ;
and he raised a corps of the smartest, liveliest, and the most useful troops in
the British service. Their sufferings were very great ; they were often obliged to
eat horses, dogs and cats, and yet were never heard to complain, if they could
‘distress their enemies. They and the Indians went hand in hand: the former
led on by a son of Colonel Butler, a gallant young officer, who was killed in the
war, and the latter by the intrepid Captain Brant. This chosen corps, this
band of brothers, was rarely known to be worsted in any skirmish or action,
though often obliged to retire and betake themselves to the wilderness when
superior forces came against them. Sir John’s corps and Butler’s Rangers were
very distressing to the back settlers. Their advances aid retreats were equally
sudden and astonishing, and to this day the Americans say they might as easily
have found a parcel of wolves in the woods as them if once they entered it.
That the first notice of their approach,was them in sight, and of their retreat,
their being out of reach. These two bodies were chiefly made up of Indians
and Scotch Highlanders, who adhered closely to their country’s cause, and such
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of them as survived the war are now settled in Upper Canada. T have known
many of them, both officers and soldiers, and the account they gave of the fatigue
and sufferings they underwent is hardly credible, were it not confirmed by one

and all of them.”
THE BRANT GENEALOGY.—DOMESTIC RELATIONS.

As has been explained at some length in another part of this section, Brant’s
origin is not quite clear ; yet from all the facts and circumstances which are
known, it is believed to be fair to assert that he was a lineal descendant of one
of the regularly acknowledged chieftains of his people. According to this
understanding, the genealogical record of Brant would assume the following
order :—

“Tehowaghwengaraghkin,” a Mohawk of the Wolf tribe, whose home
was at Canajoharie, the central castle of the Mohawks. This chief was
descended from one of the sachems who visited England in 1710. He is
supposed to have died while on a temporary sojourn in the west, probably in
Ohio. The children of Tehowaghwengaraghkin were: 1. A son, whose name is
unknown. 2. A son, name unknown. 3. JOSEPH THAYENDANEGEA, called
Joseph Brant, from Nickus Brant, whom his mother took for a second husband,
after the death of No. 1. Thayendanegea married first, Margaret, an Indian
woman, who died probably in 1771. His second wife was Susanna, a half-
sister to Margaret. He was united with this woman by a German clergyman,
in the winter of 1772-3. Susanna died shortly after marriage, without issue.
In the winter of 1780, while present at the wedding of Miss Moore and Captain
Wm. Powell, which took place at Fort Niagara, he was regularly wedded to
his third wife, Catherine, with whom he had been living according to the
Indian fashion for some time previous. 4. Molly, known in history as “ Miss
Molly,” and who became the second wife of Sir William Johnson, the com-
mandant of H. B. M. forces in the Mohawk country, and also the Superintend-
ent of Indian Affairs in Canada.

The children of Captain Joseph Brant were: 1. Isaae, born probably at
Canajoharie, married, and died at Burlington Heights in 1802, from the etfeets
of a wound received at the hands of his father, whose life he had attempted to
take while in a fit of drunken frenzy. 2. Christina, born at Canajoharie,
married, and died. The above children were by Brant’s first wife, Margaret.
3. Joseph, Jr., died in 1830. 4. Jacob, died in 1846. 5. John, was never
married ; died in 1832. 6. Margaret, married —— Powles, and died in 1848.
7. Catherine, married Peter John, and died at Wellington Square, January
31st, 1867. 8. Mary, married Seth Hill. 9. Elizabeth, married William John-
son Kerr, Esq., a grandson of Sir William Johnson. The marriage of this lady
took place at the Mohawk church in 1828 ; she died at Wellington Square in
April, 1844,

The children of [saac Brant were : 1. Isaac, Jr.; 2. Margaret; 3. Ellen,
married Lotteridge.

The children of Christina were four sons and three daughters; one of the
latter was Mary, who married Joseph Sawyer, deceased, late chief of the “ New
Credit,” or Mississagua band of Chippewas.
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Joseph, Jr., was the father of Catherine, who married Aaron Hill

Jacob Brant was the father of—1. John ; 2. Squire; 3. Christina, married the
late John Jones ; 4. Jacob, Jr., married Mary Jones ; 5. Peter; and 6. Charlotte,
married Peter Smith.

Margaret (Powles) Brant was the mother of several children, whose individual
history has not been traced.

Catherine (Jones) Brant had three children, whose history is unknown.

Mary (Hill) Brant was the mother of one child, living in 1873

Elizabeth (Kerr) Brant had four children. Their history has not been traced.

The foregoing family record has been arranged from such materials as were
at hand, and is not claimed to be complete ; indeed, it would be difficult to
collect all the details necessary for an unbroken chain of geneological history,
especially as few family records have been preserved.

TIsaac, the eldest of Brant’s children, was partly educated at a school in the
Mohawk Valley, and his education was completed at Niagara. His disposi-
tion, bad from his youth, grew worse as he increased in years, and was not
improved by his associations at the military post of Niagara after the War of
the Revolution. He fell into the habit of drinking while at this post, and
when in his cups was a dangerous man. Thayendanegea made every effort
to reclaim his wayward son, but all to little purpose. He committed several
outrages of a grave nature, among which was the murder, in cold blood, of a
harness maker named Lowell, at the Mohawk village. In 1795 there was an
assemblage of the Indians at Burlington Heights for the purpose of receiving
the annual bounty from the Governmient. Upon this occasion Isaac was
drunk as usual, and uttered many threats against his father. Captain Brant
had taken tea with a friend, after which he retired to a small inn for the night ;
to this inn Isaac followed his father and made an assault upon him, during
which both were wounded. Those who were standing by immediately separated
them, and the frenzied son was taken care of, and his wouud, which was in the
scalp, was dressed. The injury was not at all serious, but in his drunken craze
Isaac persisted in tearing off the dressings, and on the ninth day he died from
hemorrhage, according to some accounts, or brain fever, as stated by others.
Capt. Brant immediately surrendered himself to the civil authorities, and
resigned his commission, which he still held in the British service. It was not
accepted, however. A council of the principal sachems and warriors was held ;
all the facts and circumstances were considered with great deliberation, when
the following certificate of opinion was signed unanimously,and a copy delivered
to Capt. Brant: “Brother—We have heard and considered your case; we
sympathize with you. You are bereaved of a beloved son. But that son raised
his parricidal hand against the kindest of fathers. His death was occasioned by
his own crime. With one voice we acquit you of all blame. We tender you
our hearty condolence, and may the Great Spirit above bestow upon you conso-
lation and comfort under your affliction.” This circumstance has been related
in various ways ; and by those who were inclined to dislike Brant it was
peddled about as conclusive evidence of the badness of his character, when the
truth of the matter was he acted in self-defence, and that in a comparatively
moderate manner.

None of the sons of Capt. Brant seem to have achieved distinction, if we
except John, the youngest, who succeeded to his father’s title. Isaac Brant left
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a widow and two children, one of whom, Isaac, Jr., was a counterpart of his
father. He served with some distinction in the War of 1812-14, but was killed
in a drunken frolic by a blow with a gun barrel, inflicted, as was supposed, by
a white man. Joseph, Jr.,, and Jacob were sent to Dartmouth College, under
the tutorship of John Wheelock, who succeeded the venerable President of early
times. They made some progress in their studies, but did not complete the
regular course of instruction.

Capt. Brant was a “ half-pay ” officer in the British army, with the rank of
captain, though he was called “colonel” by many who addressed him, after
the close of the Revolutionary War ; in fact, he appears to have been generally
so called during the latter years of his life. He was inclined to dress in the
Indian fashion, or in a semi-civilized style; at times this seems to have degen-
erated into something bordering on negligence. It is said that Brant upon one
occasion waited upon Lord Dorchester, then Governor of Canada, who promptly
reminded him that unless he assumed the uniform of a captain, which rank he
held, he (Dorchester) would cause his pay to be stopped. It is added that he
thereupon changed his style of dress, and habitually wore the uniform of an
army officer.

The Crown made donations of lands, and in some cases, money, to those who
had served in the Revolutionary War, especially to those who had suffered
losses of property on the other side of the lakes. Brant was given a valuable
tract of land, at the head of Lake Ontario, occupying a fine commanding emi-
nence, and affording an extensive view of the lake and surrounding country:
this place is now called Wellington Square. A few years before his death,
Captain Joseph Brant built a fine dwelling on this tract of land. Here he
removed with his family, and here he closed his extraordinary and eventful
life. Until his removal to Wellington Square, Captain Brant’s principal resi-
dence was at the Mohawk village, in what is now Brant County.

The 24th day of November, 1807, is the date which marks the ending of his
great career. For more than half a century he had been active in the fields
of conflict and diplomacy, during which time he proved himself to be far in
advance of any other representative of his .race in all that goes to constitute
the fabric of Christian civilization. He was a firm adherent to the faith and
doctrines of the Episcopal Church at the time of his decease, and during his
last illness, which was painful, he manifested that fortitude and resignation
which characterizes the true Christian. The interests of his people, which
were ever uppermost in his mind, while in the fullness of health and strength,
seemed to be foremost in his thoughts to the end. His last words were, “ Have
pity upon the poor Indians: if you can get any influence with the great,
endeavour to do them all the good you can.” With these sentiments para-
mount in his thoughts, Joseph Thayendanegea died. His remains were brought
to the burying grounds whieh surround the old Mohawk church, and there
interred among those of many of his kindred.

BRANT A FREEMASON.

There is every reason to suppose that Captain Brant was, at an early period
of his life probably, made a member of this ancient fraternity. Neither
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record nor tradition informs us concerning the particular lodge to which he
belonged, or the number of degrees which he received ; that he was at leasta
master mason is probable from the incidental evidence which has floated down
to the present generation. In those early days it was not uncommon for such
officers and soldiers as were in good standing with their respective lodges at
home, to open and work temporary or “field ” lodges while absent on long and
distant campaigns ; this was one source of social pastime and amusement to
those who were isolated from society for months and even years at a time.
One report has it that Brant was initiated at a “military” lodge at Niagara, but
this hardly agrees with certain well known incidents in his career. It is more
than probable that he was made a mason in the Mohawk River country either
by a regular lodge of master masons, or by one of those nomadic bodies
already mentioned. Mrs. Carey, in her pamphlet of 1873, gives the following :
“The late Jonathan Maynard, Esq. formerly a member of the Senate of
Massachusetts, was saved by Brant, who discovered the symbols of free-
masonry upon the prisoner’s arms after the Indians had partially stripped him
to put him to death. Mr. Maynard lived to an advanced old age, an upright
and faithful magistrate.”

In the account of the battle of the Cedars, mention has been made of the
capture of Captain McKinstry ; the subjoined account was reserved for this
section. Among the prisoners captured at the battle of the Cedars was Captain
John McKinstry, who commanded a company on that occasion. His command
was sharply engaged with a body of Indians, before whom his troops were
several times ecompelled to retire. Rallying, however, with spirit, the Indians
were frequently driven back in turn. The Americans were finally overpowered
and compelled to surrender. Captain McKinstry, being wounded, fell by the
side of a tree and was there taken prisoner. He afterwards learned that he
had been marked as a victim by the Indians, who had actually made the usual
preparations for putting him to deatl by the torture of fire; and that he was
rescued by the personal exertions of Captain Brant, who in connection with
some humane English officers made up a purse and purchased an ox, which the
Indians roasted for their carousal, instead of the gallant prisoner. Captain
McKinstry was treated with kindness while a prisoner, and contracted an inti-
macy with Brant which continued until the chieftain’s death. Brant never visited
the Hudson after the Revolution without spending a few days with Colonel
McKinstry at Livingstone Manor ; and at the time of his last visit,about 1803,
he with his friend attended alodge of freemasons, which met in the city of
Hudson. Brant’s presence at this meeting of the fraternity attracted great
attention. Tradition has it that Brant was buried with masonic honors, but
there is no very reliable evidence that such was the case. Masonic lodges
were not common in Upper Canada in 1807, and the few which were in exist-
ence were far distant from the Mohawk church, and would hardly have
undertaken a long journey over bad roads unless for some great occasion,
which would surely have left a record which some one of the many writers
about Brant would have found long ere this.

JOHN DBRANT (AHYOUWAEGHS).

According to the unwritten law of the Mohawks, the inheritance descends
through the female line exclusively ; as a consequence, the chieftainship does
9
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not descend to the eldest male, but the eldest female, in what may be called the
royal line, nominates one of her sons or other 'descendants, and he thereby
becomes chief. If the choice which she makes does not fall upon hexr own son,
the grandson whom she invests must be the child of lier daughter. The widow
of Thayendanegea was the eldest daughter of the head chief of the Turtle
tribe—the first in rank among the Mohawks. In her own right, therefore, on
the decease of her husband, she stood at the head of the Iroquois Confederacy,
alone clothed with the power to designate the succeeding chieftain. The official
title of the principal chief of the Six Nations is Tekarihogea, to which station,
John, the fourth and youngest son of Captain Joseph Brant, was appointed.

On the removal of Captain Brant to Wellington Square, he had adopted the
English mode of living. Mrs. Brant, however, preferred the customs of her
own race, and soon after the death of her husband she returned to the Mohawk
village, on Grand River, where she ever afterwards resided. John Brant was
born at the Mohawk village, on the 27th of September, 1794. He received a
good English education at Ancaster and Niagara, under the tuition of Mr.
Richard Cockrel ; but through life he improved his mind greatly by the study
of the best English authors, by associations and by travel. His manners were
those of an accomplished gentleman. When the War of 1812-15, between
England and the United States, broke out, the Mohawks, true to their ancient
faith, espoused the cause of the former, and the young Chief Tekarihogea took
the field with his warriors. His first effort was at the battle of Queenston, where
Colonel (afterwards General) Scott, of the American regulars, was made a pris-
oner of war. John Brant and another Indian, named Captain Jacobs, attempted
to capture Scott, and even went so far as to attempt a personal inspection of
him while he was detained at the headquarters of the British General, Sheaffe ;
this insolence was promptly resented by Colonel Scott, who seized a heavy
sword, and promptly assumed the defensive. At this juncture Colonel Coffin,
with an armed guard, appeared upon the scene, and the Indians vanished, much
to the satisfaction of all concerned, especially General Sheaffe, who was anxious
to render every courtesy to his captives in arms. John Brant served with great
credit through the campaigns of Niagara. He was at Fort George, Beaver
Dams, Lundy’s Lane, Chippewa, Fort Erie, and a score of other minor move-
ments, in all of which he behaved with valour. After the declaration of peace
he settled down at Wellington Square, and became noted for his hospitality in
the keeping of the “Brant House,” as the mansion which his father had estab-
lished, was called. In this he was ably assisted by his youthful sister Eliza-
beth, who won the esteem of all who were fortunate enough to find themselves
guests under this friendly roof.

In 1819, certain articles appeared in the Christian Recorder (Kingston),
which were offensive to the descendants of Thayendanegea ; the young chief
was prompt to rally in the support of his father’s good name. This duty
brought him out in good light, and displayed much ability on his part in the
conducting of correspondence, and the preparation of letters and papers to
sustain his position and the integrity of his family. His efforts were crowned
with success, and the offensive statements were clearly shown to have arisen
from mistakes and misrepresentations. The difficulties between the Canadian
Government and the Mohawks, respecting the titles to the lands of the latter,
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had not been adjusted by the efforts of Thayendanegea. Accordingly, John
Brant was sent to England to make one more appeal to the Crown in behalf
of his people. The visit was made in 1821, and continued for some time,
during which he obtained an interview with the author of “Gertrude of
Wyoming,” and obtained a modified retraction of certain expressions in that
celebrated poem. These have been referred to at some length under a previous
heading ; and in addition, the following lengthy epistle was developed. Inas-
much as the letter has an important bearing upon the character of the elder
Brant, as well as the faithful services of his son, it is given entire, or essen-
tially so at least, as the few omitted lines are of no value in the matter. This
letter is not usually published with the trade editions of Campbell’s poems,
and is somewhat rare, although it is to be found in the appendix to the second
volume of Stone’s work, and in the “ Annals of Tryon County,” New York.

“ LoNDON, January 20th, 1822.

“ Sir,—Ten days ago I was not aware that such a person existed as the son
of the Indian leader, Brant, who is mentioned in my poem, ¢ Gertrude of
Wyoming.” Last week, however, Mr. S. Bannister, of Lincoln’s Inn, called to
inform me of your being in London, and of your having documents in your
possession which he believed would change my opinion of your father’s memo-
ry, and induce me to do it justice. Mr. Bannister distinctly assured me that
no declaration of my sentiments on the subject was desired but such as should
spontaneously flow from my own judgment of the papers that were to be sub-
mitted to me. I could not be deaf to such an appeal. It was my duty to
inspect the justification of a man whose memory I had reprobated, and T felt
a satisfaction at the prospect of his character being redressed, which was not
likely to have been felt by one who had willingly wronged it. As far as any
intention to wound the feelings of the living was concerned, I really knew not,
when I wrote the poem, that the son and daughter of an Indian chief were
ever likely to peruse it, or be affected by its contents; and I have observed
most persons to whom J have mentioned the circumstance of your appeal to
me, smile with the same surprise which I experienced on first receiving it.
With regard to your father’s character, I took it as I found it in popular
history. Among the documents in his favour, I own that you have shown me
one which I regret that I never saw before, though I might have seen it, viz., the
Dike of Rochefoucault’s honourable mention of the chief in his travels. With-
out meaning, however, in the least to invalidate that nobleman’s respectable
authority, I must say that even if I had met with it, it would have still offered
only a general and presumptive vindication of your father, and not such a
specific one as I now recognize. On the other hand, judge how naturally I
adopted accusations against him which had stood in the ¢ Annual Register’ of
1779, as far as I know, uncontradicted, for thirty years. A number of authors
hail repeated them with a confidence which beguiled at least my suspicion, and
I believe that of the public at large. Among these authors were Gordon,
Ramsay, Marshall, Belsham, and Weld. The most of them, you may tell me,
perhaps, wrote with zeal against the American war. Well, but Mr. John
Adolphus was never suspected of any such zeal, and yét he had said in his ‘ His-
tory of England,’ &c. (Vol. I1L,, p. 110),‘a force of sixteen hundred savages and



136 HISTORY OF BRANT COUNTY.

Americans in disguise, headed by an Indian, Col. Butler, and a half Indian of
extraordinary ferocity, named Brant, lulling the fears of the inhabitants (of
Wyoming) by treachery, suddenly possessed themselves of two forts, and
massacred the garrison.’
“ He says farther, ‘that all were involved in unsparing slaughter, and that
even the devices of torment were exhausted.” He possessed, if I possessed
them, the means of consulting better authorities; yet he has never, to my
knowledge, made any atonement to your father’s memory. When your Cana-
dian friends, therefore, call me to trial for having defamed the warrior Brant.
I beg that Mr. John Adolphus may be also included in the summons. And,
after his own defence and aequittal, I think he is bound, having been one of
my historical misleaders, to stand up as my gratuitous counsel, and say,
“Gentlemen, you must acquit iy client, for he has only fallen into an error
which even my judgment could not escape.” In short, I imbibed my conception
of your father from accounts of him that were published when I was scarcely
out of my ecradle, and if there were any public, direct and specific challenge to
those accounts in England ten years ago, I am yet to learn where they existed.
I rose from perusing the papers you submitted to me certainly with an altered
impression of his character. I find that the unfavourable accounts of him
were erroneous, even on points not immediately connected with his reputation.
It turns out, for instance, that he was a Mohawk Indian, of unmixe | parentage.
This circumstance, however, ought not to be overlooked in estimating the
merits of his attainments. He spoke and wrote our language with force and
facility, and had enlarged views of the union and policy of the Indian tribes.
A gentleman who had been in America, and from whom I sought information
respecting him in consequence of your interesting message, told me that, though
he could not pretend to appreciate his character entirely, he had been struck
with the wnaiveté and eloquence of his conversation. They had talked of
musie, and Brant said, ‘I like the harpsichord well, and the organ still better ;
but I like the drum and trumpet best of all, for they make my heart beat
quick.” This gentleman also described to me the enthusiasm with which he
spoke of written records, Brant projected at that time to have written a
history of the Six Nations. The genius of history should be rather partial
to such a man. . . Lastly, you affirm that he was not within many
miles of the spot when the battle which decided the fate of Wyoming took
place, and from your offer of reference to living witnesses, I cannot but admit the
assertion. Had I learned all this of your father when I was writing my poem, he
should not have figured in it as the hero of mischief. I cannotindeed answer by
anticipation what the writers who have either to retract or defend what they
may have said about him may have to allege: I can only say that my own
opinion about him is changed. I am now inclined exceedingly to doubt Mr.
Weld’s anecdote, and for this reason: Brant was not only trusted, consulted
and distinguished by several eminent British officers in Aierica, but person-
ally beloved by them. Now I could conceive men in power, for defensible
reasons of state politics, to have officially trusted, and even publicly distin-
guished at courts or levees, an active or sagacious Indian chief, of whose private
character they might nevertheless still entertain a very indifferent opinion ;
but T cannot imagine high minded and high bred British officers iormmo
individual and fond friendship for a man of ferocious character.
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“It comes within my express knowledge that the late Gen. Sir Charles
Stewart, fourth son of the Earl of Bute, the father of our present Ambassador
at Paris, the officer who took Minorea, and Calvi, and who commanded our
army in Portugal, knew your father in America, often slept under the same
tent with him, and had the warmest regard for him. It seems but charity to
suppose the man who attracted the esteem of Lord Rawdon and Gen. Stewart,
to have possessed amiable qualities, so that I believe you when you affirm
that he was as merciful as brave. And now I leave the world to judge
whether the change of opinion with which T am touched arises from false
delicacy and flexibility of mind, or from a sense of honour and justice. Here,
properly speaking, ends my reckoning with you about your father’s memory;
but as the Canadian newspapers have made some remarks upon the subject of
Wyoming with which I cannot fully coincide, and as this letter will probably
be read in Canada, I cannot conclude it without a few more words, in case my
silence would seem to admit of propositions which are rather beyond the
stretch of my creed. [ will not, however, give any plain truths which I have
to offer to the Canadian writers the slightest seasonings of bitterness, for they
have alluded to me, on the whole, in a friendly and liberal tone. But when
they regret my departure from historical truth, I join in their regret only in
as far as I have unconsciously misunderstood the character of Brant, and the
share of the Indians in the transaction, which T have now reason to suspect
was much less than that of the white men. In other circumstances, I took
the liberty of a versifier to run away from fact into fancy, like a school-boy
who never dreams that he is a truant when he rambles on a holiday from
school. It seems, however, that I falsely represented Wyowing to have been
a terrestrial paradise. It was not so, say the Canadian papers, because it con-
tained a great number of Tories; and undoubtedly that cause goes far to
account for the fact. Earthly paradises, however, are but earthly things, and
‘Tempe’ and ‘Arcadia’ may have had their drawbacks on happiness as well as
Wyoming. I must nevertheless still believe that it was a flourishing eolony,
and that its destruction furnished a just warning to human beings against war
and revenge. But the whole catastrophe is affirmed in a Canadian newspaper
to have been nothing more than a fair battle. If this be a fact, let accredited
signatures come forward to attest it, and vindicate the innocence and honour-
ableness of the whole transaction, as your father’s character has been vindicated.
An error about him by no means proves the whole account of the business to
be a fiction. Who would not wish its atrocities disproved ? But who can
think it disproved by a single defender who writes anonymously, and without
definable weight or authority. In another part of the Canadian newspapers
my theme has been regretted as dishonourable to England. Then it was, at
all events, no fable. How far was the truth dishonourable to England ?
American settlers, and not Englishmen, were chiefly the white men, calling
themselves Christians, who were engaged in this affair. It will be remem-
bered, perhaps, that they called themselves “Loyalists.” But, for heaven’s
sake, let not English loyalty be dragged down to palliate atrocities, or English
delicacy be invoked to conceal them. I may be told that England permitted
the war, and was therefore responsible for its occurrences. Not surely,
universally, nor directly. I should be unwilling to make even Lord North’s
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Administration answerable for all the actions of Butler’s Rangers, and 1
should be still more sorry to make all England amenable either for Lord
North’s Administration or for Butler’s Rangers. Was the American war a
unanimous and heartfelt war of the people ? Were the best patriots and the
brightest luminaries of our Senate for or against it? Chatham declared that
if America fell she would fall like the strong man—that she would embrace
the pillars of our constitution, and perish beneath the ruins. Burke and Fox
and Barre kindled even the breasts of St. Stephen’s chapel against it; and
William Pitt pronounced it war against the sacred cause of Liberty. If so,
the loss of our colonies was a blessing compared with the triumph of those
principles that would have brought Washington home in chains. If Chatham
and Pitt were our friends in denouncing the injustice of this war, then Wash-
ington was only nominally our foe for resisting it. o R

“If my Canadian ecritic alleges that a poet may not blame the actions of his
country, I meet his allegations and deny it. No doubt a poet ought not
forever to harp aud carp upon the faults of his country, but he may be her
moral censor, and he must not be her parasite. If an English poet under
Edward IIL had only dared to leave one generous line of commiseration to the
memory of Sir Willlam Wallace, how much he would have raised our estima-
tion of the moral character of the age. The twentieth century will not think
the worse of the nineteenth for regretting the American war. 1 know the
slender importance of my own works. I am contending, however, against a
false principle of delicacy that would degrade poetry itself if it were adopted,
but it will never be adopted. I therefore regret nothing in the historical
allusions of my poem except the mistake about your father. Nor, though I
have spoken freely of American affairs, do I mean to deny that your native
tribes may have had a just cause of quarrel with the American colonists. And
I regard it as a mark of their gratitude that they adhered to the royal
cause. e
“ I could say much of European injustice toward your tribes, but in spite of
all that I could say, I must still deplore the event of Christians having adopted
their mode of wartare ; and, as circumstances then stood, of their having invoked
their alliance. If the Indians thirsted for vengeance on the colonists, that should
have been the very circumstance to deter us from blending their arins with
ours.

“T trust you will understand this declaration to be made in the spirit of
frankness, and not of mean and inhospitable arrogance. If T were to speak to
you in that spirit, how easily and how truly coald you tell ine that the American
Indians have departed faster from their old practices of warfare than Christians
have departed from their habits of religious persecution! If T were to preach to
you about European humanity, vou might ask me how long the ashes of the
inquisition have been cold, and whether the slave-trade be yet abolished ? You
might demand how many—no, how few generations have elapsed since our old
women were burned for imaginary commune with the devil, and whether the
houses are not yet standing from which our great-grandmothers may have looked
upon the hurdles passing to the place of execution, whilst they blessed them-
selves that they were not witches ? ks : " : I have been
thus special in addressing you, from a wish to vindicate my own consistency, as
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well as to do justice to you in your present circumstances, which are peculiarly
and publicly interesting. The chief of an aboriginal tribe now settled under
the protection of our Sovereign in Canada, you are anxious to lead on your
people in a train of civilization that is already begun. It is impossible that
the British community should not be touched with regard for an Indian stranger
of respectable private character, possessing such useful and honourable views.
Trusting that you will amply succeed in them, and long live to promote improve-
ment and happiness amidst the residue of yonr ancient race,
“T remain your sincere well-wisher,
“THOoMAS CAMPBELL.”

During his stay in London he appears to have improved every opportunity
for observing and learning the habits of English society. Among the entries in
his diary was the following, not very complimentary to the ladies whom he
met: “ Thursday evening May 16th, 1822.—I went to Mr. C. A. Tulk’s, M.P.,
party to hear a little music. There were twenty-two ladies—one only pretty ;
Casweighten, said to be the best violin player in Europe ; and Solly, celebrated
for the guitar and piano. I met a gentleman well acquainted with my father,
formerly of the Queen’s Rangers.” ;

The War of 1812 had a most unhappy effect upon the Mohawks. It diverted
their attention from the usual employments of peace, and seriously affected the
establishment of schools and churches. John Brant procured an appropriation
in 1822 from the New England Corporation for the Civilization of Indians, which
body had been chartered as far back as 1662.  After his return to Grand River,
the young chief devoted much of his energy to the application of this fund to
purposes for which it was designed. His letters and papers show that he was
deeply interested in the work of progress for his people. Many of these epistles
are full of the spirit of broad philanthropy, and would do credit to any repre-
sentative of the white race. So eminently were these services performed and
appreciated, that the young chief was made the recipient of a memento from
the managers of the ancient association above mentioned. This gift was a
finely-wrought cup of sterling silver, which bore the following inscription:

“Presented by the New England Corporation, established in London,
by Charter, A.D. 1662, for the Civilization of the Indians,
To JOHN BRANT, Esq.,
AHYOUWAEGHS,

One of the Chiefs of the Mohawk Nation, in acknowledgment of his
eminent services in promoting the objects of the Corporation.
A 1)) HIB20 BN

In the year 1827 the Earl of Dalhousie, then Commander-in-chief of the
British American Provinces, appointed Brant to the rank of captain, and Super-
intendent of the Six Nations. It was early in the same year (1827) that
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certain American newspapers took the liberty to publish his name as one
who had been indirectly implicated with the band of over zealous masons.
who were charged with the abduction of William Morgan in the year previous.
It appears that the first plan was to seize Morgan and convey him out of the
country ; but no definite plan of procedure was agreed upon, and having

abducted their victim the problem was what to do with him. One idea seems

to have been to enlist Morgan as a seamdn on board of a British man-of-war at
Quebec ; another plan was to get the Indians to transport the captive to the
far North-West and leave him with the fur-traders. This latter arrangement
was based upon the supposition that John Brant, like his father, was a free-
mason, and being in a convenient position and in a foreign country, and also in
full connection with the Indians of the west and north, it was concluded that
he would be an efficient tool for the execution of their purpose. The sugges-
tion that the Mohawk chief was or might have been available for this business,
became public, and worked no small amount of mortification to himself and his
friends. The imputation was repelled with a spirit becoming the man and the
race from which he descended. The subjoined letter will explain itself:

“« WELLINGTON SQUARE, Feb. 29th, 1827.—To the editor of the New York
Observer : SIR,—I have read a paragraph in the New York Spectaior of the 16th
instant, wherein it is stated that the fraternily at Niagara had sent for me to
receive and sacrifice the unhappy Morgan, of whom so much has been lately
spoken. You will oblige me by contradicting this report, which is wholly false.
Neither in that instance nor any other has such a barbarous proposal been
made to me ; nor do I believe the man exists who would dare to wound my
feelings in such a heinous manner. I know nothing of the man, nor of any
transaction relating to him, and I am much surprised that my name has been
called in question.—I am, Sir, yours respectfully, J. Braxnt.”

In the year 1832, John Brant was returned a member of the Provincial
Parliament for the county of Haldimand, comprehending a good portion of the
teritory originally granted to the Mohawks. The right of the Indians to this
territory yet depended upon the original proclamation of Sir Frederick Haldi-
mand, which, according to the decision of the courts of Upper Canada, conveyed
no legal title to the fee of the land. The Indians had been in the praetice of
conveying away portions of their lands by long leases—for nine hundred and
ninety-nine years—and a large number of those persons by whose votes Brant
was elected had only such titles to their real estate. As the laws of Upper
Canada required a freehold qualification for county elections, Mr. Brant’s return
was contested by the opposing candidate, Colonel Warren, and ultimately set
aside, and the Colonel declared to be duly chosen.

It was of small moment to either candidate, however, as that fell destroyer,
Asiatic cholera, swept over this country, and among its victims we